
AN ASTONISHING TRUE ACCOUNT OF ALIEN CONTACT 

INVASION 
iL\SHINGTON 

UFOs OVER THE CAPITOL 

:EVIN D. RANDLE, Ph.D., 
Captain, U.S.A.F.R. 

co-author of UFO Crash at Roswell 

"The leading proponent of the theory that the U.S. government 
knows more than it's saying about UFOs." Toronto Globe and Mail 



INVASION 
WASHINGTON 
UFOs OVER THE CAPITOl. 

KEVIN D. RANDLE, Ph.D., 
Captain, U.S.A.F.R. 

f 
HarperTorch 

An Imprint of HarpcrCollinsPublishers 



Also by Kevin D. Randle 

THE ROSWELL ENCYCLOPEDIA 

SCIENTIFIC UFOLOGY 

PROJECT MOON DUST 

CONSPIRACY OF SILENCE 

A HISTORY OF UFO CRASHES 

(with Donald R. Schmitt) 

THE TRUTH ABoUT THE UFO CRASH AT ROSWELL 

UFO CRASH AT ROSWELL 

ATTENTION: ORGANIZATIONS AND CORPORATIONS 
Most HarperTorch paperbacks are available at special quantity 
discounts for bulk purchases for sales promotions, premiums, or 
fund-raising. For information, please call or write: 

Special Markets Departmmt, HarperCoUins Publishen, Inc., 
10 East 53rd Street, New York, N.Y. 10022-5299. 
Telephone: (212) 207-7528. Fax: (212) 207-7222. 



THEFACTSABOUTTHES~GE 

EVENTS OF JULY 19, 1952: 

• Dozens of military and commercial pilots reported 
seeing the unidentified aircraft at the same time 

• Several Air Force pilots actually attempted to over­
take the crafts, and the aliens' flight patterns were 
monitored by air traffic controllers 

• Air Force officers pressured their subordinates to al­
ter their descriptions of the event in order to jibe with 
the official reports of the incident 

• Almost simultaneous sightings occurred in New 
York, Oregon, and as far away as Brazil 

• Physical evidence of a major UFO event exists­
from radar records to photographs to recorded air­
borne interceptions 

• More than half a century after the sightings most sci­
entific experts agree that the possibility that a real 
UFO incident took place over Washington, D.C. 
cannot-and must not-be ruled out 
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Introduction 

The radar and visual sightings of UFOs over the Wash­
ington, D.C., National Airport on two consecutive Satur­
day nights in July 1952 have taken on mythic proportions 
in the history of ufology. These sightings, made on sepa­
rate radar sets in separate locations, and verified visually 
by both military and civilian pilots as well as military and 
civilian personnel on the ground, provide many clues 
both about the nature of UFOs and about the people who 
see and report them. 

To understand the importance of these sightings, it is 
important to understand the context in which they were 
made. The Washington Nationals did not evolve in a vac­
uum, but at a time in which UFOs were being reported 
frequently and in which a number of popular magazines 
had just published lengthy and, for the most part, favor­
able stories about UFOs. Coverage of flying saucers was 
heavy during the summer of 1952, though other events­
including the national conventions of both political par-
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ties and the Olympic games-were also widely reported. 
Talk about flying saucers had been around since the 

summer of 1947, when the first reports were publicly ac­
knowledged. Kenneth Arnold, a businessman from Boise, 
Idaho, saw nine strange crescent-shaped objects flying 
near Mount Rainier in Washington on June 24,1947, and, 
the national media was captivated. Arnold's report was 
carried in newspapers around the country. Soon the flying 
saucers were a hot topic of discussion and newspapers 
were full with stories about them. 

But the interest in flying saucers faded after a few 
weeks during that summer of 1947, and it was only the 
occasional sighting and the occasional magazine article 
that kept the idea of alien spacecraft alive in the public 
consciousness. In September 1951, a series of sightings 
were made over Lubbock, Texas. The Lubbock Lights 
were national news-pictures of the V-shaped formations 
taken by Carl Hart, Jr., were published in newspapers and 
magazines around the country. If the public had believed 
that UFOs were gone, that they were a summer fad a few 
years earlier, it was now clear that they-whatever they 
were-had returned. 

Then, in April 1952, Life magazine published a 
thoughtful examination of flying saucers. While the Life 
editors didn't conclude definitely that UFOs were from 
other planets, they did suggest that it was a real possibil­
ity. If nothing else, the sightings in Lubbock and the arti­
cle in Life reintroduced the concept of the flying saucer 
into the public mainstream. 

As noted, other important events took place the sum­
mer of 1952. Both political parties held their national 
conventions to create their platforms and nominate their 
candidates for the presidency. The summer Olympic 
games were in full swing. The war in Korea was still be­
ing fought. In other words, there was a great deal of both 



Introduction 3 

important and frivolous infonnation published that sum­
mer. There was something for everyone. 

Including flying saucer reports. They appeared on the 
front pages of the newspapers around the country. At first 
these were small stories, in the right-hand columns of the 
newspaper. Then, after the second night of UFO sightings 
over Washington, the Cedar Rapids Gazette, in a banner 
headline that could have been lifted from a science fiction 
movie, reported SAUCERS SWARM OVER CAPITAL. 

But UFOs weren't only being spotted by radar and in­
tercepted by fighters over Washington, D.C. It was a 
scene that was being played out around the country. 
UFOs were appearing in the skies, being "painted" by 
radar, and chased by fighters everywhere. Hundreds of 
people saw UFOs and reported them to the Air Force. For 
the first time, the topic was treated with some semblance 
of respect by those in the government, the military, and 
the media. 

Although photographs of UFOs had been taken in the 
past, it was during the summer of 1952 that some of the 
clearest were offered as evidence. These were also pro­
vided to the Air Force and most were carefully investi­
gated. Some of the pictures were later established to be 
hoaxes, but a few have withstood the test of time and 
show us what was being seen far better than a word pic­
ture painted by a reluctant witness. 

Movie footage of UFOs had also been taken in the 
past, but one of the best films, in color, was taken in July 
1952, by a Naval officer. The Air Force, the Navy, and 
those in the Department of Defense were impressed by 
this film. The military investigators and analysts worked 
long and hard to identify the bright objects maneuvering 
in the deep blue sky over the Utah desert. They came up 
with up some suggestions, but nothing that was univer­
sally accepted by UFO researchers and military officers. 
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Also during this time, the first reports of alien crea­
tures were made to the Air Force. The Air Force did in­
vestigate the tale of a foul-smelling, glowing creature told 
in Flatwoods, West Virginia, but like so much of the UFO 
story, there was no physical evidence to corroborate the 
tale. There were just the stories told by a number of citi­
zens who seemed to have no reason to invent such a tale, 
who seemed to lack the imagination to carry it off, and 
who seemed to wish that the reporters and investigators 
would go somewhere else to ask their questions. The im­
portance of the Flatwoods case was not that it was just an­
adler UFO story but that an extremely weird creature was 
reported. The Air Force seemed to take the story some­
what seriously originally. After 1952, the Air Force 
would find excuses not to investigate alien occupant 
sighting reports. 

While it can be argued that the flying saucers of 1947 
set the tone for the investigations and sightings to come, 
it can also be said that the Washington Nationals set the 
tone for all that would come after them. The Air Force in­
vestigation seemed to be quite serious in 1952. Project 
Blue Book, the official investigation, was headed by one 
officer and staffed by a number of other officers, as well 
as enlisted men. A small staff of consultants including 
scientists and civilian technicians was also available. 
Within a year that investigation would be reduced to a 
single, low-ranking enlisted man. Within weeks of that 
low point, another officer would be assigned, and in 
months the investigation would again have a small staff; 
but the point is, after the most massive wave of UFO 
sightings known to that time, the only official, acknowl­
edged, government investigation was allowed to deterio­
rate to the point where it could not function at all. 

Eventually, Project Blue Book would be staffed by two 
officers, a sergeant and a civilian secretary but they would 
not investigate UFO sightings with the same enthusiasm 
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as their predeccessors had in 1952. The whole situation 
changed after the summer of 1952, and that is probably a 
result of the number of sightings, the increased interest 
by the public and the news media, and the failure by the 
Air Force to determine exactly what the flying saucers 
were, especially those over Washington, D.C. Yes, they 
would offer an explanation, but it wasn't adequate to ex­
plain the facts. 

This book was written in an attempt to understand just 
what happened and how we arrived at the point where we 
now find ourselves. Although the main focus is the sight­
ings from Washington National, this is also a look at 
some of the other activities during that SUIDJDCf. This is an 
attempt to put the UFO sightings into the context of the 
times and into the context of the overall UFO picture. 

If we can understand some of what happened during 
the summer of 1952, we might understand a little more 
about UFOs. This is the story of what happened that sum­
mer and how it affected all of UFO research. 



------------~II~-----------

CHAPTER ONE 

Beginnings 

Captain Edward 1. Ruppelt, the chief of Project Blue 
Book in 1952, reported that the year had started slowly, 
with only a few UFO sighting reports trickling in. In his 
attempt to revitalize the UFO investigation, and to ensure 
that the Air Force was receiving as many UFO sightings 
as possible, he had subscribed to a newspaper clipping 
service. The service would search the nation's newspa­
pers and send to Ruppelt and Project Blue Book anything 
that related to his interest in flying saucers, alien craft, 
UFOs, and similar anomalies. 

According to Ruppelt, "In March [1952] the clipping 
service was sending the clippings to us in letter-sized en­
velopes. The envelopes were thin-maybe there would be 
a dozen or so clippings in each one. Then they began to 
get thicker and thicker, until the people who were doing 
the clipping switched to using manila envelopes. Then 
the manila envelopes began to get thicker and thicker. By 
May we were up to old shoe boxes." 
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In April 1952, Life magazine, one of the most re­
spected of the national publications, reviewed the flying 
saucer situation in an article entitled "Have We Visitors 
from Outer Space?" The article, according to press re­
leases from the Air Force and the Pentagon, used official 
sources, including Project Blue Book, and was, more or 
less, approved by the Air Force. Key to this article-as 
opposed to others that had run in the five years since the 
Kenneth Arnold sighting in Washington state had put fly­
ing saucers on the front page in June 1947-was the 
question that was being posed in the article's title, "Have 
We visitors from Outer Space?" Life's answer seemed to 
be a qualified "Maybe." 

Ruppelt, as well as others in the Air Force, thought 
that the treatment by Life-that is, suggesting that 
the government was taking the idea of flying saucers 
seriously-would lead to an increase in UFO reports. 
According to Ruppelt, the day after the article appeared, 
Project Blue Book received nine new reports. The next 
day, the numbers dropped back to what he considered 
normal. 

Ruppelt's belief, as well as the expectation of the Air 
Force, that more sightings would be reported after Life's 
article, is fairly standard in the UFO field. Publicity, ac­
cording to the theory, inspires people to make UFO sight­
ing reports. Whenever a big-name, respected magazine 
reports on the topic of UFOs with a serious attitude, peo­
ple begin to feel more secure in their observations and 
make their reports to the authorities. Not only do they 
learn where to report their sightings, but those seeking the 
spotlight will attempt to find it with a UFO report. 

The theory, however, has been tested in the past and 
has failed to produce new waves of sighting reports. True, 
a men's magazine of the 1950s that had a good reputation 
for expose, high-quality articles, and even some top fic­
tion, reported on flying saucers in articles by Major Don-
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ald E. Keyhoe. Those articles suggested that the Air Force 
had been less than candid with the public in their investi­
gations and findings about UFOs. Keyhoe, in a theme that 
he would exploit for decades, suggested a cover-up-­
secret studies, secret conclusions, and an attempt by the 
government in general and the Air Force in particular to 
mislead the public. Keyhoe's articles, appearing in a then 
reputable magazine, did not spark waves of sightings. 

In late August and early September 1951, a series of 
interesting sightings over Lubbock, Texas, received wide­
spread publicity, especially in the Southwest. The first 
newapaperarticle about the sightings appeared when four 
college professors saw a group of glowing, dim liJhts one 
evening over Lubbock. After the group of objects had dis­
appeared, the professors-W.I. Robinson, A.G. Oberg, 
and W.L. Ducker-discussed what they had seen, trying 
to figure out what the lights might have been. They also 
tried to determine what to do if the lights returned. An 
hour or so later, the lights reappeared, and this time the 
professors were ready to make coordinated, scientific ob­
servations. 

The lights, on this second pass, were softly glowing, 
bluish objects in another loose formation. It seemed to 
the college professors that the first group had been in a 
more rigid and structured formation than the second, or 
the later groups they saw that night. 

To the professors, the next logical move was to learn if 
anyone else had seen the objects. Ducker called the local 
newspaper, the Avalanche, and spoke to the managing ed­
itor, Jay Harris, who wasn't very interested in the report. 
Ducker, however, convinced Harris that a story should be 
printed. Harris finally agreed but only if Ducker allowed 
his name to be used. Ducker refused. 

But then, a few minutes later, Ducker called back and 
agreed. In fact, Harris could print the names of all the 
professors, but only if Harris called the college public re-
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lations department and cleared it with them. Harris had 
no trouble in getting pennission to use the names of the 
professors, and the story was reported in the next issue. 

The newspaper story was considered successful be­
cause it did result in additional reports. Several others 
called the editorial offices and claimed to have seen the 
lights on the same night. That seemed to be some corrob­
oration of the lights seen by the professors. But the im­
portant sighting, at least in the minds of the Air Force 
officers who later investigated, was made by Joe Bryant 
of Brownsfield, Texas. 

Bryant told Air Force officers that be was sitting in his 
backyard, watching the night sky, when a group of dim 
lights flew overhead. He described them as having a 
"kind of a glow, a little bigger than a star." Not long after 
that, a second small group appeared. Neither of the 
groups was in any sort of a regular formation, an impor­
tant clue that the Air Force officers chose to ignore. 

Bryant reported there was a third flight, but instead of 
flying over his house as before, they dropped down and 
circled the building. As he watched, one of them chirped 
quietly and he recognized them immediately. He identi­
fied the lights as plover, probably reflecting the street 
lights from their white feathers. Plover are a common 
bird in west Texas. When he read the account of the pro­
fessors' sightings in the newspaper the next day, he knew 
immediately what they had seen. If he hadn't been able to 
identify that last flight-if one of the birds hadn't 
chirped-he would have been fooled, too. 

The professors, unaware of what Bryant had seen and 
believed, set out to obtain additional, scientific informa­
tion. Joined by other professors and professionals, in­
cluding Grayson Meade, E. R. Hienaman, and J. P. Brand, 
they equipped teams with two-way radios, measured a 
base from the location of the original sightings, and then 
staked out the Lubbock area. They hoped for additional 
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sightings along the baseline. Knowing the length of that 
line, the time of the sighting, and the location and direc­
tion of flight, they would be able to calculate a great deal 
of very important and useful information that might help 
them identify what they had been seeing. 

The problem for the professors was that none of the 
teams ever made a sighting. On one or two occasions, the 
wives of the men, who had remained at one of the profes­
sor's house or another, saw the lights, but the men at the 
bases saw nothing. The flight paths of the objects seemed 
to be limited to the area near specific houses and over 
limited areas of Lubbock. The plan for calculating the 
data feU apart because none of the data were collected. 

Then, on August 31, just days after the initial sight­
ings, the case took an amazing tum. Carl Hart, Jr., a 
nineteen-year-old amateur photographer and resident of 
Lubbock, managed to take five pictures as the lights flew 
over his house in the middle of the city. Lying in bed 
about ten o'clock, he saw the lights flash overhead. 
Knowing that they sometimes returned, as had been re­
ported in the newspaper, he prepared for that. When the 
lights appeared a few minutes later, he was ready and 
snapped two pictures of them. Not long after that, a third 
group flew and he managed three additional pictures. 

Harris, the Lubbock newspaper editor, learned about 
the pictures when a photographer who worked for him 
called to tell him that Hart had used his studio to develop 
the film. Harris, the ever reluctant newsman, suggested 
that Hart should bring the pictures by the newspaper of­
fice so that Harris could get a look at them. 

Naturally, the newspaper feared a hoax of some kind. 
Harris and the newspaper's lead photographer, William 
Hams, talked to Hart on a number of occasions over the 
next several hOUTS. Harris bluntly asked if the pictures 
were faked. Hart denied it. More than forty years later, 
Hart told UFO investigators that he still didn't know what 
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he had photographed but that he had not faked anything 
that night. 

Hams later decided to try to duplicate Hart's pictures. 
From the roof of the newspaper office, he attempted to 
photograph, at night, anything that flew overhead. He 
thought that if he could duplicate the pictures, he would 
be able to figure out what they showed. He waited, but all 
he saw was a flight of birds that were barely visible in the 
glow of the sodium vapor lamps on the streets below him. 
The birds were dimly outlined against the deeper black of 
the night sky and flew in a ragged V-formation. 

He took photographs of the birds, but when he devel­
oped the film, the image was so weak that be couldn't 
make prints. In fact, the images were so dim that be could 
barely see them. He repeated his experiment on another 
occasion but was no more successful. From his experi­
ence, he was convinced that what Hart had photographed 
couldn't have been birds under any circumstances be­
cause they just weren't bright enough. 

Serious Air Force investigations were conducted 
throughout the fall of 1951. Investigators were dispatched 
from Reese Air Force Base on the west side of Lubbock. 
They spoke to Hart on a number of occasions. They for­
warded copies of their reports to both Project Blue Book 
headquarters at Wright-Patterson Air Force Base and to 
the Air Force Office of Special Investigation headquarters 
in Washington, D.C. Captain Ed Ruppelt even made a trip 
to Lubbock to speak to the major witnesses, including 
Carl Hart. 

The Air Force investigators tried to pick apart Hart's 
story to prove that he had somehow faked the pictures. 
Between November 6 and 9, during still another investi­
gation of the Lubbock Lights, Ruppelt and AFOSI Spe­
cial Agent Howard N. Bossert interviewed Hart. In their 
report, they wrote, "Hart's story could not be 'picked 
apart' because it was entirely logical. He [Hart] was ques-
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tioned on why he did certain things and his answers were 
all logical, concise, and without hesitation." 

What must be done here is to separate the Hart photo­
graphs from the rest of the Lubbock case because the 
photographs might not show what the professors had seen 
during their initial sightings. In fact, all the sightings 
must be individually examined, realizing that a solution 
to one is not necessarily the solution to another or to all 
the reports. 

First are the sightings made by the professors. Clearly 
this was something that was unusual, at least to them. 
They were unable to identify the lights. Then, using their 
scientific ttainilll, they set about trying to find out what 
they had seen. Although their plan was good, the phe­
nomenon did not cooperate with them. Some facts were 
obtained, and these facts can lead us to some basic con­
clusions. 

For example, the professors had originally estimated 
the objects as being very large and flying at a very high 
altitude. They based this assumption on the fact they 
heard no noise associated with the lights and they as­
sumed that any sort of manufactured craft would make 
some noise. The fact that they couldn't hear it meant, to 
them, that the objects were far away. If they were far 
aw.ay, they had to be fairly large to be seen. This line of 
thought establishes their conclusions about the altitude of 
over 50,000 feet and a size of about 100 feet in diameter. 

Later, when they established their baselines, they 
never saw the objects. Their wives, however, reported the 
objects over the houses. That would seem to indicate the 
lights were much smaller and much lower than originally 
believed. The door is now open for birds, though the 
problem, once again, is the lack of a proper bird in the 
Lubbock area. 

Or is it? Joe Bryant claimed that he saw the lights too, 
but that one of them, or several of them, swooped out of 
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the sky to fly around his house. At that point he identified 
them as plover. 

From Bryant's claim, the Air Force investigators ex­
trapolated that all the Lubbock sightings could be ex­
plained by birds. In one of the reports filed with Project 
Blue Book, the investigators wrote, "It was concluded 
that birds, with street lights reflecting from them, were 
the probable cause of these sightings ... In all instances 
the witnesses were located in an area where their eyes 
were dark-adapted, thus making the objects appear 
brighter." 

The problem is, and one with which the Air Force in­
vestigators never dealt, was that similar sightings--that 
is, strings of lights in the night skies-were seen all over 
west Texas. From as far north as Amarillo to as far south 
as the Midland-Odessa area, these sorts of sightings were 
reported. Birds and the newly installed sodium-vapor 
lamps in specific areas of Lubbock, which the Air Force 
investigators believed contributed to the sightings, do not 
provide an adequate explanation because none of the 
other cities had the newly installed sodium-vapor lamps. 

What is relevant here, however, is that Air Force offi­
cers made a long, complex investigation of the sightings. 
Ruppelt flew down from Wright-Patterson Air Force 
Base, and officers and investigators were dispatched re­
peatedly from nearby Reese. The investigators actually 
spoke to the witnesses in person; searched for evidence; 
analyzed the photographs carefully, using the latest 
equipment; and conducted many follow-up interviews. 
Ruppelt made it clear that he believed there to be a plau­
sible, mundane explanation for the sightings, but he never 
officially said what it was. Later, by searching his per­
sonal files-including the rough drafts of his book The 
Report on Unidentified Flying Objects-investigators 
learned that Ruppelt thought the Lubbock Lights were 
explained by fireflies. 
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Of course, that explanation, like the bird explanation, 
didn't explain the photographs. Ruppelt wrote that he 
never found an explanation for them. '''The photos were 
never proven to be a hoax but neither were they proven to 
be genuine." According to Ruppelt, "There is no definite 
answer." 

That didn't stop Harvard astronomy professor Dr. 
Donald Menzel from offering an answer. In fact, he of­
fered many answers, especially for the photographs Hart 
had taken. Here was a form of physical evidence that 
something unusual was seen over Lubbock, and it was 
evideDce that not all the sightings were of birds. Menzel 
fiaally decided that the photographs were a hoax. He had 
no other solution, and since he couldn't explain what they 
showed, the only explanation left was a hoax. 

But Menzel didn't offer his explanations for Lubbock 
in late 1951. In fact, most of the reporting done about the 
Lubbock Lights in 1951 was of a fairly objective nature 
in which writers told what had been seen and engaged in 
very little speculation. The various newspaper accounts 
did not ridicule the witnesses, and there were no crank 
calls made to their homes. The even-handedness of the 
reporting might have inspired others to see UFOs, or 
lights in the sky, or flying saucers, but the number of re­
ports submitted to the Air Force didn't dramatically in­
crease in the wake of the Lubbock sightings. People 
might have been interested in the Lubbock Lights, but ap­
parently they weren't interested enough to go outside to 
look for lights in their night skies. 

However, Air Force records indicate that the number 
of UFO reports did increase slightly in April 1952, after 
the Life article, which carried an objective analysis of the 
Lubbock sightings. At about the same time, Air Force 
policy changed with the issuance of Air Force Letter 
200-5, and Project Blue Book became a le&itimate and 
important military activity. In fact, the letter allowed the 
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officers of Project Blue Book to contact .any Air Force 
base or unit without having to follow the chain of com­
mand. This one point gave Blue Book a great deal of 
prestige, because such authority was rarely given. 

With that letter, the number of UFO reports did in­
crease, but the real cause seemed to be that more Air 
Force units were actively reporting the sightings. The Life 
article also alerted the general public to the existence of 
the UFO investigation, telling people where to send their 
UFO reports, if only indirectly. Once people knew that an 
official agency was responsible for the sightings, and they 
knew where to direct their letters, they began to write. 

Ed Ruppelt reported that, in early May 1952, be was 
called by the secretary for air, Thomas K. Finletter, in the 
Office of the Secretary of the Air Force, to brief him on 
the status of the UFOs. When the briefing ended, Finletter 
released a statement to the press. "No concrete evidence 
has yet reached us either to prove or disprove the exis­
tence of the so-called tIying saucers. There remain, how­
ever, a number of sightings that the Air Force 
investigators have been unable to explain. As long as this 
is true, the Air Force will continue to study tIying saucer 
reports." 

Even such a statement, suggesting that UFOs were 
something to be seriously studied, did not increase the 
sighting reports. Ruppelt noted that in May, after Finlet­
ter's statement, and several weeks after the Life article, 
the number of sightings reported was seventy-nine, down 
from the ninety-nine made during April 1952. 

It seemed, based on the public reaction to the Life arti­
cle and the reports from Lubbock, and from the other fo­
rums in which UFOs were discussed, that tIying saucers 
created little more than an amused detachment. Accord­
ing to Ruppelt. if people thought about them at all, it was 
more in the category of "Whatever happened to ... " They 
had heard that. ~ ~ ~. mi~ideAt.iR(;~tions, or 
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that they were only reported by those whose education or 
intelligence was suspect. People had many other, more 
important things to worry about. 

The Air Force kept collecting the sighting reports, and 
some of them were interesting, but most of them did, in 
fact, fit into the categories that people thought they did. 
Balloons, aircraft, stars, meteors, unusual weather phe­
nomena, and people who just wanted to see their names 
in the newspaper were responsible for the majority of re­
ports. There seemed to be nothing solid to UFOs, and no 
one was talking about them-that is, until the middle of 
July 1952. 



------------~lIr------------

CHAPTER TWO 

Early July 1952 

July 1952 was the big month for UFO sightings that 
year. It was the month in which some of the most impor­
tant cases were reported, and it was the month that pro­
vided some of the best physical evidence that UFOs were 
not just illusions or delusions, but something solid 
enough to be filmed and recorded on radar. Unfortu­
nately, it was also the month in which hoaxes, such as the 
photograph submitted by George Stock, would continue, 
with some spectacular results clouding the already misty 
picture. 

The month began with one of the best of the movie 
footage cases ever made because the photographer was a 
naval officer, his wife provided additional corroboration, 
and he had nearly a minute of film showing bright, white 
objects maneuvering against a brilliant blue sky. On July 
2, 1952, Navy Warrant Officer Delbert C. Newhouse, a 
trained Navy photographer, was heading toward a new 
duty station with his wife and two children. Just after 



18 INVASION WASHINGTON 

eleven in the morning, as they were driving away from 
Tremonton, Utah, his wife noticed a group of bright ob­
jects that she couldn't easily identify. Newhouse, in a 
statement given to military intelligence officers, said, 
"She asked me to stop the car and look. There was a 
group of about ten or twelve objects-that bore no rela­
tion to anything I had seen before-milling about in a 
rough formation and proceeding in a westerly direction. I 
opened the luggage compartment of the car and got my 
camera out of a suitcase. Loading it hurriedly, I exposed 
about thirty feet of film." 

According to Newhouse, by the time he got the camera 
out, the objects had moved away from the car. Newhouse 
said later, "There was no reference point in the sky and it 
was impossible for me to make any estimate of speed, 
size, altitude, or distance. Toward the end one of the ob­
jects reversed course and proceeded away from the main 
group. I held the camera still and allowed this single one 
to cross the field of view, picking it up again and repeat­
ing for three or four such passes. By this time all the ob­
jects had disappeared." 

The exact details of the story vary, depending on the 
source. Air Force files, based on the information supplied 
by others, do confirm that Newhouse and his wife saw the 
objects at close range. Later, Ruppelt, after he had ended 
his association with Project Blue Book and had left the 
Air Force, had an opportunity to speak with Newhouse, 
apparently for the first time. Ruppelt wrote that New­
house had told him, "[T]hey [the UFOs] were close to the 
car, much closer than when he took the movie ... he 
didn't just think the UFOs were disk-shaped; he knew 
they were; he had seen them plainly." In an interview I 
conducted in 1976, Newhouse confirmed for me that he 
had seen the objects at close range. He said they were 
large, disk-shaped, and brightly lit. And Dewey Fournet, 
the Pentagon spokesman for the UFO pro~ect in the early 
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1950s, and who was heavily involved in UFO investiga­
tions in 1952, told me that Newhouse had said much the 
same thing to him. Fournet's interview was conducted in 
1952, Ruppelt's sometime in the mid-1950s, and mine 
more than twenty years later. What is important here is 
that Newhouse's claim about the shape and size of the ob­
jects remained fairly consistent, and provides a clue 
about the shape of the objects that is not available on the 
film. 

After filming the objects, Newhouse stored his cam­
era. got back into the car, and drove on to his new duty 
station in California. Once there, he had the film 
processed and sent a copy to the Air Force, suggesting 
they might find it interesting. He-had done that simply be­
cause he knew the Air Force was conducting an investiga­
tion into UFOs and he thought the film might be a 
valuable bit of evidence for them. 

Fournet, at the Pentagon, arranged for a group of high­
ranking military officers and civilian government officials 
to see the film. Once they finished with it, the film was re­
turned to Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, home of Pro­
ject Blue Book, for the photographic analysis. That 
analysis took several weeks, and although the Air Force 
analysts searched for a conclusive explanation, inter­
viewed fighter pilots about the maneuvering for compari­
son purposes, noticed the periodic fluctuations in the 
brightness of the objects, and considered several addi­
tional possibilities, they failed to identify the objects. Ac­
cording to Ruppelt, the Air Force photo labs told him, 
"We don't know what they are but they aren't airplanes or 
balloons, and we don't think they're birds." 

Fournet then arranged for the Navy to examine the 
film at their Anacostia Naval Station just outside of 
Washington, D.C. The Navy made a frame-by-frame 
analysis that took more than a thousand man hours and 
over two months. They studied the motion of the objects, 
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their relation to one another in the formation, the lighting 
of the objects, and every other piece of data they could 
find on the film. In the end, like their Air Force counter­
parts, they were left with no explanations. 

But unlike their Air Force counterparts, the Navy ex­
perts were not restricted in their praise of the film. Their 
report said that the objects were internally lighted spheres 
that were not reflecting the sunlight. They also estimated 
the speed at 3,780 miles an hour if the spheres were five 
miles away. At twice the distance, they would have been 
moving twice as fast. At half the distance, half the speed. 
If the objects were just under a mile distant, they were 
still traveling at 472 miles an hour. The Navy also noted 
that if the objects were less than a mile away, they would 
have been identifiable as birds and, according to their 
analysis, birds simply did not fly at 472 miles an hour. 

That is not how the situation would remain, however. 
10 January 1953, in the aftermath of the 1952 wave of fly­
ing saucer sightings, the CIA sponsored a scientific in­
quiry into the UFO question. The panel of five scientists, 
chaired by Dr. H. P. Robertson, spent a week looking at 
some of the best of the UFO information and evidence, 
including the Tremonton movie taken by Newhouse. As 
the Robertson panel reviewed the film, Dr. Luis Alverez, 
one of the scientists, said that he thought the objects 
might be birds. Fournet told me in an interview con­
ducted in the mid-1990s, "Dr. Alverez suggested that 
[birds] as a possible solution to that Tremonton [Utah] 
movie ... " 

According to Dr. Michael Swords, who has studied the 
Robertson panel and its historical implications for a num­
ber of years, the morning after the scientists on the panel 
had seen the Tremonton film, "the Air Force, the CIA, has 
mysteriously produced this film of sea gulls to show them 
[the panel members] and you just wonder [how they 
found it so quickly]." He asked, "Wasn't that convenient? 
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They just happened to have that sea gull film handy in the 
stacks somewhere." 

In the years that followed, the Tremonton movie's sug­
gested "possible" explanation of sea gulls became the fi­
nal solution. Donald H. Menzel and L. G. Boyd, in their 
book, The World of Flying Saucers, wrote of the Tremon­
ton film, "The pictures are of such poor quality and show 
so little that even the most enthusiastic home-movie fan 
today would hesitate to show them to his friends. Only a 
stimulated imagination could suggest that the moving ob­
jects are anything but very badly photographed birds." 

The University of Colorado's Air Force-sponsored 
UFO investigation known as the Condon Committee had 
their investigator on the Tremonton film, William K. 
Hartmann, re-examine the case years after the Robertson 
panel had made its pronouncement and Menzel believed 
that he had found the solution. After reviewing the evi­
dence, Hartmann concluded, 'These observations give 
strong evidence that the Tremonton films do show birds 
[emphasis in original], as hypothesized above, and I now 
regard the objects as so indentified [sic]." 

So a possible answer, first suggested by the Robertson 
Panel, became the final explanation for the film as the 
years passed. However, in the analyses that have ap­
peared in the years after the Robertson Panel decided on 
birds, one important fact was always left out. Newhouse 
and his wife saw the objects at very close range. Fournet 
told me that he did remember that fact and said, "When 
you look at what Newhouse said when he was inter­
viewed after that [by RuppeJt, by Fournet, and later by 
me] ... When you put all that together, the sea gull hy­
pothesis becomes flimsier and flimsier." 

Ruppelt, in fact, mentioned that in his book. According 
to him, no one at Project Blue Book had asked Newhouse 
what the objects looked like because there were pictures 
of them available. It was only later, after RuppeJt had got-
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ten out of the Air Force, that he talked to Newhouse about 
what he had seen. Remember that Ruppelt wrote, "He 
didn't think the UFOs were disk-shaped; he knew that 
they were." If that is true, then the birds explanation is 
eliminated, though the evidence for that elimination does 
not appear on the film. For many, it means that the 
Tremonton film is unidentified. That certainly does not 
mean that it shows physical spacecraft, but it does sug­
gest that the bird explanation fails badly. 

The Newhouse film was one of the first of the reports 
made in July 1952. During the next two weeks several 
dozen additional, solid UFO reports were made to Blue 
Boot headquarters. Pilots, both civilian and military, as 
well u military officers, sighted the UFOs and reported 
those sighlings to their bosses at the airlines or their com­
manders at their bases. As mentioned, the regulations had 
been changed, and that meant that the military personnel 
knew what was required of them. 

One of the more interesting and one of the most 
widely reported of those airliner sightings was that by 
two Pan American Airways pilots on July 14. At the time 
of the sighting, Captain William B. Nash was in the left 
seat and next to him was William Fortenberry. It was just 
after eight o'clock P.M., and they were near Norfolk, Vir­
ginia, heading toward Miami, Florida, when they spotted 
the UFOs. 

The official report, as it appears in the Project Blue 
Book files, states: 

A DC-4 type alc [aircraft], nr. 88901 [meaning the 
tail number of the airplane] piloted by 2 airline pi­
lots, was approaching Norfolk, Virginia, about 20-25 
miles out on the NE leg of the range, at 8,000' when 
6 unidentified objects were first sighted approaching 
ale on a heading of about 60 deg [northeast] approxi­
mately 2,000'. When the objects reached a point un-
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der & slightly to the right of the alc, one of the ob­
servers saw them roll up on edge and instantly shoot 
off on heading 270 deg [due west]. After change of 
direction, two more objects appeared from behind 
and joined the fonnation. Speed of the discs was esti­
mated .at well over 1,000 mph. When first seen, they 
were glowing on top side, with intense amber-red 
light. Diameter was approximately 100' (estimated) 
and they were perfectly circular. They approached 
DC-4 in narrow echelon and appeared to decelerate 
before changing direction. With deceleration, dim­
ming of glow was noted; immediately after changing 
direction and flattening out, glow disappeared en­
tirely. They reappeared once, glowing brighdy again, 
this time in sequence rather than s;multaneously, and 
they were lost from view. Sighting occurred at 2012 
EST [8:12 P.M.] on 14 July 1952. Total duration of 
sighting was 15 seconds. 

The Air Force officer who wrote the report made a few 
additional notes under a section titled, "Air Force Com­
ments:" "Five jet alc were in vicinity of Langley AFB at 
the time of the observation. After various checks with 
surrounding AF agencies, it was concluded that the ob­
jects were not the 5 jet alc. Other checks for known air­
borne objects were made with negative results. Air Force 
Conclusion: Unidentified." 

In later interviews, Nash added some details. He de­
scribed the objects' maneuvering, saying, "They flipped 
on edge, the sides to the left of us going up and the glow­
ing surfaces facing right. Though the bottom surfaces did 
not become clearly visible, we had the impression they 
were unlighted. The exposed edges, also unlighted, ap­
peared to be about fifteen feet thick, and the top surface, 
at least, seemed flat. In shape and proportion, they were 
much like coins." 
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Nash said that the original six disks had dimmed just 
before the tum, and then brightened again. The two disks 
that joined the formation later were the brightest of them 
all. Once the objects disappeared, Fortenberry and Nash 
made a radio report of the sighting to be sent on to the Air 
Force. 

Nash told researchers, "At seven A.M. the morning af­
ter the sighting, we were telephoned by the Air Force ... 
to come in for questioning. There were five men, one in 
uniform; the others showed us ID cards and badges of 
Special Investigators, USAF. In separate rooms, we were 
questioned for one hour and forty-five minutes--then 
about half an hour together ... They had a complete 
weather report ... [and] our ftight plan. The investigators 
also advised us that they already had seven other reports. 
One was from a lieutenant commander ... That would 
mean he was a Naval officer and not a member of the Air 
Force. 

Donald Menzel was not as enthusiastic as Air Force 
officers and reporters in his praise of the case. He carried 
on a long dialogue with Nash that resulted in several let­
ters that ran for pages and pages. Menzel tried to be com­
plimentary about Nash's qualifications as a pilot and an 
observer, but Nash seemed convinced that Menzel was 
only interested in "debunking" his report. Nash con­
cluded one of his long letters to Menzel saying, "It would 
be a pleasure to have you aboard my aircraft. I think, 
however, that when I invited you to the cockpit, it would 
behoove us to avoid this subject [the UFO sighting] until 
on the ground, where we'd have hollering room." 

Menzel, in The World of Flying Saucers, offered what 
he believed to be the solution to the case. He noted, early 
on, "As a pilot spending much of his life in the air, Cap­
tain Nash had long been interested in the question of 
UFOs, and during the long night hours of over-water 
ftights he had often cut down the cockpit lights to search 
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the sky. In five years of watching he had observed hun­
dreds of meteors, various types of auroral display, the 
lights of other aircraft, and the multicolored images of 
stars and planets distorted by [atmospheric] refraction, 
but he had never seen any unidentifiable aerial phenome­
non that appeared to be under intelligent control-until 
this particular night, when he was not watching for 
UFOs." 

Menzel recounts the sighting in some detail in his book, 
adding a few colorful adjectives and producing a very read­
able history of the case. He notes that although Nash had 
aid that Air Force investigators told him of seven witneae6 
on the ground, none are mentioned in the Blue Book fileI. 
Menzel also said that Nash had told him that the visibility 
was ''unlimited,'' but the weather records, available in the 
Blue Book files, show the visibility at eight miles with a 
slight indication of haze. 

Menzel then explains that when a sighting can't be ex­
plained, and ''when puzzling observations in a laboratory 
seem to point to a conclusion that contradicts the main 
body of scientific knowledge, the researcher first tries to 
repeat the experiment and duplicate the observations. If 
this is impossible, as with the Chesapeake Bay phenom­
ena [the Nash/Fortenberry case], he next re-examines the 
assumptions on which the conclusion is based." Menzel 
then proceeds to do exactly that. 

Having looked at the observations by the two pilots, 
Menzel assumes that they are simply wrong. He is not 
suggesting that either man had attempted a hoax, only 
that they had been inaccurate in some of their basic ob­
servations, especially those that would have required 
some instrumentation to be fairly accurate. Menzel then 
attacks the sighting from another angle, finally offering 
his solution for it. 

Menzel wrote, "A thorough study of the situation 
showed that inversions of both temperature and humidity 
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must have been present." I will note here, only because it 
seems to be in direct opposition to what Menzel had writ­
ten about re-examining assumptions, that he has made an 
assumption. He wrote that the inversion layers "must" 
have been present, not that they were present. No meteor­
ological evidence existed for these inversions. Menzel 
worked around that, suggesting, "Small in extent, exist­
ing only briefly in one place, constantly changing loca­
tion, such inversions may not be detected by radiosonde 
[that is, balloon-borne meteorological observations made 
by the Weather Service] observations. During July and 
August [1952], temperature inversions occurred almost 
every night in the coastal regions and accounted for the 
radar angels [blips] so frequently observed in the Wash­
ington [D.C.] area during those weeks." 

Even with the explanation, as provided by Menzel, in 
the Project Blue Book files, the case was still labeled as 
"unidentified" in the final index of UFO reports made by 
Air Force officers. This means, quite simply, that the Air 
Force officers charged with explaining the UFO sightings 
had not found Menzel's explanation persuasive. And, in 
July 1952, they didn't have time to concentrate on a sin­
gle case. There were always others being reported. 

For example, just two nights later, on July 16, more 
UFOs were seen in the Washington, D.C., area, this time 
by two men on the ground. According to the "Air Intelli­
gence Information Report" prepared by Paul Hill and 
Second Lieutenant Alfonse R. Russo: 

Two amber lights, further apart than they would be 
on a plane, were flying northwards. Size Unknown. 
No noise, no sound. The two amber lights made 180 
degree tum towards the West. The apparent altitude 
varied from about 10 degrees when first sighted to 
about 20 degrees altitude at the middle of their tum. 
When these two lights made the tum they jockeyed 
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for position in a jagged movement. About this time a 
third light came up and joined them, placing itself 
right beneath the other two. They were a strong am­
ber or straw color. There was no variation of intensity 
or change in the appearance of the lights when they 
turned. There was an airplane coming from the 
Southeast, the direction of Norfolk Airport, toward 
the Northwest and, as it came across Hampton 
Roads, it seemed to cut right between the lights. The 
noise of the airplane was heard and its green and 
white lights seen. This placed the fact that the yellow 
lights were apparently well in the background of the 
airplane. Other than this no estimate of their distance 
or size was possible. As they went South, they held 
constant altitude for a while and then seemed to be 
climbing until they were possibly twice as high as 
when they first were seen. After traveling South 
about a minute, three other lights appeared to join 
them as they went away, seeming to form more or 
less of a circle and faded out in the distance. 

The sighting lasted for about three minutes and both of 
the observers, neither of whom was identified in the Blue 
Book file, were technically trained people. Ruppelt noted 
that one of the men was "a high-ranking civilian scientist 
from the National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics 
Laboratory at Langley AFB." 

In attempting to identify these lights, the Air Force 
tried all their normal explanations and rejected them one 
by one. Ruppelt wrote, "We investigated and found that 
there were several B-26's from Langley AFB in the area 
at the time of the sighting, but none of the B-26 pilots re­
membered being over Hampton Roads [Virginia]. In fact, 
all of them had generally stayed well south of Norfolk 
until about ten thirty P.M. because of thunderstorm activ­
ity northwest of Langley." 
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The Blue Book file contains the weather records for 
that day and that location, and they don't mention thun­
derstonns. There is a mention of cloud-to-cloud lightning 
in the area. The Air Force suggestion is that the lightning 
"might have affected these sightings." 

Ruppelt continued: 

There were other factors ... airplanes carry just one 
or two amber lights, and the distance between the 
two lights was such that had they been on an air­
plane, the airplane would have been huge or very 
close to the observers. And last, but not least, the man 
from the National Advisory Committee for Aeronau­
tics was a very famous aerodynamicist and of such 
professional stature that if he said the lights weren't 
airplanes they weren't. 

Ruppelt's opinion about the man's stature notwith­
standing, the official explanation as listed in the Blue 
Book files is "Aircraft." 

Out west, in Las Vegas, Nevada, another formation of 
UFOs was sighted. According to the statement in the Pro­
ject Blue Book files, a man (his name was blacked out by 
Air Force officers in 1976) reported: 

About 8:45 A.M., I was sitting at our breakfast table 
talking with my wife. Also present in the kitchen 
adjoining, were my daughter , age 11, two 
employees , adult and , age 16 [all 
names removed by Air Force censors]. My wife was 
seated facing the window, South. Suddenly she cried 
out, "Flying saucers!" 

I made a remark, jokingly, in disbelief, and then 
seeing her intent gaze and apparent sincerity, I 
jumped up, and with my wife, daughter and followed 
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by dashed into the yard at the South side of 
the house. At this time, I first sighted two flying ob­
jects. Bearing S.W., azimuth 25 degrees about the 
horizon. This by subsequent estimation against large 
trees, looking from the point of observation. Course 
of the objects apparently Westerly, slight down glide, 
very smooth and apparently very rapid. I realize that 
speed could not be judged without knowing distance 
of object, which could not be estimated .... 

My description of the objects would be two dis­
crete lense shaped objects, the leading one above the 
following one, color identical to that of small delUle 
clouds. Undershadow same as under a cloud. Top, 
silvery, white same as cloud. No fringe, tails, lights, 
sound or other manifestations. I will state that at the 
time I considered first that I might be looking at a 
gunnery target towed by an aluminum colored jet 
plane. But this concept was discarded while the ob­
jects were still under observation, due one, to the 
short length and two, to the large angle off the line of 
flight which a tow rope would have had to make. I 
have seen gliders pulled off and do not believe even a 
glider could have made the relative position to its 
towing plane that was made by these two objects. 

Air Force investigators also took a statement from the 
wife. Her story, matched that told by her husband, though 
she did add some interesting detail. She wrote: 

I saw two very small objects glide into view from 
"behind" the next house chimney. At first they looked 
like gulls gliding but I realized they were no such 
things here .... A re-enactment of our motions and 
words from the time I first spotted them until we saw 
them disappear was 30 seconds. 
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The male witness had a long background at weather 
stations in the Southwest. His vision was better than aver­
age and there is no reason to suspect that he misidentified 
the objects. especially with the corroboration of his wife 
and the others. However, the Air Force investigators 
noted that "Nellis AFB [Las Vegas, Nevada]. reported jet 
alc in the area at time." The official explanation was 
marked as "probably aircraft." 

There are a number of things that all these cases, as 
well as many of the others that were reported, have in 
common. They are multiple-witness, though all the wit­
nesses in each were together when the sightings were 
made. The sightings were all of multiple craft, sometimes 
ftying in formation and sometimes merely ''milling 
about." All were made by people with some technical ex­
pertise, so it can't be said that the sightings were by the 
unschooled or by those who were easily fooled. 

What is most important here is that the sightings were 
reported from around the country. It wasn't a localized 
phenomenon, but something that could appear just about 
anywhere at anytime. The sightings provided an interest­
ing perspective for the major cases that would follow in a 
few days. 

Donald Menzel, in his analysis of the situation that 
arose in July 1952, suggested that the two major maga­
zine articles-first in Life and then in Look-suggested 
UFOs to people. When confronted with something 
strange in the sky, their first reaction, because of those na­
tional publications, was to assume that what they were 
seeing were flying saucers. Other evidence, including the 
timing of the events, as examined earlier, suggests other­
wise. The articles had been published months earlier, and 
if there was a causal relation, it should have been gener­
ated earlier. 

It should also be noted here that these were not the 
only sightings made. As mentioned earlier, the total num-
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ber of sightings reported to the Air Force did not signifi­
cantly change after publication of the articles. The totals 
for April, as reported by Ruppelt, were up, but then the 
totals for May were down. Fewer than a hundred sight­
ings had been reported in either April or May. 

That, however, changed in June. The numbers jumped 
significantly. In June 129 sightings were reported to Pro­
ject Blue Book. In July the numbers jumped again. In the 
past, a month's reports might be found on a single page in 
the index. June was broken down into three pages. July 
covered sixteen pages, with the sightings for July 27, 28, 
and 29 each listed on a single page. On July 28 alone 
thirty-one sightiogs were reported. By the end of the 
month, more than 400 sightiogs had been logged into 
Project Blue Book. Since the staff had not increased, the 
investigations were directed toward the best of the crop. 
Sometimes, according to the Blue Book files, little was 
done, once the report had been made. There were simply 
too many sightings and too few investigators. 

The types of sightings reported, of multiple craft in 
some kind of formation, foreshadowed the events that 
would take place over Washington, D.C. Late on the 
evening of July 19, the first of the sightings that would 
become known as the Washington Nationals began. 
These were the events that would demand the lion's share 
of the investigative resources, because before the sight­
ings ended, President Truman asked for some explana­
tion. 



------------~II~-----------

CHAPTER THREE 

July 19-20, 1952 

T he stage was now set for the most spectacular of the 
UFO sightings during the summer of 1952. In fact, Ed 
Ruppelt, in his book, The Report on Unidentified Flying 
Objects, said that the sightings that would later become 
known as the Washington Nationals, had been predicted 
by a scientist who told him, "Within the next few days, 
they're [the flying saucers] going to blow up and you're 
going to have the granddaddy of all UFO sightings. The 
sighting will occur in Washington or New York, probably 
Washington." 

A few days later, the Washington Nationals-so 
named because the radar facilities in which the majority 
of the sightings were made were located at Washington 
National Airport-began when, according to the CAA's 
(forerunner of the Federal Aeronautics Administration) 
logbook, two radars at the Air Routing and Traffic Con­
trol Center (ARTC) picked up eight unidentified targets 
near Andrews Air Force Base at 11 :40 P.M. on the evening 
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of July 19. Air traffic controller Edward Nugent spotted 
seven blips clustered together in the comer of his radar 
scope. Nugent believed that they were in an area about 
fifteen miles south-southwest of Washington. These were 
not airplanes because, at one point, they accelerated far 
faster than conventional aircraft could fly. First they 
moved along at only a hundred miles an hour, then sud­
denly seemed to accelerate to fantastic speeds. One of the 
objects was tracked, according to the calculations made 
at the center, at 7,000 miles an hour. In 1952 there was 
nothing that could fly at that speed that would be in the 
skies above Washington. 

Nugent then called the senior air traffic controller on 
duty, Harry C. Barnes. Barnes later wrote, "We knew im­
mediately that a very strange situation existed .... They 
[the unidentified blips on the radar] followed no set 
course [and] were not in any formation, and we only 
seemed to be able to track them for about three miles at a 
time. The individual pip would seem to disappear from 
the scope at intervals. Later I realized that if these objects 
had made any sudden burst of extremely high speed, that 
would account for them disappearing from the scope ... " 
And that would put them in the range of the 7 ,OOO-mile­
an-hour bursts noticed by Nugent. 

The first thing for the controllers to do was check the 
radar equipment to make sure that it was functioning 
properly. 1\\10 other controllers, both trained in basic 
maintenance, found nothing wrong with the gear. Barnes 
then called his counterpart at the airport at Tower Central. 
The facility was located about a quarter mile away, on the 
same airfield, and if the radars at the ARTC were mal­
functioning, those at Central should not have been af­
fected. Howard Cocklin told Barnes that they had 
spotted, and were tracking, the same objects. Cocklin 
also said that he had looked out the windows of the con­
trol tower and saw one of the objects high overhead. He 



34 INVASION WASHINGTON 

described the object later as a bright orange light but he 
could see no shape behind the light and could offer no 
other details about it. 

Barnes next called Andrews Air Force Base, which is 
nearby, and asked if they had anything on their radars, but 
was told that the only thing being tracked by them was a 
C-47 (the military version of the DC-3) that was about an 
hour away from Washington, scheduled to land at An­
drews. The radar operators weren't seeing anything out of 
the ordinary on their screens. Moments later, Barnes 
made another call to Andrews and suggested that they 
look outside because there was something strange in the 
sky near the Air Force base. Airman William Brady 
looked out to the south and saw what he later described as 
"an object which appeared to be like an orange ball of 
fire, trailing a tail. It appeared to be about two miles south 
and one-half miles from the Andrews range. It was very 
bright and definite and unlike anything I had ever seen." 

He tried to get the others in the Andrews facility with 
him to look to verify the sighting, but even as he shouted 
at them, the brightly glowing object stopped and then just 
seemed to vanish. According to Brady, it "took off at an 
unbelievable speed," as it disappeared in a split second. 

Moments later, according to Brady, "I saw another 
one, same description. As the one before, it made an arc­
like pattern and then disappeared. I only saw each object 
for about a second." Again, he was the only one to see this 
object. 

No one else in the tower saw any of those lights even 
with Brady's help. Later, there would be other sightings 
from the tower, but for the moment, Brady was alone in 
his observations. That might have been a result of the 
events happening so quickly, or it might have been that 
what Brady thought unusual was nothing more mundane 
than stars seen through a thin layer of haze that would pe-
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riodically obscure them. That suggestion would later be 
offered by Air Force investigators. 

Joseph DeBoves, who was also on the scene as a civil­
ian control tower operator at Andrews, said that Brady 
became excited during one of his telephone conversa­
tions, yelling, "There one goes." DeBoves believed that 
Brady was watching nothing more interesting than a me­
teor. 

On the other hand, there is a memo in the Project Blue 
Book files that notes a sighting from the ATRC, that is 
Washington National, at about 12:30 A.M. of "an orange 
disk about 3,000 feet ... at 360 degrees [due north]." 
That could be independent confirmation of Brady's sigbt­
ings made at Andrews. 

Just after midnight, Airman Second Class Bill Good­
man, called the Andrews control tower to tell them he 
was watching a bright orange light about the size of a 
softball that was gaining and losing altitude as it zipped 
through the night sky. This seemed to be further confir­
mation that something unusual was in the sky over the 
Washington, D.C., area and it seemed to corroborate the 
visual sightings made by Brady. 

About two in the morning on July 20, the radar officer, 
Captain Harold C. Way, at Andrews Approach Control, 
learned that the ARTC had a target east of Andrews. He 
went outside and saw a strange light which he didn't be­
lieve to be a star. He said that he thought it was changing 
colors, from "red to orange to green to red again." He said 
that it seemed to rapidly lose altitude, and then climb 
again. Later, however, he went back out, and this time, 
according to what he told Air Force investigators, decided 
that he was, in fact, looking at a star. 

Bolling Air Force Base, another Air Force installation 
in the Washington, D.C., area, became involved briefly 
about the time Way went outside. The tower operator 
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there said that he saw a "roundish" object drifting low in 
the sky to the southeast of Bolling. There were no radar 
confinnations of the sighting. It did, however, now in­
volve a third government facility in the sightings made 
that evening. 

The ATRC radar operators at National Airport began 
to detect targets near Bolling and infonned the tower op­
erators, including Staff Sergeant Richard Lacava, the op­
erations dispatcher at Bolling. In the mobile control 
tower-that is, a truck-mounted control tower that can be 
repositioned around the air field-Staff Sergeant Don 
Wilson spotted a round, white- and amber-colored light 
1IIat he believed was about seven miles to the southeast of 
the airfield. He said that it was about the intensity of a 
star. It drifted slowly and though visible for a few min­
utes, Wilson could see nothing other than the bright light. 

In still another sighting from that area, a guard going 
off duty saw in the southwest an object that he said 

looked to be the size of a goltball ... bright orange 
in color. The object moved from the west to the 
northeast in a half circle pattern and was traveling at 
such speed that I knew that it could not be a jet air­
craft .... It would be hard to judge the altitude the 
object was flying because it seemed to lose and gain 
altitude. The object moved in this pattern several 
times and then disappeared into the west. From the 
time I saw the object and then lost it, I would say it 
was about fifteen to twenty minutes. 

This meant that the guard had gotten a very good look 
at the object. This was no fleeting light seen for only a 
few seconds. 

Back at Andrews, Staff Sergeant Charles Davenport 
spotted an orange-red light to the south of the base. Ac­
cording to his statement, "It would appear to stand still, 
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then make an abrupt change of direction and altitude." 
Davenport called the tower and the men there also saw 
the object before it vanished in a burst of speed. 

The ARTC again told the controllers at Andrews that 
they still had the targets on their scopes. There is conflict­
ing data in the files, and in other source documents, be­
cause some of the reports suggest that the Andrews radar 
showed nothing, while other reports claim it did. Now 
DeBoves and two others in the tower, Monte Banning and 
John P. Izzo, Jr., swept the sky with binoculars but could 
see no lights other than the stars. 

There were some multiple radar facility sightings. At 
one point during the night, the radars in the ARTC, at the 
National Airport Tower, and at Andrews all were fixed on 
an object hovering over the Riverdale Radio beacon. For 
thirty seconds it remained there, giving the radar opera­
tors in all three locations the chance to check their read­
ings and their equipment against one another. The target 
vanished from the three radar screens at the same time. 
This suggested to the men that they were looking at 
something real and not some sort of a weather-related 
phenomenon. 

The sightings lasted through the night, and during that 
time, the crews of several airliners saw the lights right 
where the radars showed them to be. Tower operators also 
saw them, and jet fighters were brought in for attempted 
intercepts to identify the objects. Associated Press stories 
written hours after the sightings claimed that no inter­
cepts had been attempted that night, but those stories 
were inaccurate. Documents in the Project Blue Book 
files, as well as eyewitnesses, confirm the attempted in­
tercepts. Barnes, in fact, believed that the UFOs were 
monitoring the radio traffic because at about three 
o'clock A.M. all the mysterious targets suddenly disap­
peared. Moments later, two F-94 jet interceptors from 
Newcastle Air Force Base appeared. Although the inter-
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ceptor pilots searched for the UFOs, they found and saw 
nothing. Low fuel finally forced them to return to their 
base. As the jets disappeared, the UFOs reappeared. 

At about three thirty A.M., Staff Sergeant Charles Dav­
enport, an aircraft mechanic, saw an object at treetop 
level. This one was bluish-white in color and moved er­
ratically. He said, 'Three times I saw a red object leave 
the silver object at a high rate of speed and move east, out 
of sight." 

It wasn't just the men on the ground, in the towers at 
Andrews and Washington National, or at the radar 
screens who were seeing the UFOs. Airline pilots were 
also spotting the lights. Typical of the sightings were 
thole made by Captain Casey Pierman on Capital Air­
lines flight 807. He was on a flight between Washington 
and Martinsburg, West VIrginia, at 1: 15 A.M. on July 20, 
wben he and the rest of the crew saw seven objects flash 
across the sky in front of them. Pierman said, ''They were 
like falling stars without trails." 

Capital Airlines officials said that National Airport 
radar picked up the objects and asked Pierman to keep an 
eye on them. Shortly after takeoff, Pierman radioed that 
he had the objects in sight. He was flying at 180 to 200 
mph and reported the objects were traveling at tremen­
dous speed. Official Air Force records confirm this, 
which means that Pierman did make the report to military 
officers. 

Another Capital Airlines pilot, Captain Howard Der­
mott, on Capital flight 610, reported that a single light 
followed him from Herndon, Virginia, to within four 
miles of National Airport. Both the ARTC and the Na­
tional Tower confirmed that an unidentified target fol­
lowed the aircraft to within four miles of landing. At 
about the same time, an Air Force radar at Andrews AFB 
was tracking eight additional unknown objects as they 
flew over the Washington area. 
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Repeatedly, throughout the night, Bames attempted to 
alert various military authorities about the series of UFO 
sightings. He wanted the closest Air Force intelligence 
officer alerted so that a military record of the sightings at 
the civilian facilities could be created. He spoke to the 
duty officers, who would only tell him that the informa­
tion was being forwarded up the chain of command and 
that they had no authority to do anything else. It is clear, 
however, that military officials were responding to the 
sightings-{)therwise, there would have been no at­
tempted intercepts. 

Later, Bames would tell investigators, both for the mil­
itary and for the University of Colorado's Condon Com­
mittee, that the experience of finding unidentified radar 
and visual targets where there was supposed to be noth­
ing in the air was frightening. Barnes also mentioned that 
the UFOs had flown in the vicinity of the White House, 
which would later become a point of interest to many. 

Barnes also said that, at the time, no one in the facility 
with him believed they were watching Russian aircraft, 
military experiments, or visitors from another world. In­
stead, all the men were puzzled by the events. And, 
though Bames seemed to have ruled out manufactured 
craft, whether foreign or domestic, he said that everyone 
believed that the objects were under intelligent control, 
which in tum ruled out natural phenomena. 

The radar returns and UFO sightings continued almost 
till dawn. At about five thirty A.M., seven or eight of the 
UFOs were seen on the scopes at the ARTC. They faded 
from sight quickly. At about this same time, E. W. Cham­
bers, a radio engineer, saw five huge disks circling in a 
loose formation over the Washington, D.C., area. He 
clearly saw the shapes of the objects, rather than just 
lights in the distance. The disks tilted upward and disap­
peared, climbing steeply. 

Just before daylight, about four in the morning, after 
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repeated requests from the ARTC, another F-94 intercep­
tor arrived on the scene, but it was too little too late. All 
the targets were gone. Although the flight crew made a 
short search of the local area, they found nothing unusual 
or exciting and returned to their base quickly. 

During that night, apparently the three radar facilities 
only once reported a target that was seen by all three 
radars at the same time. There were, however, a number 
of times when the ARTC radar and the Washington Na­
tional tower radars had simultaneous readings. It also 
seems that the radars were displaying the same targets 
that were seen by the crews of the Capital Airlines flights. 
What it boils down to is that multiple radars and multiple 
eyewitnesses were showing and seeing objects in the sky 
over Washington. 

Barnes would later write: 

[The UFOs] became most active around the planes 
we saw on the scope ... [T]hey acted like a bunch of 
small kids out playing ... directed by some innate 
curiosity. At times they moved as a group or cluster, 
at other times as individuals over widely scattered ar­
eas ... There is no other conclusion that I can reach 
but that for six hours there were at least ten unidenti­
fied flying objects moving above Washington. They 
were not ordinary aircraft. I could tell that by their 
movement on the scope. I can safely deduce that they 
perfOlmed gyrations which no known aircraft could 
perform. By this I mean that our scopes showed that 
they could make right angle turns and complete re­
versals of flight. Nor in my opinion could any natural 
phenomena such as shooting stars, electrical distur­
bances or clouds account for these spots on our radar. 

Barnes would confirm that opinion later as he talked to 
the investigators for the Condon Committee. It was 
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nearly fifteen years after the events, and Barnes told the 
investigators that 

a number of objects, some seven or eight, would be 
in a place as a group, then seem to go over to an air­
craft to take a look. If the aircraft attempted evasive 
action by turning, the objects would turn too. They 
seemed, furthennore, to have monitored messages 
between the aircraft and the tower. When a particular 
pilot was told to look for an object the pilot would 
see it, but would report that it was zooming off at just 
about the time at which the target also disappeared 
from the radar set. Many of the objects were ex­
tremely maneuverable. 

Barnes told the Condon investigator that he didn't be­
lieve that the objects they had detected were "ghost" or 
weather-related phenomena. Barnes ruled out a malfunc­
tion as well, telling the investigators that Washington Na­
tional, Andrews, and Andrews approach control had all 
independently sighted the objects in the same place about 
the same time. Barnes said that all the radars were operat­
ing nonnally and that men at all three facilities were in 
contact with one another and confirming the other sight­
ings. 

The only downside was that none of the radars used 
that night had height-finding capability. They could 
record the direction of the object, and by knowing the 
sweep time of the scope's antenna, they could determine 
the speed. They just didn't know how high the objects 
were. That made the attempted intercepts a little more 
difficult to manage. 

Importantly, the Condon investigator learned that dur­
ing one of the attempted intercepts, the radar onboard the 
jet fighter obtained a lock on one of the objects. That in­
creased the number of radars involved in the night's ac-
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tivities. The pilot, however, did not have a visual sighting. 
The first night of the Washington Nationals ended with 

the controllers frustrated by the lack of response from the 
military. Both visual and radar sightings were made, of­
ten with an object seen in the sky where the radar sug­
gested that it should be. Radars at three different 
locations picked up the returns, but only once, as men­
tioned, did all three radars display the same objects. And, 
only once, as mentioned, did an aircraft's onboard radar 
acquire an object. 

Importantly, intercepts were attempted, but the fighters 
were required to scramble from Air Force bases outside 
the Washington, D.C., area because the runways at An­
drews were closed for repairs. That certainly slowed the 
response time and required that requests for the intercepts 
travel somewhat slowly through the chain of command, 
first up toward the Pentagon, and then down to the local 
base. However, the fighters did reach the area, b~t unfor­
tunately, the pilots on those intercepts didn't see anything 
unusual. 

The night ended, and the sightings on the radars at the 
various facilities ended. But that was only for a short pe­
riod of time. And although many would report on the sec­
ond night of sightings at Washington National, and 
although military representatives would be at the airport 
to watch the activity, there were other sightings in the 
area between those two nights. Some very interesting 
sightings came out of the interim. 



CHAPTER FOUR 

The Air Force Investigation: 
Part I 

Immediately after the first night of the Washington Na­
tionals, Air Force intelligence-including ATIC (Air 
Technical Intelligence Center) and the officers assigned 
to Blue Book-had no idea that these sightings had taken 
place. They learned of the Saturday night-Sunday morn­
ing UFO show when the information was published in 
several newspapers on Monday, July 21. Ruppelt, on 
business in Washington with Colonel Donald Bower and 
unaware of the sightings, reported, "I got off an airliner 
from Dayton and 1 bought a newspaper in the lobby of 
Washington National Airport Terminal Building. 1 called 
the Pentagon from the airport and talked to Major Dewey 
Fournet, but all he knew was what he read in the papers. 
He told me he had called the intelligence officer at 
Bolling AFB and that he was making an investigation. We 
would get a preliminary official report by noon." 

So the official Air Force investigation was not off to a 
running start. The chief of that investigation. Ruppelt, 
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hadn't even been alerted during the sightings, nor had he 
been infonned the following day. He had had to learn 
about the string of sightings from the newspaper. 

Harry Barnes had tried to find an intelligence officer 
during the first night of sightings, but was unable to alert 
anyone. It would have been better for the investigation 
had an Air Force officer been either at the ARTC or in the 
tower that night to make personal observations. That offi­
cer would have been able to observe things firsthand 
rather than having to rely on the testimony of those who 
had been there, some of whom were lower ranking en­
listed personnel. From a trained intelligence officer, the 
perspective might have been a little crisper. 

It was about one in the afternoon that Monday when 
Fournet called Ruppelt and told him the intelligence offi­
cer from Bolling was now available for a briefing. Rup­
pelt found Bower, and together they went to Fournet's 
office. They received the preliminaries, including a brief 
rundown on where each of the facilities was in relation to 
the others Washington National is about three miles south 
of the heart of Washington, D.C.; Bolling AFB is on the 
other side of the Potomac River; and farther along, about 
ten miles away, on a line with Bolling and Washington 
National, is Andrews AFB. All three had radars, though 
the capabilities of those radars varied from location to lo­
cation and depended on the mission of the facility. All the 
airfields were linked by an intercom system so that they 
could coordinate the air traffic in and around Washington, 
D.C., and in and around each of their airfields. 

Ruppelt, after sitting in on the briefing, knew exactly 
what had to be done, knew what questions should be 
asked, and where to go to get the statements and evidence 
he needed for a complete investigation of the UFO sight­
ings that were fast becoming front page news in various 
parts of the country. Bureaucracy, however, was no more 
interested in flying saucers than the Pentagon seemed to 
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be. Regulations had to be followed, regardless of the con­
sequences; there were orders to be issued; and, when 
every other roadblock had been hurtled, there was the 
standard bureaucratic inertia that slowed everything to a 
near standstill. 

Ruppelt reported that "Feeling like a national martyr 
because I planned to work all night if necessary, I laid the 
course of my investigation." 

Unfortunately, his orders had called for him to return 
to Wright-Patterson after his regularly scheduled meet­
ings at the Pentagon. That would be a hurdle to leap later 
in the day. He wanted to begin his investigation. 

He tried to arrange a staff car, but in brass-heavy 
Washington, only very senior colonels and generals could 
get staff cars on short notice. Ruppelt was neither a senior 
colonel nor a general, so no one wanted much to do with 
him. Ruppelt called the colonels and generals he knew at 
the Pentagon, hoping that they would understand the ne­
cessity for him to have a car, but none of them were avail­
able, and none answered his telephone calls, so no staff 
car could be had. 

He was told by the bureaucrats who cared nothing for 
flying saucers or even national security if it wasn't writ­
ten down somewhere so they could cite the appropriate 
authority, he could rent a car but not charge it as a travel 
expense because city buses were available. He could take 
a cab, but that wasn't a legitimate expense because city 
buses were available. Riding a bus was not the best way 
to conduct an important intelligence investigation, espe­
cially when the locations he had to visit were in widely 
separated parts of the city and he didn't know the city 
well. He would waste hours riding around Washington, 
trying to get from one end of the city to the other. 

To make matters worse, Ruppelt was then told that his 
orders didn't cover an overnight stay in Washington. If he 
dido't get his orders amended, or return to Dayton that 
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day, he wouldn't collect his expense money (per diem) 
and would be---technically, at least-absent without 
leave. And he couldn't talk to the finance officer because 
he was already gone for the day even though it was before 
four thirty in the afternoon. In other words, there was no 
real way to get his orders amended so that he could stay 
in Washington to begin his investigation. 

Ruppelt then called Colonel Bower, told him of the ex­
perience, and said that he would have to return to Dayton. 
Bower agreed that there was no other solution available 
to them. Bureaucracy had won out over investigation. 

In a Memorandum for the Record dated 23 July 1952 
with a subject of "ATIC Participation in the Investigation 
of the Washington Incident of 20 July 1952," a slightly 
different version of these same events appears. According 
to the document: 

3. Before the afternoon was over it appeared that this 
was going to be a "hot" incident. Capt. Ruppelt 
called Col. Bower in Lt. Col. Teaburg's office and of­
fered to stay over in Washington to get the investiga­
tion started but was advised that this should not be 
done. 

Ruppelt was not without support in official Washing­
ton, however. Ruppelt had been told that President Harry 
Truman was interested in the sightings and wished that a 
full investigation be made. Ruppelt, of course, wanted to 
comply, but there just wasn't time late on Monday after­
noon for him to make the arrangements to stay, let alone 
begin his investigation, without getting into trouble with 
the Air Force. 

Ruppelt returned to Wright-Patterson, where the num­
ber of UFO reports had risen to about forty a day. He was 
still concentrating on the Washington National sightings 
and asked the resident radar expert at Wright-Patterson, 
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Captain Roy James, what he thought about the sightings. 
James, whom Ruppelt described as having little interest 
in UFOs, suggested that the returns sounded as if they 
were weather-related, but since he hadn't studied the case 
and didn't have the finer details, he couldn't be sure. The 
weather theory was, at best, a guess based primarily on 
the theory that UFOs can't be real, solid objects, so there 
must be another explanation for the sightings. It was 
James's personal opinion without the benefit of investiga­
tion. 

Although Ruppelt couldn't stay in Washington to in­
vestigate the case, the intelligence officer at Bolling did 
provide a complete account of his investigation, which 
was forwarded, according to regulations, to ATIC and 
eventually to Ruppelt. Those reports-gathered within 
days, and in some cases, within hours of the sightings­
are important documents. They were not colored, for the 
most part, by the newspaper coverage of the sightings, by 
the repeated questions asked by various official and unof­
ficial investigators, or the simple passage of time. They 
provide a glimpse into what was happening on those 
nights in July 1952. 

Included in the statements submitted was one by Air 
Force Captain Harold C. Way. He told the investigating 
officer: 

At about 0200 EST Washington Center advised that 
their radar had a target five miles east of Andrews 
Field. Andrews tower reported seeing a light, which 
changed color, and said it was moving towards An­
drews. I went outside as no target appeared on An­
drews radar and saw a light as reported by the tower. 
It was between 10 degrees and 15 degrees above the 
horizon and seemed to change color, from red to or­
ange to green and red again. It seemed to float, but at 
times to dip suddenly and appear to lose altitude. It 
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did not have the appearance of any star I have ever 
observed before. At the time of the observation there 
was a star due east of my position. Its brilliance was 
approximately the same as the object and it appeared 
at about the same angle, 10 degrees to 15 degrees 
about the horizon. The star did not change color or 
have any apparent movement. I estimated the object 
to be between three and four miles east of Andrews 
Field at approximately 2,000 ft. During the next hour 
very few reports were received from Washington 
Center. (According to Washington Center's account, 
however, the 0200 EST object was seen on radar to 
pass over Andrews and fade out to the southwest of 
Andrews-G.D.T.) [parenthetical statement in origi­
nal] At approximately 0300 EST I again went outside 
to look at the object. At this time both the star and the 
object had increased elevation by about 10 degrees. 
(The azimuth would have also increased about 10 de­
grees, so that the observed change was apparently 
equal to the sidereal rate, 15 degrees of right ascen­
sion per hour-G.D.T.) [parenthetical statement in 
original] The object had ceased to have any apparent 
movement, but still appeared to be changing color. 
On the basis of the second observation, I believe the 
unidentified object was a star. 

Way wasn't alone in his evaluation of the visual sight­
ings. Other documents included in the Blue Book files 
suggest a similar explanation. An unidentified control 
tower operator (his name was removed from the files, but 
who was apparently Joseph DeBoves) at Andrews re­
ported to investigators: 

I reported for duty in the tower at 2300 EST on 19 
July 1952 for my eight hour tour of duty. About 1230 
[0030 using military time] AlIC [Airman First Class] 
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Brady, [an unidentified civilian] and myself started 
talking about flying saucers. [Two unidentified men] 
were inclined to believe there were such objects. I 
was and still am skeptical. The tower maintenance 
man T/SGT Izzo was listening to the conversation 
over the intercom on the 6th floor as he worked there, 
and commented jokingly now and then. 

These preliminary statements by the tower operator, 
DeBoves, are important because they set a tone. Accord­
ing to the man, they were talking about flying saucers be­
fore they had received any commlJoicationl from 
National Airport and before anyone saw any1biDg Ibat 
suggested a flying saucer to them. 

Again, according to the statement by DeBoves, 

At approximately 0100 hrs [named removed] an­
swered the ringing telephone and spoke to someone 
unknown to me who was apparently watching the sky 
from the hardstand [meaning the ramp areas adjacent 
to the airfield] ... Brady became excited during the 
conversation and suddenly yelled, ''There goes one." 
I saw a falling star go from overhead a short distance 
south and bum out. About two minutes later [name 
removed] said, "There's another one. Did you see the 
orange glow to the south." I said I thought I saw it but 
he pointed south and I was looking southwest. I went 
up on the roof after that and watched the sky in all di­
rections. In the meantime Wash Center [ARTC at Na­
tional Airport] was reporting targets on their radar 
screen over the Andrews range. Andrews Approach 
Control observed nothing. 

DeBoves, according to his official statement, obvi­
ously believed that there was nothing going on of interest. 
He had seen, what to him had been a meteorite but that 
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some of the others had thought strange. They didn't be­
lieve it was a meteorite. DeBoves was handing out the Air 
Force party line, as it would develop over the next several 
days. 

DeBoves continued: 

[Name removed] was in the tower talking on the 
phone and interphone. He was watching a star and 
telling various people that it was moving up and de­
scending rapidly and going from left to right and 
Banning [one of the others in the tower] and I listen­
ing to him from the roof believed we saw it move too. 
Such is the power of suggestion. 

Actually, such is the power of autokinesis, which is the 
apparent motion of an object such as point of light or star 
due to the small, involuntary movements of the eye. The 
object appears to be in motion when it is not. 

This star was to the east slightly to the left of and 
above the rotating beacon. Brady reported the star as 
two miles east of Andrews and at an altitude of two 
thousand feet. 

A short time later approx 0200 hrs, I saw a falling 
star go from overhead to the north. A few minutes 
later another went in the same direction. They faded 
and went out within two seconds. The sky was full of 
stars, the milky way was bright and I was surprised 
that we did not see more falling stars. 

At about 0230 hrs I descended to the tower and 
observed from there the rest of the night but saw 
nothing more. All night Wash Center was reporting 
objects near Andrews or over the Andrews range but 
Andrews Approach Control could see nothing; how­
ever, they could see the various aircraft reported so 
their screen was apparently in good operation. 
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About 0400 hrs ajet (GAS BAG) [the call sign of 
the interceptor] called Wash Center on 121.5MC's 
and said he had been assigned to contact Wash CAA 
to investigate the unknown objects reported in the 
sky but he was almost out of fuel and was returning 
to his home base. 

At 0500 hrs Wash Center called me and reported 
an unknown object five miles southeast of Andrews 
Field. I looked and saw nothing. That was the last re­
port I heard. 

The intelligence officer also interviewed T/Sergeant 
John P. Izzo, Jr., who, according to DeBoves, was on an­
other floor in the same building, listening to the same 
conversations. According to Izzo's statement: 

At about 0015 [12:15 A.M.] I called the tower on our 
intercom as I overheard them talking about flying 
saucers. Curiously, I went up to the tower and I heard 
Wash Center call us on the intercom advising that 
they had five unidentified targets over the Andrews 
range. Mr. [name removed, but probably Banning] 
and Mr. [name removed, but probably DeBoves] 
went to the tower roof while I stayed inside the 
tower. I, myself, couldn't see any targets at that time 
over the Andrews range. I went to the tower roof 
about ten minutes later. Mr. [name removed, but 
probably DeBoves] and myself saw what appeared to 
be two falling stars directly overhead falling in a 
south to northerly direction. They did not occur at the 
same time, about ten minutes apart. The first one was 
quite bright and orange in color. In my estimation, all 
those were, were just falling stars. At about the same 
time, AlIC Brady said he spotted a strange light near 
our beacon which is atop our water tower east of our 
control tower. I spotted the same from the tower roof 
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but to me it appeared to be just a distant star and it 
changed position due to the rotation of the Earth on 
its axis. To me it didn't appear to be moving around. 
At 0230 Wash Center called and said that a Capital 
Airlines spotted three objects near Hendron, Va and 
he stated they were like nothing he had ever seen. At 
about 0400 a jet with the call sign (gas bag) called 
Wash Center on 121.5MC (A). Mr. [name removed] 
asked me if I could monitor it and I said I would it up 
on our spare ... received down on the sixth floor. I 
heard the jet (gas bag) advise Wash Center he was at 
21,000 ft and was running low on fuel. We advised he 
was going back to base. That was all that I heard 
from the jet. From ... to 0500 I stayed down on the 
sixth floor (radio room) and I then back to my 
shop ... at 0600. I went off duty at 0700. 

William Brady, the airman to whom the others re­
ferred, provided a brief description of what he had seen 
without the speculations that others had made. Brady 
merely described the event without suggesting stars, me­
teors, Air Force pressure, or the power of suggestion. 

He told the investigators: 

Airman Goodman called the tower and reported he 
had seen some objects in the air around Andrews, 
while we were discussing them, he advised me to 
look to the south immediately, when I looked there 
was an object which appeared to be like an orange 
ball of fire, trailing a tail. It appeared to be about two 
miles south and one half mile east of the Andrews 
range. It was very bright and definite, and unlike any­
thing I had ever seen before. The position of some­
thing like that is hard to determine accurately. It 
made kind of a circular movement and then took of 
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[sic] at an unbelievable speed. It disappeared in a 
split second. This took place about 0005. Seconds 
later I saw another one same description as the one 
before it made an arc like pattern then disappeared. I 
only saw each object for about a second. The second 
one was over Andrews range, the direction appeared 
to be southerly. 

Other reports from the other observers at Andrews said 
much the same thing. They described lights in the dis­
tance, almost always moving in an erratic manner that 
seems more reminiscent of autokinesis rather than intelli­
gent control. They all suggested that the objects were in 
sight for short periods. often only seconds. before they 
disappeared. They provided little in the way of descrip­
tion of the objects. 

The exception here seems to be the report made by 
Airman Second Class William Goodman. He told the in­
vestigators: 

At this time I noticed an object to the South West of 
Andrews, it looked to be about the size of the softball 
and it was bright orange in color. The object moved 
from the west to the North West in a half circular pat­
tern and was traviling [sic] at such a speed that I 
knew that it could not be a jet aircraft, my estimation 
of the speed is from 1000 miles an hour to 2000 
miles an hour. It would be hard to judge at what alti­
tude the object was flying because it seemed to loose 
and gain altitude. The object moved in this pattern 
several times and then disappeared into the west. From 
the time I saw the object and then lost it I would say 
it was about 15 or 20 minutes. But as far as saying 
that this was a flying saucer I would not because it 
looked to me to be more round in shape than flat. 



54 INVASION WASHINGTON 

There is one other important point that has to be made 
about the Air Force investigation of the Air Force person­
nel, both military and civilian, who reported UFOs that 
night. Ruppelt, who should have known what was hap­
pening inside the Air Force investigation, even if he was 
not physically present, and who had access to all the rele­
vant documents about the sightings, reported, "I heard 
from a good source that the tower men had been 'per­
suaded' a bit." 

Reading carefully, and between the lines, it does seem 
that the higher ranking of the observers that first night 
said exactly what the Air Force would like them to say. In 
other words, those who could be considered career men 
in the Air Force were quick to pick up what their superi­
ors had wanted them to say. The fiery orange objects were 
really just stars seen through a light haze and nothing un­
usual. It was the talk of fiying saucers, especially after the 
calls from the radar men from National Airport, that sug­
gested fiying saucers that had turned the normal stars into 
something more exciting. 

While the Air Force investigators did interview the 
military personnel involved, it seems that they didn't talk 
to the civilian controllers at National Airport. An undated 
letter in the Blue Book files states, "Attached is a copy of 
the report written by the Senior Controller [name re­
moved, but apparently Harry C. Barnes], on duty from 
approximately 2330E [11:30 EST] July 19, to 0800 July 
20, 1952." 

The letter, obviously written by a civilian (because the 
name was removed) noted, "Parts of this report have been 
given to Major Williams of Air Force Intelligence, Lt. 
Col. Searless, Office of Public Information, Department 
of Defense and to Mr [whose name has been re­
moved]." 

Barnes's letter confirms the reports that had been made 
by others that night. It confirmed that the radar operators 
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had spotted several targets and "although an occasional 
strong return was noted, most of the targets would be 
classified as fair to weak." When the controller attempted 
to alert military authorities, the buck was passed from one 
location to another. The report noted, ''There was some 
confusion for awhile as to whether Andrews or Bolling 
was going to make the report, but it was finally deter­
mined that [Andrews] would handle." 

There was discussion about the possibility of an inter­
cept attempt. The author wrote: 

The targets were noticed east and south of [Andrews] 
so we asked the [Andrews] tower to look and see if 
they anything, also asked [Andrews] approach con­
trol to check scopes. [Andrews] had a lad on the roof 
with glasses who spotted an object that looked to be 
orange in color and appeared to be just hovering in 
the vicinity of [Andrews]. They saw others as time 
went on with varying descriptions. Most of this infor­
mation was given ... with the expectation that they 
would run an intercept. 

According to Barnes's letter, the men at Washington 
National, as well as other locations, discussed the possi­
bility of an intercept, but always someone wanted more 
information. Barnes wrote, 

As time wore on, pilot reports were received--­
P807 [a commercial flight] saw 7 of the objects be­
tween Washington and Martinsburg variously 
described as lights that moved very rapidly. up and 
down and horizontally as well as hovering in one po­
sition and SP610 [Capital Airlines flight 610] saw 
one come in with him from Herndon and follow him 
to within 4 miles of touch-down. This was substanti­
ated by Tower and Center radar. 
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Barnes had contacted various military agencies about 
3:00 A.M. According to his letter: 

They were doing nothing about it so I asked if it was 
possible for something like this to happen, even 
though we gave them all this information, without 
anything being done about it. The man who was sup­
posed to be in charge and to whom I was talking, said 
he guessed so. Then another voice came on who 
identified himself as the Combat Officer and said that 
all the information was being forwarded to higher au­
thority and would not discuss it fwther ... then [he] 
said that they were not really concerned about it any­
way. that somebody else was supposed to handle it. 

Another letter in the Blue Book files was a "Spot Intel­
ligence Report" about the UFOs seen at Andrews on July 
20. This, according to the heading, was a "Special In­
quiry" that was forwarded to the Inspector General's of­
fice of the fourth District Office of Special Investigations, 
at Bolling Air Force Base. The letter was sent on to the 
Director of Special Investigations. This was a letter cre­
ated at the highest levels of the Air Force and concerned 
the UFOs over Washington, D.C., on the first night. It in­
cluded a copy of the tower log for that night. 

According to the letter: 

The following is a copy of the AACS [Andrews Ap­
proach Control] Control Tower Log ... dated 20 July 
1952: 

0005 Phone call advsg that there was an object south of 
ADW [Andrews]. NIC [named deleted] looked south 
and saw a [sic] orange object that appeared for just a 
moment then disappeared. The party on the phone saw 
the same thing. Wash Center also calling to advise they 
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have five targets unidentified in the vicinity of the 
ADW range. TWR [tower] personnel used to observe 
from the roof of the TWR. 

0120 While watching from the TWR roof Mr. [name 
deleted, but probably DeBoves], T/SGT IZZO and 
myself. Capt. H. W. REDDING observed what ap­
peared to be two falling stars but they had an orange 
hue and a tail and were traveling at a fast pace. 

0125 T/SGT and Mr. [name deleted] also saw a third ob­
ject that appeared like the first two objects (appeared 
like a falling star). 

0235 ADW AlO making a full report including the report 
by the party on the phone. Wash Center received a call 
from Capital Airlines plane that he saw three objects 
near [name deleted] and reported that they were like 
nothing he had ever seen. He also reported three more 
between HRN and [Hendron] and Martinsburg. Wash 
Center first saw these targets around 2340 and then 
about ten minutes later they moved toward ADW. 

0330 Wash Center advised the targets seemed to move 
more frequently when there were aircraft moving. As 
daylight was approaching they seemed to move less 
frequently. 

0530 Wash Center advised target north of ADW. Tower 
could not see it. 

TWX [teletype message] sent to Director of Intelligence, 
Hq USAF, Washington, 25, D.C. 

Air Technical Intell Center, Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio 
ATTN: ATIAA-26 
Commanding General, Ent AFB, Colorado Springs, 

Colo. 
Commanding General, Headquarters Command, USAF, 

Bolling AFB. 

Under the section labeled "Action Taken," it was re­
ported, "No investigation of this matter was conducted by 
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this office inasmuch as no request for investigation was 
received." Of course, Barnes was burning up the tele­
phone lines trying to find someone somewhere who 
would respond to the situation. 

That seemed to summarize the attitude of the Air 
Force after the first night of watching UFOs over Wash­
ington, D.C. Various officers didn't forward the reports, 
no one requested any sort of intercept be attempted until 
the night was nearly over, and then, alerted that some­
thing had happened, no one cared to investigate because 
no request had been received. That, of course, explains 
how Ruppelt could leave ATIC at Wright-Patterson a day 
after the sightings and not know a thing about them until 
he arrived at Washington National Airport and read about 
them in the newspaper. 

Had that been all of it, then the situation might never 
have come to the attention of the president. Had the 
UFOs not returned later, and had there not been so many 
other sightings around the country, that might have been 
the end of it. However, the UFOs had just begun to gain 
attention. Soon everyone would know about their over­
flights of Washington. 



----------1.-------

CHAPTER FIVE 

Interim 

At the close of the first round of Washington National 
sightings, it might have seemed as if the wave had peaked. 
How could any sightings improve on the radar, airborne, 
and ground-based observations of the UFOs that came 
from Washington National? Sightings from other parts of 
the country just couldn't live up to this standard of multi­
ple witnesses, including military and civilian pilots, as 
well as multiple radar facilities. In the interim, before the 
saucers returned to the radars of Washington National 
Airport, there were other UFO sightings. Some of them 
involved radar, some involved airborne observations, and 
in a few cases, intercepts were attempted that were no 
more successful than those tried over Washington, D.C. 

On July 21, over Lahambra, California, a private pilot 
and two of his relatives saw a round, silver-colored object. 
The pilot thought the UFO was at about 40,000 feet and 
was heading north, but was changing direction in an irreg­
ular fashion so that it seemed, at times, to be heading east-
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northeast. The object was in sight for about four minutes. 
Also on July 21, at Robbins Air Force Base in Georgia, 

an unidentified "blip" made several passes on a wind­
finding target being tracked by radar. The Air Force didn't 
do much in the way of an investigation, but given the tim­
ing, and that there were no corresponding visual sight­
ings, that isn't surprising. There wasn't much they could 
learn with an investigation, and they left the case marked 
as "insufficient data." 

It was also on July 21, 1952, that there was another re­
port from a military flight crew that involved radar. Ac­
cording to a brief statement included in the Project Blue 
Book files, Captain Henry S. Anthony, Jr., and FlfSt Lieu­
tenant 10hn T. Larkins were airborne in the Beluga Lake 
area when the first contact was made at 18,000 yards: 

Lock-on was accomplished at 12,000 yards and an 
intercept started. Target was level with the aircraft's 
speed greater than 100 knots to 6,000 yards. At this 
point the target disappeared and could not be re­
established. Pilot did not make visual sighting. 

A little less than an hour later, they made another at­
tempt to contact the target. They had remained in the area 
searching for the UFO. 

While at 16,000 feet, contact was made at 12,000 
yards. Lock-on was accomplished and target over­
taken at 5~0 knots. At 1500 yards, set action resem­
bled normal break-lock and target was lost due to an 
abrupt upward motion as seen in pilot's scope. Con­
tact was re-established at 6,000 yards and followed to 
700 yards where target and aircraft speed appeared 
the same-3oo knots. Intercept was continued to 400 
yards at which time the target moved out rapidly to 
3200 yards where speeds again synchronized with the 
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target moving down. Pilot nosed the aircraft down and 
as speed increased to approximately 400 knots, the 
target was overtaken to 1500 yards. At this time the 
radar broke lock due to a rapid downward movement 
of the target. Again, no visual sighting was accom­
plished .... During this incident, the weather was ex­
ceptionally clear with practically a cloudless sky. 

The Air Force found no explanation for this sighting. 
Again, the information was sketchy at best. The pilots 
had made no visual sighting, but were chasing an object 
seen only by their radar operators. There wasn't much 
that an investigation could accomplish, unless it could be 
proven that the radar had malfunctioned. 

The following day, on the morning of July 22, a series 
of sightings began in the Boston area. According to a re­
port written by Lieutenant Colonel Robert S. Jones, 
"[R]eports of sightings of unidentified phenomena ... 
were received from five (5) separate sources. No activity 
or condition developed that accounts for sightings." 

According to Jones, he had received a telephone call 
telling him of a sighting by 

Lt. Commander W. J. ADAMS ... to the effect that 
he and several others had observed unidentified phe­
nomena during the night of 22 July 1952 ... GUY 
W. BAILEY, weather observer ... advised that he 
observed strange lights between 2315 and 2326 
[11:15 P.M. and 11:26 P.M.] ... Additional calls re­
porting similar phenomena were received ... 

In the first Boston area sighting, there were two round, 
bluish-green lights, one following the other. Adams could 
see no features on either of them and described them as 
brighter than a first-magnitude star. They moved without 
sound or exhaust. The lights moved through about 90 de-
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grees of sky, then reversed themselves and back before 
reversing themselves a third time. It should be noted here 
that the long flights by the objects tended to rule out 
bright stars or planets. The reversal of the course would 
rule out artificial satellites, and in any case, none had 
been launched in 1952. That explanation wouldn't be 
possible until after October 1957. 

Adams said that the lights didn't seem to dim with the 
distance and they eventually just disappeared, as if a light 
had been switched off. The lead object disappeared first, 
and when the second reached that point in the sky, it too 
vanished. 

1be second sighting involved four small, red and green 
lights. At times a single light would come on, washing 
out the smaller, colored lights, suggesting to the observer 
that he was seeing a single object with various lights on it 
being illuminated and extinguished in some ill-defined 
sequence. Again, it was just lights in the night sky and not 
a sighting of a physical object. 

The observer, who looked at the lights through a small 
telescope, could see nothing to suggest an object behind 
the light. He believed that if the lights were on an aircraft, 
he would have been able to see it clearly and would cer­
tainly have been able to hear it. 

Project Blue Book records list both sightings in a sin­
gle file and both as "insufficient data for a scientific eval­
uation." Given that there were but single observers in 
both cases, and no obvious explanations appeared, the Air 
Force conclusion has merit. 

On July 23, an object was sighted over Misawa Air 
Force Base in Japan. Captain Norman C. Lamb, in an Air 
Intelligence Information Report, wrote: 

I was scrambled ... at approximately 2015 [8:15 
P.M.] hours .... [W]hile flying at 18,000 feet on a 
heading of 015 degrees [or almost due north], I wit-
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nessed a strange phenomena. Approximately five 
minutes (5) later ... I saw a greenish blue light ap­
proaching my aircraft from my 5 o'clock position 
[the right rear], 15 degrees high. My first thought was 
that it was the navigation light from another aircraft. 
As it leveled off in formation with me just back of 
my right tip tank [an external fuel tank] I realized 
that I should be seeing a red navigation light if it was 
another aircraft. As I started a tum into the light it 
stopped its forward motion, and made an erratic ma­
neuver downward out of sight. 

This light had no strange glow nor tail behind it It 
closed on me rapidly, and I was indicating about 285 
knots. It appeared to be a navigation light on another 
aircraft flying 500 feet from my aircraft. No other air­
craft were reported in my immediate vicinity. Visual 
contact was not made after its erratic maneuver. I am 
sure it was not a reflection from/or in my aircraft .... 
The entire incident lasted not more than 15 second[s]. 

Brigadier General Charles Y. Banfill, the deputy for in­
telligence for the United States Air Force in Japan, ap­
pended a personal statement. He wrote: 

The "strange phenomena" referred to in the statement 
by Captain Lamb was a very bright light which ap­
peared to be located along the coast of Hokkaido ... 
This light appeared much brighter than the normal dull 
yellow lights displayed on the fishing boats in the area, 
and was seen by both the pilot and the radar operator. 

In what might be considered the more important part 
of the statement, Banfill wrote: 

The radar operator was directing his attention to the 
scope at the time of the encounter. The object dove 
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out of sight just as he looked out. The pilot rolled 
hard toward the object and tried to follow it down, 
but reported that it disappeared very rapidly. A search 
of the area showed nothing unusual after the brief ob­
servation. 

It was also on July 23 that F-94s from Dover Air Force 
Base in Delaware made fourteen different visual observa­
tions over a two hour period from early in the morning to 
about ten forty-five A.M. Only one of the sightings was 
corroborated by radar. The objects were at a very high al­
titude. The colors were described in one sighting as 
bluish-white, in another as orange, and in a third as just 
"very high, bright lights." According to some of the re­
ports, the objects emitted a whistling noise. It should also 
be noted that flight crews from the same base were in­
volved, and later would again be involved, in the sight­
ings around Washington, D.C. UFOs were not unknown 
to them. 

That same day, the radar at Jamestown, Rhode Island, 
detected one unidentified object about 25 miles south of 
the station and moving north at high speed and high alti­
tude. Another radar made contact and vectored an air­
borne F-94 toward it, but the intercept attempt failed. Two 
additional jet aircraft, these from Westover Air Force Base, 
Massachusetts, were scrambled but did not intercept. 

Interestingly, in the Project Blue Book index, these 
sightings are mentioned, but there is no conclusion listed 
for them. The project card is listed as missing from the 
files and that might explain why there is no final conclu­
sion assigned to the reports. At any rate, there is not much 
information available for any of these cases. 

All this suggests that there were many UFO sightings, 
many involving aircraft and radar, in other areas of the 
world. Some of them were strange, but basically, lights in 
the sky are lights in the sky. To add radar to the mix cer-
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tainly eliminates a wide range of natural phenomena, but 
that doesn't lead to a specific conclusion and certainly 
doesn't suggest that the UFOs are anything extraterrestrial. 

There were, however, many sightings in and around 
the Washington, D.C., area at the same time. Again, given 
the nature and perceived importance of the sightings 
made at Washington National Airport, as well as the at­
tention given to them, many of these other sightings have 
been overlooked. They didn't have the same number of 
observers or the heavy involvement of radar facilities at 
so many other locations. 

Typical of these sightings is one made on July 21 from 
Baltimore, Maryland, just after one o'clock P.M. Jacques 
Ayd and John Neuman saw what they described as a large 
cone-shaped object with a brilliant orange glow which 
was so bright it hurt their eyes to look at it. To them, it ap­
peared to be about the size of a four-engine aircraft. 

They thought the object might have been at about 
20,000 feet in altitude when they first saw it. It dove sud­
denly, moving so fast they had a hard time following the 
motion. They had it in sight for about a minute, which 
provided them with enough time to get a very good look 
at it and rule out a number of mundane possibilities. 

In the Wilmington, Delaware, area, on July 24, three 
UFOs flying in a formation described as "I directly above 
the other," were seen. The description of the objects were 
that the 

Top object was circular or cylindrical in shape with 
the two objects below being reported by the four ob­
servers as cylindrical, rectangular, very flat, rectangu­
lar and very flat and long. All three objects appeared 
approximately the same size, with a rough estimate 
being 80 feet in diameter. [The] objects were shiny 
and reflected light. They appeared to remain in the 
same area and there was no indication of contrails, 
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exhaust, propulsion methods, sound, maneuvers with 
the exception of 1 observer reported that the middle 
object appeared to move out and slightly away from 
the other two, remaining there for approximately 45 
seconds and then returning to the original position. 

What is interesting about the case is that the observers, 
whose names were so carefully avoided by the officer writ­
ing his report, were Air Force pilots, flying in two F-94B 
jet aircraft that were based at Newcastle. This is the same 
location from which aircraft had been scrambled during 
the Washington National sightings just a few days earlier. 
The UFOs, according to the file, were as much as 30,000 
feet above the jets, and neither of the pilots could get the 
nose elevated high enough to expose any gun camera film. 

According to the Air Force file, other aircraft were in 
the area, but none of those pilots saw anything. The 
weather, again according to the Air Force, was clear with 
the exception of a squall line-that is, a line of thunder­
storms-in the distance, which, according to the pilots, 
had no effect on their observations. 

The Blue Book files have several special folders hold­
ing the reports that can be grouped together. One of those 
lists dozens of reports in the Washington, D.C., area. 
Many of them have no conclusions attached, meaning 
there is a blank space for that conclusion in the index. 
Many of the other cases are labeled as "insufficient data 
for scientific analysis." Few are identified and many of 
those identifications are weak, suggesting a possible bal­
loon or a possible aircraft. That sort of answer comes out 
of the witness statements, meaning that someone had de­
scribed the UFO as resembling an aircraft or that the wit­
ness had suggested a shiny spherical object. It also meant 
that the Air Force could find no record of an aircraft or 
balloon in the right place at the right time to account for 
the sighting. 
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As the interim week came to a close, UFOs were still 
much on the minds of the people and the military. Rup­
pelt wrote that on the same night as the second round of 
the Washington Nationals began, Blue Book received a 

really good report from California. An ADC [Air De­
fense Command] radar had picked up an unidentified 
target and an F-94C had been scrambled. The radar 
vectored the jet interceptor into the target, the radar 
operator in the '94 locked on to it, and as the airplane 
closed in the pilot and RO [radar operator] saw that 
they were headed directly toward a large, yellowish­
orange light. For several minutes they played tag 
with the UFO. Both the radar on the ground and the 
radar in the F-94 showed that as soon as the airplane 
would get almost within gunnery range of the UFO it 
would suddenly pull away at a terrific speed. Then in 
a minute or two it would slow down enough to let the 
F-94 catch it again. 

Ruppelt did interview the pilot himself over the tele­
phone. The pilot told Ruppelt that he felt as if they were 
involved in a big aerial game of cat and mouse with the 
strange object. The pilot said that he hadn't liked it and 
was afraid that at any moment, the cat would pounce, 
possibly destroying his aircraft in the process. 

Ruppelt noted in his book, "Needless to say, this was 
an unknown." 

As the California fighter pilot was chasing his single 
UFO, the formations of strange lights had returned to 
Washington National. Focus changed as Air Force per­
sonnel, including a Naval radar expert assigned to assist 
them, watched the UFOs dance through the skies over the 
nation's capital from inside the radar room at Washington 
National. Before long, everyone, including President Tru­
man, was demanding answers. 



------------111----------

CHAPTER SIX 

July 26-27, 1952 

The first round of the second wave of sightings over 
Washington, D.C., didn't begin at night, nor were they 
first seen by the radar operators at National Airport. At 
about two thirty P.M. two radar operators at Langley AFB, 
fairly near Washington, D.C., watched an object on their 
radar scope for about two minutes. They estimated that it 
approached Langley from the south at a speed of 2,600 
miles an hour at an altitude just under 5,000 feet, and dis­
appeared from the radar scopes when it was only eight 
miles away. 

Twenty minutes later, at about ten minutes of three, 
those same radar operators watched another target for 
about four minutes as it headed toward the east. It sud­
denly stopped, hovered for two minutes, and then contin­
ued to the east, finally disappearing from the scope about 
fifteen miles away. The operators believed that the object 
had simply dropped below 5,000 feet, which was the 
lower limit of the radar. 
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They had tried to spot the object using binoculars but 
had been unable to find it. They also noted that the return 
on the scope was larger than that of an aircraft and that it 
had a fuzzy appearance, suggesting to some that the blip 
was the result of the weather rather than a solid object fly­
ing over the area. 

At about eight fifteen P.M., a pilot and stewardess on a 
National Airlines flight saw several glowing objects 
through the cockpit windows. They described them like 
the "glow of a cigarette." Both said the objects were high 
above them and were moving about a hundred miles an 
hour. 

About ten thirty P.M. (though some sources suggest the 
first sighting occurred as early as eight o'clock P.M.), the 
same radar operators who had been on duty at Washing­
ton National the week before again spotted several slow 
moving targets on their radar scopes. The objects were 
spread out over Washington in a large arc around the city. 
This time the controllers carefully marked each of the 
unidentifieds. When they were all marked, they called the 
tower and learned the unidentified targets were on those 
scopes too. As had happened the week before, a call to 
Andrews confirmed that they, too, were watching the un­
knowns. 

During this time, the ARTC requested that a B-25 in 
the area check on several radar targets. The crew saw 
nothing even after repeated attempts, and precise direc­
tions from the radar center. In what might be an important 
clue, one of the pilots said that 

each time the tower man advised us we were passing 
the UFO, we noticed that we were over one certain 
section of the Potomac River, just east of Alexandria. 
Finally we were asked to visually check the terrain 
below for anything which might cause such an illu­
sion. We looked and the only object we could see 
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where the radar had a target turned out to be the Wil­
son Lines steamboat trip to Mount Vernon. 

The pilot was convinced that the radar was "sure as 
hell picking up the steamboat." It was a slow-moving ob­
ject that could account for the sighting. 

At some point, the senior controller, Harry Barnes, 
alerted the military that the unidentified targets were 
back. Given the circumstances the Saturday before, and 
given the number of sightings reported in the area during 
the last week, a number of military people were on alert. 
1be first to respond was AI Chop, the civilian Pentagon 
spokesman about UFOs. Later in the evening, Major 
Dewey Fournet, and a Naval officer, Lieutenant John 
Holcomb, made their way to National Airport. Holcomb 
was an electronics specialist temporarily assigned to the 
Air Force Directorate of Intelligence. 

An hour later, with targets being tracked continually, 
the controllers called for jet interceptors. AI Chop said 
that he was in communication with the main basement 
command post at the Pentagon at that time. He requested 
that interceptors be sent. As a civilian, he could only 
make the request and then wait for the flag officer (gen­
eral or admiral) in command at the Pentagon to make the 
official decision. Chop, however, did have a connection to 
the Pentagon so that those in the command post listened 
to what he had to say. 

As had happened the week before, there was a delay, 
but by midnight, two F-94s were on station over Wash­
ington. At that point, the reporters who had assembled to 
observe the situation were asked by Chop to leave the 
radar room at National Airport because classified radio 
and intercept procedures would be in operation. Chop felt 
that the reporters could do their jobs without being privy 
to the classified operational procedures that would be 
used that night. 



July 26-27,1952 71 

Although the fact that the reporters had been chased 
from the radar room was well reported, in his book, Ed 
Ruppelt later wrote: 

I knew this was absurd because any radio ham worth 
his salt could build equipment and listen in on any in­
tercept. The real reason for the press dismissal, I 
learned, was that not a few people in the radar room 
were positive that this night would be the big night in 
UFO history-the night when a pilot would close in 
on and get a good look at a UFO-and they didn't 
want the press to be in on it. 

Chop, however, suggested that 

because an intercept is run under classified [regula­
tions], it was not privy to the reporters so I made 
them leave ... We would allow them to come in 
there and look at the radar scopes until we ran into an 
intercept. At that time they had to leave the room. 

The situation then, wasn't quite as simple as Ruppelt 
made it out to be. Chop wasn't worried about the re­
porters overhearing the supposedly classified intercept 
conversations, but watching the intercepts as they played 
out on the radar scopes. Whatever the reason, whether 
good or not, the reporters were not there to watch the in­
tercepts. 

Chop described the first of these intercepts. The fight­
ers, according to him, came from New Castle, Delaware. 

The first two that came in, when they came in, we 
had about, I'd say, fourteen or fifteen UFOs, targets 
that we could not identify on the radar scopes. We 
had them marked. Well, we didn't mark the un­
knowns. They marked the known flights. Everything 
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else on the scope was a UFO, of course .... Now 
[Andrews] were tracking the objects or what ap­
peared to be the same objects. We couldn't conclu­
sively say they were exactly the same but the 
conversations between the flight controllers at Wash­
ington National and at [Andrews], they would say, 
"Do you have these four up at the southeast section 
of your scopes," and [Andrews] would say, "We have 
those." 

Chop continued, saying: 

We had one pilot going north and one going south. 
And the pilot in the northern sector ... he could see 
nothing although we did have UFOs, blips, there. 
The one in the south ... the flight controllers kind of 
directed him to them, we had a little cluster of them, 
five or six of them and he suddenly reports that he 
sees some lights ... He said they are very brilliant 
blue-white lights. And he was going to close on them 
to get a better look at them, which he did. 

Eventually all the Pentagon representatives were as­
sembled at National Airport. Holcomb was considered 
the resident expert on radar operations and was familiar 
with the equipment, as well as the types of returns that 
could be expected under the weather conditions that were 
being experienced in the Washington, D.C., area. His 
opinion about the quality of the targets and the possibility 
of some sort of weather-related phenomenon would be 
the important one. 

In fact, Holcomb was getting the current meteorologi­
cal data from the Washington National Weather Station as 
the UFOs were dancing across the scopes. The weather 
station personnel indicated that there was a slight temper­
ature inversion over Washington, but Holcomb didn't be-
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lieve it was strong enough to cause the problems, and the 
targets, that they were experiencing. Holcomb later said it 
did not explain all the good solid returns. 

Holcomb or Fournet telephoned the analysis to New­
castle AFB in Delaware, where the fighters were based. 
Again the F-94s were scrambled, and on arrival, were 
vectored toward the various targets, which were now 
weaker. The pilots didn't see anything except for an ob­
ject identified as an aircraft and a hovering white light 
that disappeared when approached. 

With those men watching, as well as the controllers at 
various facilities using various radars, the F-94s arrived. 
The UFOs vanished from the scopes immediately. The 
jets were vectored to the last known position of the 
UFOs, but even though visibility was unrestricted in 
the area, the pilots could see nothing. The fighters made a 
systematic search of the area, but since they could find 
nothing out of the ordinary, and because the targets on the 
radars had all disappeared and fuel was running out, the 
fighters returned to their base. Their time over the target, 
given the fact they had to travel from Dover, Delaware, 
and return to that base, was limited. 

Chop, describing the situation years later, said, "The 
minute the first two interceptors appeared on our scope 
all our unknowns disappeared. It was like they just wiped 
them all off. All our other flights, all the known flights 
were still on the scope ... We watched these two planes 
leave. When they were out of our range, immediately we 
got our UFOs back." 

Later, Air Force officers would learn that as the fight­
ers appeared over Washington, people in the area of Lan­
gley Air Force Base, Virginia, spotted weird lights in the 
sky. Ruppelt reported his book: 

... people in the area around Langley AFB ... be­
gan to call Langley Tower to report that they were 



74 INVASION WASHINGTON 

looking at weird lights that were "rotating and giving 
off alternating colors." A few minutes after the calls 
began to come in, the tower operators themselves 
saw the same or a similar light and they called for an 
interceptor. 

An F-94 in the area on a routine mission was diverted 
to search for the light. The pilot saw it and turned toward 
it, but it disappeared "like somebody turning off a light 
bulb." The pilot continued the intercept and did get a 
radar lock on the now unlighted and visually invisible tar­
get. The radar lock was broken by the object as it sped 
away. The fighter continued the pursuit, obtaining two 
more radar locks on the object, but each time the locks 
were broken. 

In the Newport News, Yrrginia, area, not that far from 
Langley AFB, people also saw lights in the sky. William 
W. Parkinson, Jr. was standing on the roof of the Daily 
Press building when he saw a bright, rotating object that 
flashed silver, red and green lights. According to Parkin­
son, it hovered over the James River Bridge for nearly 
thirty minutes and then drifted over a ball park to the east. 
Gradually it rose to about 5,000 feet and was in sight for 
two hours and fifteen minutes. Almost two dozen people 
called the newspaper to report seeing the UFO. 

At one forty-five A.M., the Langley Tower operators 
sighted a bluish object that they said resembled a lighted 
cotton ball. They thought it was about ten miles from the 
tower and to the west. It climbed straight up to about 
5,000 feet and disappeared. They only saw it for five or 
six seconds. 

The scene then shifted back to Washington National. 
Again the Air Defense Command was alerted and again 
jet fighters were scrambled. This time the pilots were able 
to see the objects, vectored toward them by the air traffic 
controllers. But the fighters couldn't close on the lights. 
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The pilots saw no external details behind the glow, and 
saw nothing strange, other than lights where the radar 
suggested that something strange should be seen. 

Mter several minutes of failure to close on a target, 
one of the unknowns was spotted loping along alone. A 
fighter piloted by Lieutenant William Patterson turned, 
kicked in the afterburner, and tried to catch the object. It 
disappeared before Patterson could see much of anything. 

Interviewed the next day, Patterson said: 

I tried to make contact with the bogies below one 
thousand feet, but they [the controllers] vectored us 
around. I saw several bright lights. I was at my maxi­
mum speed, but even then I had no closing speed. I 
ceased chasing them because I saw no chance of 
overtaking them. I was vectored into new objects. 
Later I chased a single bright light which I estimated 
about ten miles away. I lost visual contact with it ... 

Chop said that he, along with the others in the radar 
room, watched the intercept on the radar scope. What the 
pilot was telling them about the ongoing intercept, they 
all could see on the radar. 

Patterson finally had to break off the intercept, though 
there were still lights in the sky and objects on the scope. 
According to Chop, the pilot radioed that he was running 
low on fuel. He turned so that he could head back to his 
base to refuel. 

Chop said that the last of the objects disappeared from 
the scope about the time the sun came up. He said, 'They 
stayed [under] observation on our radar scope until dawn, 
about five or six o'clock [that morning]. When it got 
light, they just gradually disappeared." 

Ruppelt later quizzed Fournet about the activities that 
night. According to Ruppelt, Fournet and Holcomb, the 
radar experts, were convinced the targets were solid, 
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metallic objects. Fournet told Ruppelt that there were 
weather-related targets on the scopes, but all the con­
trollers were ignoring them. Those watching the scopes, 
as well as Holcomb, could tell the difference between the 
weather-related targets caused by the inversion layers and 
those they believed to be solid. Everyone was convinced 
that the targets were real. 

The situation was a repeat of the week before. Head­
lines around the world on 'fuesday, July 29, told the 
whole story. In a banner headline that could have come 
from a science fiction movie, The Cedar Rapids Gazette 
reported. SAUCERS SWARM OVER CAPITAL. 

The problem., however, is that no one was sure what 
had happened during the night. Both Fournet and Chop, 
interviewed years later, said that the returns were solid, 
not weather related, and that the objects seemed to react 
to the appearance of the jet interceptors. Like the radar 
operators, and the Navy expert, Holcomb, both thought 
they were looking at real objects and not echoes or re­
fracted returns. 

When the night ended, that chapter also ended. UFOs 
were still reported from all over the United States. More 
photographs were taken, but the arguments about what 
had happened in Washington were just beginning. 



----------~lIr-----------

CHAPTER SEVEN 

The Air Force 
Press Conference 

After the second round of Saturday-night radar and vi­
sual sightings, and after a number of failed intercept at­
tempts, the Air Force found it necessary to call a press 
conference to explain the situation. Ed Ruppelt called the 
conference the largest and longest that had been held by 
the Air Force since the conclusion of World War ll. Rup­
pelt also suggested that the cards had been stacked 
against Major General John A. Samford, the director of 
Intelligence, who was the senior officer at the conference. 
Because Samford had to "hedge" on many of the answers 
to questions because the investigations had not been con­
cluded, it seemed to many of the assembled reporters that 
the Air Force was attempting to hide the truth. 

The press conference was held at the Pentagon in 
room 3E-869. Also attending for the Air Force was Major 
General Roger M. Ramey, then the director of operations 
for the Air Force and the same Roger Ramey who had 
been at 8th Air Force Headquarters in Fort Worth during 
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the Roswell UFO crash briefings in July 1947. 
Others from the Air Force included Colonel Donald L. 

Bower, of ATIC; Captain Roy L. James, an expert in radar 
operations and also from ATIC; Ed Ruppelt, the chief of 
Project Blue Book; and Mr. Buroyne L. Griffing, from 
ATIC. 

Conspicuous by their absence were Major Dewey 
Fournet, the military liaison officer between the Pentagon 
and Project Blue Book; AI Chop, the official Pentagon 
spokesman on UFOs; and Lieutenant John Holcomb, the 
Naval officer who was an expert on radar and electronics. 
Since all three had been at Washington National during 
the second set of sightings, their inclusion would seem to 
have been a natural. Apparently the Air Force had other 
ideas, because none were there to answer questions even 
though all were assigned to the Pentagon in Washington. 

The press conference began with an introduction by a 
civilian Pentagon press relations official who said: 

Ladies and gentlemen, let me remind the military 
that, while they are welcome here, this is a press con­
ference and let's be sure that the press is all seated 
before the conference begins. 

This refers to the fact that many military officers who 
had no role in the press conference were in the room to 
listen to it. They were being told to sit down and shut up. 

Let me introduce General Samford, Air Force Direc­
tor of Intelligence, and General Ramey, Director of 
Operations. General Samford. 

Major General Samford: I think the plan is to have 
very brief opening remarks and then ask for such 
questions as you may want to put to us for discussion 
and answer. In so far as opening remarks is [sic] con-
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cerned, I just want to state our reason for concern 
about this. 

The Air Force feels a very definite obligation to 
identify and analyze things that happen in the air that 
may have in them menace to the United States and, 
because of that feeling of obligation and our pursuit 
of that interest, since 1947, we have an activity that 
was known one time as Project Saucer and now, as 
part of another more stable and integrated organiza­
tion, have undertaken to analyze between a thousand 
and two thousand reports dealing with this area. And 
out of that mass of reports that we've received we've 
been able to take things which were originally 
unidentified and dispose of them to our satisfaction 
in terms of bulk where we came to the conclusion 
that these things were either friendly aircraft erro­
neously recognized or reported, hoaxes, quite a few 
of those, electronic and meteorological phenomena 
of one sort of another, light aberrations, and many 
other things. 

It is important to note that there never was a Project 
Saucer in a real sense. When the Air Force created its first 
investigation, code-named Sign, it publicly called the 
project by the name of Saucer. Later, after the code name 
Sign was compromised, the Air Force announced that it 
had ended its investigation, but, in reality, continued it as 
Project Grudge. Eventually Grudge evolved into Project 
Blue Book, but when speaking with civilian officials and 
members of the press, the unofficial name of Project 
Saucer was often used. 

Samford: However, there have remained a percent­
age of this total [of sighting reports], in the order of 
twenty per cent [sic] of the reports, that have come 
from credible observers of relatively incredible 
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things. And because of these things not being possi­
ble for us to move along and associate with the kind 
of things that we've found can be associated with the 
bulk of these reports, we keep on being concerned 
about them. 

However, I'd like to say that the difficulty with 
disposing of these reports is largely based upon the 
lack of any standard measurement or any ability to 
measure these things which have been reported 
briefly by some, more elaborately by others, but with 
no measuring devices that can convert the manage­
able material for any kind of analysis that we know. 
We take some of these things and we try to bring to 
the good honest workmen of science a piece of mate­
rial that has no utility because it doesn't have the 
kind of measurements on it that he can use. And, as a 
consequence, he has to reject these things and say, 
"Until you can bring me something more substantial 
than that, I can't make any progress." 

So our need really is to get the measurement value 
on these and, in the interim, lacking sufficient meas­
ure of these things to make them amenable to real 
analysis, we have to say that our real interest in this 
project is not one of intellectual curiosity but is in 
trying to establish and appraise the possibility of 
menace to the United States. And we can say, as of 
now, that there has been no pattern that reveals any­
thing remotely like purpose or remotely like consis­
tency that we can in any way associate with any 
menace to the United States. 

To this point, Samford has said little of real value. He 
had admitted there was a problem and that they had stud­
ied it, but that they had found nothing for science to in­
vestigate. An examination of UFOs prior to this point 
reveals that such is not the case. There had been a number 
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of photographic cases, including movie footage, which 
could be measured. There had been a number of radar 
cases, including the Washington Nationals which 
spawned the press conference, in which measurements 
could be made and examined by science. Samford was 
being less than candid, assuming that he knew what was 
in the Project Blue Book files, and as the director of Intel­
ligence, he should have known. 

This statement also provides a clue as to the nature of 
the official investigation in the summer of 1952. The Air 
Force had attempted to learn if flying saucers posed a 
threat to the security of the United States, and had con­
vinced itself that they did not. Satisfied that invasion 
fteets were not about to land, the Air Force attitude was 
that flying saucers did not warrant any sort of investiga­
tion by them. Air Force officers had fulfilled their mission 
when they determined there was no threat to national se­
curity. Besides, there was nothing they could do about 
them anyway. 

Samford: Now, we do want to continue in the inter­
ests of intellectual curiosity or the contributions to be 
made to scientific measurements, but our main inter­
est is going to have to continue in the problem of see­
ing whether the things have [the] possibility of harm 
to the United States, and our present dilemma of lack 
of measurement that can be turned to analysis and a 
complete lack of pattern in any of these things which 
gives us any clue to possible purpose or possible use, 
leaves us in some dilemma as to what we can do 
about this remaining twenty per cent of unidentified 
phenomena. 

The volume of reporting is related to many things. 
We know that reports of this kind go back to Biblical 
times. There have been flurries of them in various 
centuries. 1846 seems to have had a time when there 
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was quite a flurry of reporting of this kind. Our cur­
rent series of reports goes back, generally, to 1946 in 
which things of this kind were reported in Sweden. 

There are many reasons why this volume goes up 
and down, but we can't help but believe that, cur­
rently, one of the reasons for volume is that man is 
doing a great deal more. There's more man-made ac­
tivity in the air now than there was, certainly, in Bib­
lical times or in 1846. In addition to that, our 
opportunities to observe have been enhanced greatly. 

The difficult part of it. as far as advancing the pro­
gram is concerned, is that our ability to measure 
doesn't seem to have advanced in any way as well as 
our opportunity to observe and greater recurrence of 
more disturbing things of this sort that are actually in 
existence from man-made air participation that we 
know about. 

So our present course of action is to continue on 
this problem with the best of our ability, giving to it 
the attention that we feel it very definitely warrants in 
terms of identifying adequately the growing or possi­
ble or disappearing, if it turns out to be that, menace 
to the United States to give it adequate attention. 

While General Samford is giving lip service to the idea 
that Air Force officers treat the subject seriously, the truth 
is that they didn't. In less than a year, the staff of Blue 
Book, as it had existed in July, had been reduced to the 
point where it could do nothing. At its lowest, it was 
"commanded" by an airman first class, one of the lowest 
ranking of the enlisted grades. No officer was assigned. 

Ruppelt himself wrote that in December 1952 he 
asked for a transfer. He agreed to stay with Blue Book un­
til February 1953 so that a replacement could be assigned 
and trained, but no replacement arrived. Ruppelt left Blue 
Book in the hands of a single officer and one enlisted 
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man. By July 1953, the enlisted man was the sole soldier 
manning the office. When Ruppelt returned to Wright­
Patterson Air Force Base he learned that the investigation 
had collapsed. 

GENERAL SAMFORD: Now, I think with those opening re­
marks I could invite questions. Questions, yes, sir? 

REPORTER: Have there been more than one radar sight­
ing simultaneously-that is, blips from several sta­
tions all concentrating on the same area? 

SAMFORD: You mean in the past? 
IlEPORTER: Yes, sir. 
SAMFORD: Yes. That is not an unusual thing to happen to 

this sequence at all. Phenomenon have passed from 
one radar to another and with a fair degree of certainty 
that it was the same phenomenon. To say that there 
have been simultaneous sightings, the same thing by 
different radar, I think that we could be quite sure that 
that has occurred simultaneously. Now, when we talk 
about down to the split second, I don't know, but si­
multaneously in time sufficient for us to argue that 
they've been two mechanical observations of the same 
thing. 

REPORTER: Enough to give you a fix so that you can be 
sure that it is right in a certain place? 

SAMFORD: That is most rare. 
REPORTER: Has there been any? 
SAMFORD: Most rare. I don't recall that we have had one 

that gives us that kind of an effect. 
REPORTER: Could that be due to ionized clouds? 
SAMFORD: There are thoughts that ionized clouds do 

have some influence on this. We do know that the 
thunderstorm activity is quite nicely identifiable by 
radar because we use the radar for the purposes of 
avoiding thunderstorms and we do have some that 
show the storm area that's coming in towards principal 
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stations where protection is necessary in terms of high 
winds and thunderstorms. 

Samford is avoiding the question here. The Washing­
ton Nationals were just the sort of sightings that the re­
porter had been trying to identify. The sightings involved 
multiple targets on multiple sets in which those who at­
tempted visual confirmation found lights where the 
radars showed them to be. This question was the whole 
point of the press conference, but Samford just didn't an­
swer it. 

D.1'OIItI'D! How much money would you say the Air 
Force spends a year tracking down these flying saucer 
reports? 

Given the circumstances of the press conference, and 
what had just been reported in the newspapers, the ques­
tion is somewhat irrelevant. If the phenomenon is real, 
then regulations required investigation. If it posed a threat 
to national security, again, regulations required it. The in­
vestigation was something that was required to learn the 
truth, so the amount of money spent meant virtually noth­
ing. 

SAMFORD: Well, the energy that's going into it at the 
present time is outside of anything except the normal 
reporting procedures. Most of our reports come from 
individuals or, we might say, I think, on the order of 
sixty-odd per cent comes from the civilian population 
straight out. I think there might be something like 
eight per cent come from civil airlines pilots. You 
might find that another percentage, in the order of 
twenty-five, might come from military pilots. And the 
effort to further analyze them and profit in going after 
that in a big way is going to have in some way to be re-
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lated to a standard measurement that makes this mate­
rial for workman to work on. 

I suppose that it not necessary to point out that Sam­
ford did not answer the question. Instead he suggested the 
percentages of those who report flying saucer sightings to 
the Air Force. He offered no evidence that his statistics 
were accurate, and in reality, it makes no difference be­
cause they tell nothing about the nature of UFOs. 

REPORTER: General, have you talked to your Air Force 
Intelligence Officer who is over at the National Airport 
when they were sighting all these bandits on the eAA 
screen? 

SAMFORD: Yes, sir; I have. 
REPORTER: And have you talked to the Andrews Field 

people who apparently saw the same thing? 
SAMFORD: I haven't talked to them myself, but others have. 
REPORTER: Well, could you give us an account of what 

they did see and what explanations you might attach to 
it? 

SAMFORD: Well, I could discuss possibilities. The radar 
screen has been picking up things for many years that, 
well, birds, a flock of ducks. I know there's been one 
instance in which a flock of ducks was picked up and 
was intercepted and flown through as being an uniden­
tified phenomenon. 

REPORTER: Where was that, General? 
SAMFORD: I don't recall where it was. I think it might 

have been in Japan but I don't recall the location of 
that. That's just a recollection of what that sort of thing 
could happen and I do know that at Wright Field there 
was one of these things on radar-that was in 1950, I 
think-maybe Captain James would reinforce that. 
Was that in 1950? 

CAYfAIN JAMES: That's correct. 
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SAMFORD: -in which the local radar produced the effect 
of the encircling phenomenon that caused quite a lot of 
concern and it was gone out and intercepted and found 
to be a certain kind of ice formation that was in the air 
in various parts of the atmosphere around Wright Field 
on that day. 

Samford is on fairly safe ground here. There are any 
number of reports in which the capabilities of the radars 
were not fully understood. During World War II. radars in 
Great Britain produced a strange phenomenon every 
moming as a blip came off the ground and then seemed to 
expand until it disappeared. They found that birds. taking 
off in the morning were the cause. 

SAMFORD: Again, there are theories like the men whose 
theory of light refraction which says that temperature 
inversion in the atmosphere can cause an image from 
somewhere else to be reflected in positions where it is 
not. H that is a correct theory, related to it is another odd­
ity with respect to the ground effect that you get in radar. 

We have one instance in which a night fighter with 
radar is reported to have locked on, as they say, to an 
object in flight, which, after he'd followed it beyond 
this curve, found that he was locked on to the ground 
and he had only a very few minutes to recover because 
the ground target had gone up and then misplaced this 
phenomena, and he locked on to it in a position where 
he wasn't, but, following it, he eventually found him­
self directed toward the ground. 

Now, the conditions that seem to produce these 
temperature inversions and possibly the same kind of 
thing for ground targets being misplaced in altitude-I 
don't know that it is worded that they're misplaced in 
azimuth-is somewhat typical of the kind of hot hu­
mid weather that we've been having here in the last 
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three or four weeks. There's no reason to relate those 
phenomena to those atmospheric conditions positively, 
but it is a possibility. 

Please note here something that the reporters failed to 
understand. Samford suggested a possible explanation but 
also said that there was no reason to believe that the sight­
ings were related to the weather conditions. The reporters 
apparently didn't hear this part of Samford's statement. 

SAMFORD: Yes, sir? 
UPORTER: Did interceptors go up on any of the three 

occasions? 
SAMFORD: Here? 
REPORTER: Yes. 
SAMFORD: Yes, sir. 
REPORTER: What did they see on their radar scopes? 
SAMFORD: I don't recall that they saw anything. Do you 

remember, Roger, whether anything was sighted on 
their radar scopes? 

MAJOR GENERAL ROGER M. RAMEY: There have been no 
radar sightings. One or two reported (inaudible}­

REPORTER: There have been no airborne radar sightings, 
General Ramey? Is that-

RAMEY: That's correct. 

Actually, as we have seen, there were airborne radar 
locks. This is based on the testimony of Norman Sykes, 
one of the interceptor pilots who was involved in some of 
the attempted intercepts on July 26. He had no visual 
sighting, but his radar operator did, in fact, detect some of 
the UFOs that night. 

REPORTER: On what did they report sightings? 
SAMFORD: Lights. 
RAMEY: In one or two instances, they reported sighting 
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lights. In one instance, they reported locking on an ob­
ject. It is pretty clear from the discussion of the pattern 
of two airplanes that went out that one of them was 
locked on the other one. 

SAMFORD: Yes. 
REPORTER: General­
SAMFORD: Yes, sir? 
REPORTER: Back to the ionized cloud. Were the blips 

picked up recently comparable to the ionized cloud or 
were they different in maneuvering or motion? 

SAMFORD: They were different. 
REPORTER: General Samford, I understand there were 

radar experts who saw these sightings Saturday night 
or early Sunday morning. What was their interpreta­
tion of what they saw on the scope? 

SAMFORD: They said they saw good returns. 
REPORTER: Which would indicate that these were solid 

objects similar to aircraft? 
SAMFORD: No, not necessarily. We get good returns from 

birds. 
REPORTER: Well, you wouldn't get as large a blip from a 

bird as-
SAMFORD: No, unless it was close. 

A point must be interjected here. The radar operators 
were all trained men who had been working at the nation's 
capital airport. They would have, in the past, seen birds 
and temperature inversions on their radar scopes. They 
would be familiar with these sort of natural phenomena and 
wouldn't be easily fooled by them, especially considering 
that they had years of experience. This wasn't the situation 
ten years earlier when radar operators were poorly trained 
and the operations of radar were poorly understood. 

REPORTER: Did they report that these could have been birds? 
SAMFORD: No. 
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REPORTER: Can you get a good return from a reflected 
ground target, General? 

JAMES: You can get a very large return from a reflected 
ground target. 

REPORTER: Just as good as you might get from an object 
actually in flight in the air? 

JAMES: Actually thicker. It depends on the amount of 
bending. 

REPORTER: And just as sharp on the scope? 
JAMES: Yes. 
REPORTER: Can you get a blip from the [inaudible] cre­

ated by temperature inversion? 
JAMES: On the ground target, yes. 
REPORTER: In other words, something that's on the 

ground that's reflected off a refracted cloud bank 
would throw off a blip on the radar screen? 

JAMES: Yes, sir. That's true. 
REPORTER: Would a nearby radar set get that blip at ex­

actly the same speed? 
JAMES: Not necessarily; no. 
REPORTER: In other words, you can have a light and 

something that lacks substance and material and still 
have a blip? 

JAMES: I don't quite understand the question. 
REPORTER: You can have a radar image that's created 

without the necessity of radar striking the solid object 
or a semi-solid object, such as a cloud. 

JAMES: Well, eventually, it does have to strike an object. 
REPORTER: But you said it can be simply a reflection of 

something on the ground. 
REPORTER: I see. 
REPORTER: In other words, it doesn't have to be in the air. 
JAMES: That's correct. 
REPORTER: In the area covered by the sweep on the radar? 
JAMES: It has to be in the area covered by the radar set. It 

has to be within the range. 
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REPORTER: But not in the air. 
JAMES: But not in the air. 
REPORTER: What sort of ground targets give these reflec­

tions? 
JAMES: It depends on the amount of temperature inver­

sion and the size and shape of the ground objects. 
REPORTER: Would this reflection account for simultane­

ous radar sightings and visual sightings which appear 
to coincide on the basis of conversations between the 
radar operator and the observer outside? 

JAMES: There is some possibility of that due to the same 
effects. 

REPORTER: Why would these temperature inversions 
change location so rapidly or travel? 

JAMES: Well, actually, it can be the appearance or disap­
pearance of different ground targets giving the appear­
ance of something moving when, actually, the different 
objects are standing still. 

REPORTER: Would these pseudo-blips cause any difficul­
ties in combat at all? 

JAMES: Not to people that understand what's going on. 
They do cause some difficulty. 

REPORTER: Then the experienced operators really can 
tell the difference between­

JAMES: That's correct. 
REPORTER: How about the CAA men? 
JAMES: I don't know. 

It is clear from the questions that the reporters under­
stood little about radar operations and temperature inver­
sions. Captain James made it clear with his answers that 
trained, qualified, experienced men could tell the differ­
ence between real targets and those caused by tempera­
ture inversions. 

It is also clear that the reporters had somehow come to 
the conclusion that the temperature inversions were re-
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sponsible for creating the lights reported by both airline 
and military pilots and the men on the ground. The re­
porters had begun to think of a temperature inversion as a 
"cloud." That is, they seemed to think that it was some­
thing that could be seen, not realizing that a temperature 
inversion was merely a cold layer of clear air under a 
warmer layer of clear air. 

REPORTER: Would the disappearance or reappearance of 
these blips be accounted for by the movement of a 
cloud bank that reflected a ground target? 

JAMES: Well, actually, it's not a cloud bank. It's a tem­
perature inversion of the atmosphere. You see, if warm 
air comes in over a cool area, you have a temperature 
inversion and the atmosphere is perfectly clear, and 
still the rays will be bent. 

The reporters have become confused, believing, for 
the moment, that the visual sightings were a result of the 
temperature inversion. They are searching for an explana­
tion for what was seen by the pilots and ground observers, 
but a temperature inversion is, essentially, invisible to the 
human eye. 

REPORTER: Would that account for the fact that these im­
ages disappeared and reappeared on these screens re­
cently? 

JAMES: I'm not positive about that. There's a possibility. 
REPORTER: Captain, was there temperature inversion in 

this area last Saturday night? 
JAMES: There was. 
REPORTER: And the Saturday night preceding? 
JAMES: I'm not sure about the one preceding, but there 

was last Saturday night. 
REPORTER: Was there one last night? 
JAMES: I don't know. 
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REPORTER: Captain, did any two sets in this area get a fix 
on these so-called saucers around here? 

JAMES: The information we have isn't good enough to 
detennine that. 

REPORTER: You don't know whether Andrews Field and 
Washington National Airport actually got a triangula­
tion on anything? 

JAMES: You see, the records made and kept aren't accu­
rate enough to tie that in that close. 

REPORTER: What is the possibility of these being other 
than phenomena? 

SAMFOIlD: Well, I'd like to maybe relieve Captain James 
just a minute. Your question is what? 

REPORTER: What is the possibility of these sightiogs being 
other than optical or atmospheric phenomena? In other 
words, what is the possibility of their being guided mis­
siles launched from some other country, for example? 

SAMFORD: Well, if you could select out of this mass any 
particular one or two and start working on them and say, 
"What is the possibility of them being these things?" 
Then you come to the point and say this one is reported 
to have done things which require for it to do those 
things either one of two conditions, absolute maximum 
power or no mass. If this is a thing in terms of a guided 
missile, it does these things if there is theoretically no 
limit to the power involved and there is theoretically 
no mass involved. That's one of the conditions that 
would say, well, if someone solved one of those prob­
lems, this could then be explained as one of those things. 
You find another one and it has-it just develops into 
no other purpose or no other pattern that could be as­
sociated with them, a missile. Those which we might 
identify as being missiles will be tracked. They'll have a 
track to develop, something that people can put a meas­
urement to. I don't know whether that answers the 
question. It satisfies some of it, but maybe not all of it. 
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The truth is that Samford's response didn't answer the 
question, which was simply if the objects spotted could 
have been missiles launched by another terrestrial gov­
ernment. The answer was a simple no. Instead, Samford 
begins to talk of an object that has access to virtually un­
limited power and that has no mass. He never did explain 
what these two conditions had to do with the question 
that had been asked, but is certainly sounded as if he was 
rendering a scientifically sound answer. 

REPORTER: Have there been any such instances so far in 
which you had information that indicated that either of 
these two conditions were fulfilled? 

SAMFORD: Absolute, no mass? 
REPORTER: No limit to the power. 
SAMFORD: You know what "no mass" means is that 

there's nothing there! [Laughter]. 
REPORTER: How about the power? 
SAMFORD: In terms of earthly weights and earthly value. 
REPORTER: Yes. 
SAMFORD: And unlimited power-that means power of 

such fantastic higher limits that it is a theoretically 
unlimited-it's not anything that we can understand. 
It's like my trying to understand-I want to be careful 
because I was going to say a million dollars, but I can't 
understand a hundred! It's one of those questions of 
unlimited power that just gets beyond your compre­
hension that has to be used to meet this. 

REPORTER: General, do you have any tentative conclu­
sion or even a trend towards a belief of what these lo­
cal radar blips are? There's been talk that you did have 
the heat inversion those nights. Are you all inclined to 
believe that's what it is? 

SAMFORD: I think that we're learning progressively more 
and more about the radar and that these instances very 
likely are maybe good observations that the radar can 
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make of something but not likely to be observations of 
the things the radar was designed to observe [laugh­
ter]. Now, [laughter]-all right. Now, let's say-we 
don't know much about-and I'll be getting far afield 
here technically-we don't know much about the 
northern lights. We'd like to be able to measure that a 
little bit better. That is the kind of thought I was trying 
to express by saying radar was intended to observe air­
craft for control of aircraft and to deal with aircraft. 
Now, you may have scientific advantages for observa­
tion that it wasn't intended for. 

I wonder if you'd speak. to my point on that, Cap­
tain James, whether I've gotten too far afield on some­
thing I don't know anything about. 

JAMES: Yes, sir; that's quite true. We find that sometimes 
the radar set will be formed in a manner not desirable 
and due to the fact that it doesn't happen every day 
everyone isn't familiar with those characteristics and it 
sometimes turns out to be a mystery. 

REPORTER: Well, getting back, if I may follow it up, on 
these local radar observations, then you come to the 
tentative conclusion that they're physical phenomena? 
Would you say that? 

SAMFORD: I think so, yes. 
REPORTER: How is it we haven't had them before? 
REPORTER: Well, that's what I was going to get to. 

What's the history of this thing? Radar operators in the 
past, when you inquire of them, have they seen similar 
lights in the past and because they never bothered to 
associate them with flying saucers they've never got­
ten in the newspapers? 

SAMFORD: Oh, they have associated them in the past with 
things that were thought desirable to intercept. I said a 
minute ago we've intercepted flocks of ducks and sim­
ilar things. There's some history of the lack of identifi­
cation of friendly aircraft which causes a lot of 
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unnecessary interceptions in some parts of the world, 
being mixed up with a lot of this sort of thing too in 
which we've had many interceptions that went out and 
identified a friendly that should have been established 
by some other method, but mixed up with those there 
have been many of these attempts to identify an un­
known that fizzled out in the same way that the current 
ones have fizzled out. 

REPORTER: In other words, it is not a rare phenomenon, 
this thing that happened Saturday night and the Satur­
day before that? 

SAMFORD: It is not a rare phenomenon. 
REPORTER: It's not radar, and it occurs often enough so 

that you do have a history, and radar experts have been 
trying to find out what causes them; is that right? 

SAMFORD: That is correct. Yes, sir. 
REPORTER: General Samford, has the Air Force con­

ducted any independent research through universities 
or through radar people, the Gilfillen people or who­
ever? 

SAMFORD: Yes, sir. We have a number of available con­
sultants, some contracts that have been initiated, some 
of them are being thought of, but, again, I think I'd like 
to go back to the point of profit in this thing perhaps 
being a measurement first, an adequate measurement 
that can do science. Reports of the same kind we've 
been getting except for this additional mechanical as­
set or opportunity called the radar have been going on 
since Bible times. Now, the radar gives an additional 
opportunity to observe something about that, but it still 
doesn't measure it with the kind of precision that is 
needed to put it into analysis. 

REPORTER: Are you getting something to do that? 
SAMFORD: We have some hope with a camera that has on 

the front of it a-will you describe what that­
JAMES: It has a defraction grid. 
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SAMFORD: Yes, a defraction grid on the front of it that 
will be useful against lights because through that de­
fraction you'll be able to say from what substance the 
light was made. What gases were burning? Was it gas? 
Was it incandescence? And so forth. Now, those cam­
eras-the lens is about a fifteen-dollar item, or this 
grid is, and the camera is about a fifteen-dollar item. 
We have on order a small quantity, two hundred plus 
of those. We hope to be able to distribute those into the 
hands of people who might have opportunity. Now, 
with the great diversity of people who report it's not 
too easy to put your fiDBer on who has the highest 0p­
portunity to report, into whose hands such a device 
should go, but we think we may learn who might be 
the most optimum reporters. A great volume of these 
cameras to scatter around to try through the shotgun 
approach to get reports doesn't look like too valuable a 
project but that is one way of trying to measure what 
there lights are. 

REPORTER: For what purpose-they have had similar 
gadgets before, I mean, to measure and to determine 
the origin of what generates the light. Is this a new type? 

JAMES: The grid is. 
SAMFORD: It's not new except that it hasn't been aimed 

specifically at these items or focused on these items as 
far as we know. 

REPORTER: General, the captain mentioned a moment 
ago or had the thought that when there is temperature 
inversion the men know who are observing radar. Is it 
all right to ask if the Air Force thinks that these objects 
the other night were a result of temperature inversion? 

SAMFORD: Well, I'll answer that first, try to, and then ask 
Captain James for an opinion. I don't think that we are 
quite sure that the [Dr. Donald] Menzel theory of tem­
perature inversion or that scientists are sure that that is 
a good theory. It's supported by some people. Other 
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people who have equal competence, it would appear, 
discredit it. So the game as to whether that is the cause 
or not is about a fifty-fifty proposition. It's appealing. 
It does satisfy certain concerns. Is that a fair statement 
or answer to that question? 

JAMES: Sir, the Menzel theory applies mainly to light rays. 
SAMFORD: Yes. 
JAMES: In regard to the temperature inversion effect on 

radar waves that is fairly well established. 
REPORl'ER: There's no doubt about the latter, is there? 
JAMES: That's right. 
REPOaTER: That's been established. 
IlEPORTER: And it was not-
JAMES: We don't have sufficient information to say defi­

nitely that that was the cause. 
REPORTER: You said an experienced radar operator could 

tell the difference. 
JAMES: I would say so. 
REPORl'ER: Wasn't there a naval battle during the war in 

which there was a great engagement fought against an 
inversion of radar? 

This refers to an incident during the summer of 1943 
in which a Navy task force fired a thousand rounds at ob­
jects that had appeared on radar. Lookouts reported see­
ing flares from the Japanese Navy. Vice Admiral Robert 
C. Giffen had commanded the American forces in what 
he described as a battle of the blips. In other words, Gif­
fen was suggesting that the Navy had fired on targets that 
were a result of temperature inversions and not on some­
thing real-that is, Japanese-that was attempting to in­
vade one of the Aleutian Islands. 

JAMES: I understand that happened. 
REPORTER: You had two experts over there last Saturday 

night, Major Fournet and Lieutenant Holcomb, who 
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described themselves as radar technicians and intelli­
gence officers. What was their opinion? 

SAMFORD: May I try to make another answer and ask for 
support or negation, on the quality of the radar opera­
tor. I personally don't feel that is necessarily associ­
ated with quality of radar operators because radar 
operators of great quality are going to be confused by 
the things which now appear and may appear in radar. 
The ability to use the radar for the thing it was de­
signed for is, I believe, dependent upon the thing that 
they see doing a normal act. If it does a normal act, 
then it becomes identified as the thing that they 
thought it was and then it pulls itself along through 
this mass of indication and they say, "'lbat one has 
normal processes." I think that a description of a GCA 
landing has some bearing on that in which to get asso­
ciated with the GCA you have to make a certain num­
ber of queries and do a certain number of things and 
then you become identified through the fact that you 
obey. If you obey, then you have an identity and you 
can then be followed with precision. So I wouldn't like 
to say that this is a function of inadequate radar opera­
tions. I think it's a thing that can happen to any radar 
operator. If he sees something in there and says, ''That 
one is neither behaving nor any other normal pattern." 
What is it? Curiosity stimulus, any other kind of stim­
ulus, can result in overemphasis at any particular time 
on any radar scope. These recently appear to have been 
much more solid returns than ordinarily classifiable by 
the arguments that I have just given. 

Would you address yourself to what I've just said. 
REPORTER: Yes. What do the experts think? That was the 

question. 
SAMFORD: The experts? 
REPORTER: The ones that saw it last Saturday night. 

What did they report to you? 
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REPORTER: Two of them saw it in­
REPORTER: What did they say? 
SAMFORD: They said they made good returns. 
REPORTER: Did they draw any conclusions as to what 

they were, whether they were clouds? 
SAMFORD: They made good returns and they think that 

they ought to be followed up. 
REPORTER: But now you come to the general belief that 

it was some either heat inversions or some other phe­
nomena without substance. 

SAMFORD: The phrase "without substance" bothers me a 
little. 

REPORTER: Well, could you­
SAMFORD: -say what we do think? 
REPORTER: Yes. 
SAMFORD: I think that the highest probability is that 

these are phenomena associated with the intellectual 
and scientific interests that we are on the road to learn 
more about but that there is nothing in them that is as­
sociated with material or vehicles or missiles that are 
directed against the United States. 

REPORTER: General, you said that--can you stop that 
short of the United States, sir, or the menace to the 
United States? 

SAMFORD: Well, that was the-I think that is the part that 
I believed. Now, what was it that I would have said 
otherwise? 

REPORTER: Well, you said were not associated with vehi-
cles-

REPORTER: Materials. 
REPORTER: Missiles. 
REPORTER: Period. 
REPORTER: Material, vehicles, and missiles directed 

against the United States. 
REPORTER: The question whether these are hostile or not 

makes very little difference. What we're trying to get 
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at is are you eliminating, excluding from considera­
tion, a missile, a vehicle, or any other material object 
that might be flying through the air other than sound or 
light or some other intangible. 

REPORTER: Somebody from this planet or some other 
planet violating our air space. [Laughter] 

SAMFORD: The astronomers are our best advisers, of 
course, in this business of visitors from elsewhere. The 
astronomers photograph the sky continuously perhaps 
with the most adequate photography in existence and 
the complete absence of things which would have to 
be in their appearance for many days and months to 
come from somewhere else. It doesn't cause them 
to have any enthusiasm whatsoever in thinking about 
this other side of it. 

REPORTER: Have any astronomical laboratories reported 
any sightings whatsoever or any astronomers? 

SAMFORD: I don't recall. Captain Ruppelt, do you know 
whether we've had reports from astronomicallabora­
tories or observatories? 

RUPPELT: No, sir. None have ever had any real bearing. 

The question as posed and the answer as posed at this 
point are misleading. Astronomers had made UFO re­
ports on a number of occasions. Dr. Clyde Tombaugh, 
who discovered Pluto, had made a UFO sighting report to 
the Air Force. He was not at an observatory at the time, 
but in his backyard with his wife, but the real point is that 
here was a scientist, one with impressive credentials, who 
had made a UFO report to the Air Force. 

More recently, studies have been conducted using pro­
fessional astronomers and engineers as the subjects. It 
was reported that these people reported UFOs at a higher 
rate than the general population. In other words, it would 
be expected that astronomers, who watch the sky on a 
regular basis, would see UFOs more frequently than the 
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general population and they did, according to a scientifi­
cally reported study. 

In fact, because they are familiar with the sky and the 
astronomical phenomena in it, they would be able to 
eliminate many of the mundane answers that confuse and 
confound the general population. Their sightings, nor­
mally of longer duration, are not easily explained by the 
mundane and are, therefore, more likely to be labeled as 
unidentified. 

But there was another point that is generally over­
looked. According to Dr. J. Allen Hynek's survey of his 
fellow astronomers, most astronomers, in 1952, would 
not have been inclined to report a UFO sighting. Hynek 
wrote: 

I took the time to talk rather seriously with a few of 
them, and to acquaint them with the fact that some of 
the sightings were truly puzzling and not at all easily 
explainable. Their interest was almost immediately 
aroused, indicating that their general lethargy is due 
to lack of information on the subject. And certainly 
another contributing factor ... is their overwhelming 
fear of pUblicity. One headline in the nation's papers 
to the effect ASTRONOMER SEES FLYING SAUCER would 
be enough to brand the astronomer as questionable 
among his colleagues. 

So there is a very real possibility, according to the in­
formation available, that astronomers do see UFOs, but 
they don't report them with any frequency. Ruppelt had 
to know that Hynek was conducting the study, even if it 
had not been completed, and he had to know that, at least, 
one astronomer had reported a UFO. 

To be fair, it must be noted that General Samford 
might not have had the information, or that it might not 
have been reported to the Air Force at the highest level. 
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The general attitude of the Air Force was that if some­
thing wasn't reported to them, it simply didn't exist. 

REPORTER: General, does that-the kind of involved ex­
planation you just gave us-does that apply to the re­
cent Washington sightings or upon your observations 
over the past years since 1946 based on all your expe­
rience with it? 

SAMFORD: Well, our reaction to the recent Washington 
sightings is related to the past experience in terms of­
we have dealt with radar blips before. 

IlEPOIrI'ER: General, if these were vehicles or materials 
of our own making, they wouldn't be a menace to the 
United States. Do you exclude that? 

SAMFORD: I'd exclude that, definitely. 
REPORTER: General, let's make it clear now you are ex­

cluding-if you'll affirm that-you are excluding vehi­
cles, missiles, and other tangible objects flying through 
space, including the subhuman bodies from other 
planets. 

SAMFORD: In my mind, yes. 
REPORTER: Anything material-would that be a clear 

statement? 
SAMFORD: When you deal with a scientific man, maybe 

he might quarrel with you by what is the real meaning 
of "material." With my limited knowledge of material 
I would say yes. In my own view the thing is excluded 
as being a material evidence. 

REPORTER: In other words, General, if you remove the 
EEl [Essential Element of Intelligence] from that 
statement, it could apply to any missile, material, or 
object that is in the air, regardless of whether it's a 
menace to the United States or not? 

SAMFORD: Well, yes. 
REPORTER: In other words, it just isn't there. 
SAMFORD: I believe that, that there is no--well, now, that 
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is a little bit in error because a minute ago I said birds do 
these things. Now, a bird has substance, you see. I don't 
want to go out and say that these things are reflections 
of nothing. If they're reflections of something. That's 
why the thought of saying that this thing satisfies us in 
having no real pattern other than that of phenomena. 

REPORTER: General, you said there'd never been a simul-
taneous radar fix on one of these things. 

SAMFORD: I don't think I wanted to say that. 
REPORTER: You didn't mean to say that? 
SAMFORD: I meant to say that, when you talk about si­

multaneously, somebody will say, "Was it on 1203 
hours, 24 and a half seconds?" and I doo't know. 

REPORTER: Well, I'd like to point out this fact that the of­
ficer in charge of the radar station at Andrews Field 
told me that on the morning of July 20, which was a 
week from last Saturday, he picked up an object three 
miles north of Riverdale and he was in intercom com­
munication with CAA, and they exchanged informa­
tion and the CAA also had a blip three miles north of 
Riverdale and on both radars the same blip remained 
for about thirty seconds and simultaneously disap­
peared from both sets. Now-

SAMFORD: Well, their definition of simultaneous, yes. But 
some people won't be satisfied that that is simultane­
ously. 

REPORTER: Well, it is pretty damned simultaneous. 
[laughter] For all purposes, it is satisfied by the inver­
sion theory, Captain. 

SAMFORD: Well, I'm talking about the split-second peo­
ple who want to say you've got to prove now that this 
happened at such-and-such a time and they'll say your 
observations are delayed by half a second; therefore, 
you can't say it was simultaneous. 

REPORTER: And does your inversion theory explain 
away that situation? 
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Ruppelt's concluding remark, that "We don't know," is 
about the only thing said here that is true. Everything else 
is speculation. The data are incomplete. The Air Force 
simply didn't know what percentage of sightings was le­
gitimate, how many sightings had not been reported, or if 
the explanations offered were real. 

REPORTER: What percentage of your unexplainable ones 
that you've got are around there? 

RUPPELT: A few of them. 
REPORTER: Is it the same pattern? 
RUPPELT: I wouldn't say that every sighting around an 

atomic installation is unexplained. There's really 00-

I don't quite follow you. 
REPORTER: His question is what percentage of the unex­

plainable percentage of the sightings are grouped 
around atomic energy-

RUPPELT: We've never broken it down. 
REPORTER: Is it uniform to the general percentages? 
RUPPELT: It followed the general percentages. In other 

words, if twenty per cent of the sightings are unex­
plained, twenty per cent of the sightings around Los 
Alamos are-

REPORTER: Unexplained. 
RUPPELT:-unexplained; right. 
REPORTER: What percentage of these have come from 

technical men in science at these installations? 
RUPPELT: It varies with the type of people. In other 

words, at Los Alamos most of the people are fairly 
technical people. However, you run the guards in a 
place like that. Now, that may be another factor. All 
those installations have guards that stay out twenty­
four hours a day and those people are in a better posi­
tion to observe than other people. 

REPORTER: Have many of the scientists, though, for in-
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stance at Los Alamos, the scientists or technical peo­
ple, reported these things? 

RUPPELT: Yes; they have. We have reports from very high 
technical people. 

REPORTER: If your reports, some of them, come from 
these technical people, what type of information 
would the Air Force like to have? 

RUPPELT: The Air Force would like to have--can I an­
swer that, sir? 

SAMFORD: Go ahead. 
RUPPELT: The Air Force would like to have a size, speed, 

and altitude and what-have-you on these things. 
REPOR'n:R: Number of men inside it? [laughter] 

Interestingly, the type of information that Ruppelt sug­
gested had already been provided by some of the very 
best of the sightings available in the Blue Book files. For 
example, in 1949, a technical crew in New Mexico, using 
various scientific equipment, made observations of a 
high-flying disk. They provided exact measurements and 
the sighting was forwarded to Project Blue Book. It was 
labeled as an "unidentified." 

REPORTER: In view of practicalities, what would an ordi­
nary citizen do if he saw one? Would you be interested 
in his information? What can he do to help you? 

RUPPELT: Actually, we are very much interested. How­
ever, there isn't much we can do with their informa­
tion. It's possible that you might get a series of 
sightings. In other words, if you get everybody up and 
down the East Coast looking, you might be able to plot 
a ground track from it, but the informatiott we get from 
the general public or from a scientist-there's no dif­
ference. In other words, well, let's take a meteorlike 
object, for example. If you're out some night and see a 
meteor, what can you tell me about that meteor? You 
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don't even know in which direction it was going. Actu­
ally, it looked to you maybe like it was going across 
the sky from east to west, but you're not sure. You're 
just looking at horizontal projection of that meteor. 
And a scientist the same way. Just because he's a sci­
entist doesn't mean he's got better eyes. 

The most impressive series of sightings came from 
Portland, Oregon, where police officers and civilians in 
widely separated locations watched as a variety of disks 
flashed through the sky during the July 4,1947, weekend. 
The first was reported by C. J. Bogne and a carload of 
witnesses north of Redmond, Oregon, when they saw 
four disk-shaped objects flash past Mount Jefferson. The 
objects made no noise and performed no maneuvers. 

At one 0' clock, an Oaks Park employee, Don Metcalfe 
saw a lone disk fly over the park. A KOIN news reporter 
in Portland saw twelve shiny disks as they danced in the 
sky high overhead. 

A few minutes after one o'clock, Kenneth A. McDow­
ell, a police officer who was near the Portland Police Sta­
tion, noticed that the pigeons began fluttering as if 
frightened. Overhead were three disks, one flying east 
and the other two south. All were moving at high speed 
and appeared to be oscillating. 

About the same time two other police officers, Walter 
A. Lissy and Robert Ellis, saw three disks overhead. They 
were also moving at high speed. 

Just across the Columbia River, in nearby Vancouver, 
Washington, sheriff's deputies Sergeant John Sullivan, 
Clarence McKay, and Fred Krives, watched twenty to 
thirty disks overhead. 

Not long after that, three harbor patrolmen on the river 
saw three to six disks traveling at high speed. According 
to the witnesses, the objects looked like chrome hubcaps 
and oscillated as they flew. 
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About four o'clock P.M., more civilians saw the disks. 
A woman called police, telling them she watched a single 
object as "shiny as a new dime, flipping around." An 
unidentified man called to say that he'd seen three disks, 
one flying to the east and the other two heading north. 
They were shiny, shaped like flattened saucers, and were 
traveling at high speed. 

Finally, in Milwaukie, Oregon, not far from Portland, 
Sergeant Claude Cross reported three objects flying to the 
north. All were disk-shaped and were moving at high speed. 

The question that must be asked is why none of the air­
aaft on alert in that area responded to this series of sight­
ings on orders from the Pentagon. It would seem logical 
that they would have spotted the disks at some point, but 
there was never any indication that such is the case. Noth­
ing appears in the Project Blue Book files to suggest that 
gun camera footage was obtained by the Oregon National 
Guard. which had been alerted because of the increase in 
UFO sightings in the area. A few days later, the Pentagon 
announced that the searches would be discontinued. The 
lack of concrete results was the suspected reason. 

The point, however, is that here was a series of sight­
ings, in a single location, spread over a single day, that 
had been reported to the official Air Force project. No 
real investigation was carried out by military officials. In­
stead, the case was ignored by the Air Force. 

REPORTER: What about a report, for example, about one 
week ago from an engineer who sighted six or seven 
who followed a definite pattern and then all turned in 
the same direction and went straight up at an estimated 
speed-I forget what he said it was. 

RUPPELT: I couldn't pick that one out from the mass and 
size-I'm not familiar with that one. 

REPORTER: Have you investigated these so-called 
saucers here in Washington? 
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REPORTER: The ones we've been seeing on radar screens. 
RUPPELT: We've got data on them. 
REPORTER: Have you investigated them yourself? 
RUPPELT: Well, what do you mean by that, now-gone 

out and personally talked to all these people? 
REPORTER: Yes. 
RUPPELT: No; I haven't. 
REPORTER: Has anybody from the Air Force talked to 

Harry Barnes, who's the Senior Controller in the CAA 
radar? 

RUPPELT: We have a report from the CAA Controller. 
REPORTER: But nobody's interviewed him? 
RUPPELT: I couldn't tell you that. 
REPORTER: General, you started to say you wanted cer­

tain means of measuring these things and you men­
tioned this camera. Were you going to name others or 
is that the only thing you have in mind as a possible 
way of identifying and measuring these phenomena? 

SAMFORD: Mr. Griffing is here from the Electronics Sec­
tion. Would you address yourself to that, Mr. Griffing? 

GRIFFING: I didn't hear the question. 
REPORTER: The question was we'd ask what-the Gen­

eral had said the greatest need now was to get some 
way of measuring these reports in terms that you can 
tum them over to a scientist and I asked him what was 
he seeking in that way, what he was getting. He men­
tioned this camera. I connected the question with some 
way of measuring the gases and lights. I asked him 
were there other things than that that he might mention 
that they're now ordering or procuring for that pur­
pose. 

GRIFFING: The refraction camera should tell whether it's 
an incandescent source or whether it's illuminous [sic] 
gas. Well, that would immediately tell whether it was a 
meteor or reflection of a headlight, a mirage theory, 
and it might also identify what kind of gases. 
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REPORTER: What other than this camera? Are there any 
other tools that you're seeking now? 

GRIFFING: There is another proposal which also uses de­
fraction grating, which is a continuously operating 
Schmidt telescope, and that will give a continuous 
record over the night. 

REPORTER: What's this? 
REPORTER: That's a telescope to photograph the entire 

heaven in one whole picture? 
GRIFFING: Yes, sir. 
REPORTER: Would you repeat that? What is this Schmidt 

telescope? 
JAMES: It's a type of telescope. 
IlEPOR'IER: What type of telescope are you talking 

about,~.cniffing? 
GRIFFING: The Schmidt, S-c-h-m-i-d-t, telescope is an 

optical system that has a wide aperture. That is, you 
can have a wide range or aperture, in this case, about 
150 degrees, or nearer the whole hemisphere can be 
photographed in one plate and you can have a contin­
ual record of what happens in the sky at night, meteor 
trails or what have you, and make a photographic 
record. 

REPORTER: Where is this being used? 
GRIFFING: This is a new development, this particular 

one, but there have been ones similar to this in use in 
many observatories. Palomar has a Schmidt telescope. 

REPORTER: Are you ordering a number of those for plac-
ing around the country? 

GRIFFING: That is a possibility. 
REPORTER: Is that a movie-camera type? 
GRIFFING: Not exactly. The plate is exposed for ten min­

utes and then is replaced with another plate and then 
so on through the night. That is, one can expose a pho­
tographic plate for ten minutes without overexposure, 
in fact, a longer time, but a continual record will be 
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made. Any motion that can be indicated with a time 
exposure can be found with considerable accuracy. 

REPORTER: Does the Air Force have access to any of 
these right now? 

GRIFFING: That particular thing is not in production yet. 
REPORTER: How much does it cost? 
GRIFFING: Shall I go into it, General? 
SAMFORD: Well, go ahead. 
GRIFFING: The cost will be between three and five thou­

sand dollars apiece. 
REPORTER: General, has there been any indication that 

any of these radar sightings have been made by elec­
tronic countermeasures being used by U.S. Strategic 
Air Command bombers practicing? 

SAMFORD: No; they haven't. We've investigated that and 
come up negative. 

REPORTER: Is that Schmidt camera telescope the only 
one astronomical telescope that's capable of being 
used on a project like this? 

SAMFORD: Probably not. 
GRIFFING: It's not the only one, but it is the most practi­

cal telescopic method. Any telescope can be used but 
the probability of getting a fiying object is very re­
mote. Because it has such a wide aperture it makes it 
more useful. 

REPORTER: Well, are you planning any other measure­
ment tools other than this camera and telescope? 

GRIFFING: Well, of course, the difficulty is if we have a 
high-powered instrument, we can't guarantee that 
they'll intercept fiying objects so there are other sim­
ple measurements that can be made with trained per­
sonnel. There are measurements of time. One can time 
the appearance and disappearance with his own watch 
and then check his watch. Accurate measurements of 
time are one thing and simple measurements of angle 
can be made by trained people with very crude appara-
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tus, and they can tell whether an object is one mile or 
fifty miles high. 

REPORTER: Haven't we already had some trained person­
nel, so-called trained personnel, who timed these ap­
pearances? 

GRIFFING: There perhaps have-Captain Ruppelt can 
answer that. The point is in any of these operations 
there have to be two simultaneous observers to get al­
titude. You can't use one observation, and it may be 
that two simultaneous observations have not been in 
the reports. 

REPORTER: Genera1-
SAMFORD: I think that the gentleman here has been wait­

ing quite awhile with a question, if you don't mind. 

It should be noted here that the question was not an­
swered. Ruppelt was not given an opportunity to answer 
it and it could be suggested that Samford didn't want it 
answered. That is why he cut off the discussion at that 
point. 

By the same token, it must be noted that the reporters 
let him get away with it. They didn't come back to the 
question, which was a very important one. It was not the 
first time in the press conference that they had let an im­
portant answer get away from them. 

REPORTER: General, you mentioned that eight per cent 
of the reports come from airline pilots. Some of these 
men have as much as twenty years' flying time, twenty 
years' experience flying. What's the reaction of the Air 
Force to creditable observers like that who give you a 
detailed description? 

SAMFORD: It's very high. We react to them as saying this 
is an important item. 

REPORTER: Do you classify that, some of those things, as 
phenomena? 
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SAMFORD: Well, what else can we call it? His terms of 
the statement about it are not placeable in anything 
else as phenomena. 1 have one that a friend of mine 
who is an Air Force officer reported from the Middle 
East. He said, "I thought that my mental processes 
were adequate to avoid seeing these things, but 1 did 
see something that didn't belong there." He was no 
more able to put a precise measurement on it although 
he had competent witnesses. He's a creditable ob­
server. We're not trying to discredit observers. That's 
the reason that I said that we have many reports from 
creditable observers of incredible things. They also 
say they're incredible. 

REPORTER: Are these phenomena capable of change of 
direction and speed such as has been reported? 

SAMFORD: There is nothing else known in the world that 
can do those things except phenomena! [Laughter] 

REPORTER: General, while we're in this mass of areas for 
a minute, suppose some superintelligent creature had 
come up with a solution to the theoretical problem of 
levitation, would that not be massless in our observa­
tions either by radar or by sight? No gravity. 

REPORTER: A balloon has no gravity but its rate of move­
ment is distinctly limited. 

SAMFORD: Well, I don't know whether I can give an an­
swer to that, sir, that makes any sense because I'm not 
a metaphysician. I think, probably, just to return to 
saying that-we believe most of this can be under­
stood gradually by the human mind. 

REPORTER: SO far as we know, have any of these mani­
festations been reported over Russia or any of the 
satellites? 

SAMFORD: Well, we don't know if there have been any 
reported over there, no. 

REPORTER: General Samford or perhaps General Ramey, 
you have described fighters over the District here in 
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the last few weeks. Is there any kind of a policy as far 
as the rest of the country of the Air Defense Command 
on such sightings? 

SAMFORD: I would like General Ramey to speak to that, 
if he will, please. 

RAMEY: There's no special policy as a result of these re­
ports. We have a standard operating procedure that 
would call for an investigation of reports that can be 
tracked on a reasonable assurance of some sort of in­
tercept or some direction to [inaudible]. Those instruc­
tions are standard, however, and are not especially 
caused by this. 

REPORTER: General, is it true that there was a two-hour 
delay between the sighting of these objects last Satur­
day night and the dispatch of the jets from New Castle? 

RAMEY: Yes; that is true because there was never a track 
established. As soon as a track was established to tell 
the airplane the direction to go in and the authenticity 
of the thing was established, then the pilots got off. As 
long as there's a sporadic report with no identification, 
no track established, there's no use sending a very 
short-range, short field-duration interceptor in the air 
because he wouldn't know where to go or what to do. 

REPORTER: In other words, it was the decision of the op­
erations officer that occasioned the delay and not any 
error in transmission of the alert. 

RAMEY: That's correct; yes, sir. 
REPORTER: General, it's been rumored that the Air Force 

has been picking up blips of this sort for quite awhile 
but waited until civilian radar picked it up. Is that true? 

SAMFORD: I think I mentioned earlier our past experi­
ence in dealing with these things in many areas where 
we have had, oh, hundreds of fruitless intercept efforts 
in response to radar blips. It's not new with us at all. 

REPORTER: But of those same caliber as recently as the 
past couple of weeks, I mean, the same caliber blips. I 
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think we've all heard about this blip, but is that the 
thing that you sighted before in the past by the Air 
Force? That's what I wanted to ask. 

SAMFORD: Well, I can only say that I feel fairly sure that 
they were the same or reasonably the same. No two 
blips on radar are alike. 

REPORTER: Have these been better, clearer, bigger? 
SAMFORD: I wouldn't say better or clearer. These are 

good returns. Other people have said, "There are good 
returns." 

REPORTER: General Samford, to clear that point up, I 
think Captain James indicated earlier in this reference 
to temperature inversion you now say that these are 
good returns. Can you get good returns on this temper­
ature inversion reflection? 

SAMFORD: Yes. 
REPORTER: Can you get a return that's as sharp as the 

ones you get off aircraft? 
REPORTER: That moves? 
REPORTER: Captain James said they were sharper, larger, 

awhile ago. 
JAMES: I said it depended upon the target. 
REPORTER: I'm referring to these seen Saturday night. 

Were those good returns? Could the good returns have 
been caused by this reflection against heat [inaudible]? 

SAMFORD: We think so. We think that that is probable. 
REPORTER: General, do you think that's probably what 

they were? 
SAMFORD: My own mind is satisfied with that, but my 

obligation to learn more is not. My own mind is satis­
fied with that explanation. 

Ruppelt, in writing his own book about UFOs, sug­
gested that the temperature inversion explanation "had 
been construed by the press to mean that this was the Air 
Force's answer ... " While it can be suggested that the re-
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porters had not understood what was being said, it was at 
this point in the press conference that General Samford 
told them that he, and by extension, the Air Force, was 
satisfied by the temperature inversion explanation. What 
were the reporters to believe, given the nature of the an­
swers supplied by Samford? 

REPORTER: General, if after six years of studying these 
things you're now convinced that they do not consti­
tute a threat to the safety of the country, is the Air 
Force thinking about turning this over to some other 
scientific investigating body or something? 

SAMFORD: Well, I think that we would want to move into 
it with them rather than to say tum it over. 

REPORTER: Is there any thought of that, bringing in other 
governmental scientific bodies perhaps? 

SAMFORD: Yes. 
REPORTER: Have you any program along that line? You 

spoke in the beginning that you wanted the methods of 
measuring things. You mentioned two or three little 
things like the possibility of buying some cameras and 
telescopes. Is there a program being set up to go about 
this scientifically, and what other organization are you 
thinking of bringing in on it? 

SAMFORD: I believe that Colonel Bower of the Technical 
Analysis Division at Dayton is here. Are you here, 
Bower? 

BOWER: Yes, sir. 
SAMFORD: Would you address yourself to that point, 

please? 
BOWER: Our idea on that is to implement our present 

study with instruments wherever possible, as Mr. 
Griffing mentioned, the refraction grid camera and 
other pickups that we might get. 

REPORTERS: How many of these telescopes have been 
ordered, the Schmidt telescope? 
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BOWER: The Schmidt telescopes are not on order by us. 
The refraction grid camera is an item which we are­

REPORTER: Is the Schmidt telescope project an Air Force 
project or-

GRIFFING: Yes. Yes, sir. 
SAMFORD: I think the point that the gentleman over here 

wanted to have answered is can you explain from 
memory the kind of structure that I know that you have 
in ATIC for, well, I've seen it somewhere in my mem­
ory that you have this step and this step and this step. 

BOWER: We have several steps in analyses and that might 
explain to you one reason why we cannot give you an 
instantaneous answer. I mean, this requires a study just 
like any technical problem. First of all, we need tech­
nical data. Our first step is to collect the data and check 
it against other identified objects such as balloons, if 
aircraft or missiles or such things as meteors are fol­
lowing that, and it comes back and we make an analy­
sis of it within our own groups. We have specialists in 
our own organizations, people on electrodynamics, 
physics, geophysics, and various other specialties that 
would fit into this. Following that, if it is necessary, we 
will send it to consultants or specialists in the field. 
Your mention of a contractor-we are considering that 
with the idea, if we can't come out with an answer, of 
giving it to a contractor to study it. That won't be a 
short-time job. 

REPORTER: Are you taking a new approach in this whole 
thing? 

BOWER: I would say implementing the past approach. 
REPORTER: Going at it more systematically. 
BOWER: Yes, I think that's the thing to stress. In a lot of 

these things you can't get technical data and without 
technical data you can't get a technical answer very 
well. 

SAMFORD: Maybe I have a thought that might help in an-
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swering that problem. When we started to say this is 
an obligation we must learn more about, we thought 
initially that we could learn something from the vol­
ume of reports. We say we want all the reports we can 
get and then see that through that volume maybe we 
can make a pattern. I think we're beginning to believe 
now that the things which we can sense from volume 
are not necessarily the things which we value. In other 
words, volume can come from many different things. 
It can come from external stimulus. It can come from 
an unusual opportunity. It can come from such a vari­
ety of meaningless things so that the volume of reports 
is Dot going to be our answer. We have thought we'd 
get thousands and thousands of reports and out of these 
we will develop something through better reports with 
equipment or with a trained reporter specifically at­
tempting to report the valuable things about these items 
are we likely to produce material that is suitable grist 
for a scientific analysis. The stuff we have now hasn't 
enough meat on its bones to interest scientific people. 

REPORTER: Well, General, would you say a qualified ob­
server would be the pilot from New Castle-I believe 
his name was Lieutenant Patterson-who got within 
what he estimated was two miles of this object last 
Saturday? Have you questioned him? 

SAMFORD: He has no measurement that you can put in 
scientific hands. 

REPORTER: Well, other than his eye as a pilot. 
SAMFORD: He says-if the quality of the observer is that 

of seeing something, he was a qualified observer. If the 
quality is measuring something, he is not a qualified 
observer. 

REPORTER: Well, the reason I'd implied that he'd be 
qualified is he was probably concentrating with all of 
his intensity upon this object that he was pursuing. He 
must have been thinking about it pretty intensely; 
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therefore, can probably give you some pretty good in­
formation. Have you questioned him about it? 

SAMFORD: Yes. He had motive; he had direction; he had 
interest; he had opportunity. But he had no measuring 
devices to measure this thing, or these things that need 
to have measurement before it can become anything 
other than a sighting. 

REPORTER: Well, do you explain his sighting on the basis 
of this heat inversion theory too, now? 

SAMFORD: Not necessarily. That very likely is one that 
sits apart and says insufficient measurement, insuffi­
cient association with other things, insufficient associ­
ation with other probabilities for it to do any more than 
to join that group of sightings that we still hold in front 
of us as saying no. 

REPORTER: Hasn't he admitted that that might have been 
a ground light that he was looking at? 

SAMFORD: I don't recall that 1-
REPORTER: Well, have you formed any conclusion as a 

result of interrogating this pilot? 
SAMFORD: None other than that this is another one of the 

thousand or two thousand sightings. 
REPORTER: General, this fellow that almost flew into the 

ground, did he go around a corner as if on a bent re­
turn? What were the circumstances of that flight? 

SAMFORD: Did I get the information of the ground lock-
on from you, James? 

JAMES: Yes, sir; you did. 
SAMFORD: Would you answer the question? 
JAMES: I'm sorry. I didn't hear it. 
REPORTER: Did he lock on a reflected image, go around 

the corner, and go down to the ground? Was that the 
pattern? 

JAMES: Yes, that's true. That was the pattern, and he did 
that three times and each time it led him to the same 
point on the ground. 
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REPORTER: Captain, what about the man who saw four 
lights Saturday night? 

JAMES: Well, I'll have to ask Captain Ruppelt to explain 
the lights. 

REPORTER: General-
SAMFORD: There's this difficulty. May I make this state­

ment? I was trying to-let's take anyone of these re­
ports and pull it out and say, "Well, what is the 
meaning of that one report?" None of these things in 
the period of our entire experience with them has had 
any Validity on its own. The only thing that we hope 
for is to find enough similarity in sequence of these 
things so that you can begin to pull something out. 
There is no validity in them as individual sightings to 
mean any particular thing. 

REPORTER: General, did you notice in all of your, say, 
twenty per cent of the inexplainable [sic] reports a 
consistency as to color, size, or speed, estimated 
speed? 

SAMFORD: None whatsoever. 
REPORTER: None whatsoever. 
SAMFORD: No. 
REPORTER: Have you ever tracked the speed by radar of 

any particular object that you can explain? 
SAMFORD: There have been many radar reports giving 

speed. 
REPORTER: What did they range from, sir? 
SAMFORD: They run from zero to fantastic speed. 
REPORTER: General, how do you explain this case, now? 

The CAA, as I understand the story, after picking up 
these objects on radar, also got this Capital Airlines pi­
lot named Pierman on their radar as he was going out 
west and, as the Senior Controller told me, he said 
whenever a blip, one of the unidentified blips, ap­
peared anywhere near Pierman's plane, he could call 
Pierman on the radio and say, "You have traffic at two 
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o'clock about three miles," and Piennan, in return, 
would look to the given range and bearing and say, "I 
see it. I see the light!" 

REPORTER: Happy New Year! [Laughter] 
REPORTER: Piennan described it as a light that was 

zooming and all such things and this was done not 
once but Barnes told me he instructed him on that tar­
get three times and then, Saturday night, this past Sat­
urday night, when they all sawall these blips, Barnes 
vectored at least half a dozen airline pilots and planes 
into these things and they all reported seeing lights. 

REPORTER: Many of them didn't see them, according to 
Barnes. 

REPORTER: Yes. Many of them didn't see them, but then 
some did. 

SAMFORD: I can't explain that. 
REPORTER: Well, how do you explain this directing? Is 

that autosuggestion or-
SAMFORD: I can't explain it at all. I think maybe­
REPORTER: Have you investigated that phase of this 

thing, this vectoring the planes into that? 
SAMFORD: You can investigate, but the technique of in­

vestigating a process or mind-reading, for example; or 
the technique of investigating the process of mes­
merism. You can say will you investigate those things? 
I think probably we know no more about mind-reading 
than the technique of investigating that or the tech­
nique of investigating evidences of spiritualism than 
we do about these fields, but for many years the field 
of spiritualism had these same things in it in which 
completely competent creditable observers reported 
incredible things. I don't mean to say that this is that 
sort of thing, but it's an explanation of an inability to 
explain and that is with us. 

REPORTER: General, I understand that the wavelength of 
the radar has something to do with what it can pick up 
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in the way of phenomena. Were these relatively low or 
relatively high wavelength radar? 

SAMFORD: I couldn't say and I don't know whether Cap­
tain James can or not, but I'd like him to have the op­
portunity. 

JAMES: These were relatively high frequency or short 
wavelength. However, the same effect can be observed 
on long wavelength equipment with differing degrees. 

REPORTER: You say very short wavelength? 
JAMES: In this case, yes. 
REPORTER: They were designed for different purposes? 
SAMFORD: Yes, sir. 
REPORTER: General, why has the Air Force refused to dis­

close the substance of Captain Mantell's air-ground con­
versations before he died? Do you remember the case? 

The Mantell case took place in January 1948, when a 
National Guard and former Army Air Forces transport pi­
lot, was killed chasing a UFO over Fort Knox, Kentucky. 
Mantell's fighter was not equipped with oxygen and 
Mantell climbed above 25,000 feet. He blacked out and 
his aircraft crashed, killing him. Although the case has 
been discussed at length in other books, suggesting that 
UFOs are hostile, the truth now available is that Mantell 
was chasing a Skyhook balloon. These huge balloons, 
made of polyethylene, were classified in 1948. No good 
explanation without knowledge of the Skyhook project 
was possible. There is little doubt today that Mantell was 
killed in a tragic accident that did not involve an alien 
spacecraft. 

However, in 1952, this explanation was not readily 
available. There were also rumors of the discussion that 
Mantell had with ground controllers and tower personnel 
before his crash. None of the rumors were ever con­
firmed, and with a good solution to the Mantell incident, 
the questions about the rumors are now irrelevant. 
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SAMFORD: Well, I don't know enough about it to say 
what was said or what some reasons were. 

REPORTER: Well, a popular book made quite a point of 
that, that the Air Force was holding back on that be­
cause it told the true nature of the saucer, that he had 
approachedit,and--

SAMFORD: Well, I wish that that were true, that he did 
say something that had enough substance in it for use. 
I haven't the slightest idea what he said. 

REPORTER: Axe you withholding any information about 
these so-called--

SAMFORD: Axe we now? 
REPORTER: Yes. Is anything-
SAMFORD: There is one thing that we have asked our­

some of our informers have asked--I don't like the 
word informer, either--reporters had asked­

REPORTER: We don't like that word, either. 
SAMFORD: I like the word. Reporter is all right. But 

many people are reticent about reporting these things 
if their names are mentioned because they are fre­
quently looked on by others as being publicity seekers 
or maybe people will avoid them and go on the other 
side of the street for awhile [laughter], so they ask us 
to not say who made this report and sometimes infor­
mation is received that deals with the credibility of a 
reporter saying he's drunk all the time or he never did 
do anything but lie. [Laughter] Well, those things we 
get are not revealed, but insofar as the statement of 
what they saw, when and where they saw it, the mea­
surements that they took, such as they were, we are not 
withholding any of that data. 

Of course, it can be shown that this is simply not true. 
There are any number of sightings that were classified. 
1\vo photographic cases, the Montana Movie and the 
Tremonton, Utah, film were not viewed outside of the 
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military for a number of years. The Air Force was clearly 
withholding infonnation and Samford knew it. 

The question to be asked was if that was justified, 
given the nature of the work being done and the world sit­
uation at the time. A fair answer is yes. Some of the se­
crecy was justified. Samford, if he answered in the 
positive, would be giving away one secret and so he was 
forced into a position where he said they were not with­
holding data. 

REPORTER: How about your interpretation of what they 
reported? 

SAMFORD: Well, we're trying to say as much as we can 
on that today and admit that the barrier of understand­
ing on all of this is not one that we break. 

REPORTER: General, have you ever said flatly that these 
are not machines that the United States has made or is 
developing? 

SAMFORD: What was that? 
REPORTER: Have you said this afternoon these are not 

machines or weapons that the United States is devel­
oping? 

SAMFORD: I would say that these that we have been 
speaking about in this locality are definitely not. How­
ever, many reports that we have received and we've 
been able to correlate and put in their place we have 
been able to do so through association with an activity 
we had somewhere, a jet aircraft line, a missile, certain 
balloons. We could say, well, the report probably was 
associated with this thing which we've done, but in so 
far as what you are thinking about in his locality-

REPORTER: These are not missiles or rockets? 
SAMFORD: -there is nothing. 
REPORTER: Well, General, could you turn that over a lit­

tle bit? A lot of people keep saying that all tIus talk is a 
cover-up and that saucers are really the result of some 
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experiments the United States, either the Air Force or 
Atomic Energy, is carrying on. Can you make a flat 
statement and say that these unexplained flying saucer 
manifestations are not the result of any American 
weapons or other experimentation or test? 

SAMFORD: I'd say that those that we categorize as unex­
plained or unidentified have gone through the process 
of trying to associate them with something we were 
doing and when we fail to associate them with some­
thing we're doing, we say that is one other clue that 
ran to nothing. Now, to say that sightings everywhere 
are-none of them could possibly be associated with 
what the United States is doing, isn't quite true be­
cause we know that a particular jet fighter has been fiy­
ing in a certain area; somebody has reported thus and 
thus and thus, and we get those two things together 
and we say something that we were doing caused this 
report. As General Ramey said a minute ago, there is a 
fair degree of probability that two fighters locked on 
each other and saw and received senses. That was cer­
tainly something we were doing that caused those two 
reports. 

REPORTER: What I was aiming at was this popular feel­
ing-

SAMFORD: Of mystery? 
REPORTER: --of mystery, of something, that it's some 

very highly secret new weapon that we're working on 
that's causing all this. 

SAMFORD: We have nothing that has no mass and unlim­
ited power! [Laughter] 

REPORTER: General, somebody asked you before how 
much money you'd spent on this investigation since 
the start. How much have you spent on it? 

SAMFORD: It's very slight. I don't know. 
REPORTER: General, in connection with withholding in­

formation, I'd like to ask General Ramey a question. 
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That is, how many times have fighter planes been 
brought down over the Washington area in the last 
couple of weeks to investigate reports of flying ob­
jects? 

RAMEY: That's a matter of record-three, I believe. I 
think two flights one night and one flight Saturday 
night. I don't remember the night the other two were 
up. I think there have been six sorties. 

REPORTER: One flight the first Saturday night and two 
ftights-

RAMEY: In this immediate area, yes. We have airplanes 
that investigate various reports all over the country or 
places where we have these fighters, but-

REPOItTEIl: I thought the Air Force had said that it 
couldn't send any fighters up because it didn't have 
them. 

RAMEY: No. I don't believe it said that. 
REPORTER: The first night. 
REPORTER: How about the last night, General? 
RAMEY: No; there were no fighters up last night. 
REPORTER: Were there fighters sent in here from New 

Castle on both those Saturday nights in question? 
RAMEY: That's right; yes. 
REPORTER: Last night, was that because of lack of a 

track? 
RAMEY: Lack of a track. 
REPORTER: General, are sightings from military person­

nel made public generally, or are they-
SAMFORD: There's no reason why they shouldn't be. 
REPORTER: Thank you, General. Thank you. 
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CHAPTER EIGHT 

The Air Force Investigation: 
Part II 

With the second round of sightings over Washington, 
D.C., now a matter of public record, and even after Gen­
eral Samford had "explained" the sightings as nothing 
more important than temperature inversions, there was 
the matter of an investigation to prove the case. Air Force 
records show that such an investigation was conducted 
and that the sightings were grouped so that those who had 
been involved the Saturday before were not reinterviewed 
in light of the new sightings. New interviews were con­
ducted only with those who had seen lights, objects, or 
radar returns on the second Saturday night. 

This time more than just lights were seen in the sky. 
Those who saw something were describing a range of dif­
ferent objects. Much of what was seen was corroborated 
with radar sightings as well. Harry Barnes was on duty 
again at the ARTC at Washington National. And, as has 
been mentioned, representatives of the Air Force, both on 
the civilian side by Al Chop and on the military side by 
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Dewey Fournet, were present. Interestingly, there is no 
indication in the Project Blue Book files that either Chop 
or Fournet were interviewed by the Air Force investiga­
tors. Apparently they were considered nothing more than 
bystanders for the sightings. Of course, neither man had 
gone outside to see the UFOs for themselves. They had 
remained in the radar room, watching as the drama un­
folded on the screens. 

The investigation that did take place was not much 
when compared with other such cases and considering 
that the radars at National Airport and Andrews Air Force 
Base were both involved. It wasn't much considered that 
President Truman had requested some sort of report from 
the Air Force about the situation. After all, it meant that 
the UFOs were again over Washington, D.C., they were 
causing trouble, and the president was interested. 

James P. Beckett and William W. Wilcox provided a 
letter to the "Chief, Air Technical Intelligence Center," at 
Wright-Patterson AFB, dated 11 August 1952. The letter 
explained; 

Inclosed [sic) are summary reports of observations as 
telephoned to AFOIN-2A2 (Air Force Office of Intel­
ligence) during the last two weeks plus a report on 
radar observations at Washington National Airport on 
the night of 26/27 July 52 .... No attempt has been 
made to follow-up on any telephone reports taken by 
the Estimates Duty Officer nor was any attempt made 
to obtain great detail in the other telephone reports. 

So what they were saying was that they had made the 
investigation as required by Air Force regulations, but 
they were not going to do anything more than what was 
strictly required by those regulations. While some good 
information might have been developed by follow-up on 
some of those visual sightings, the Air Force investigators 
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instead focused their attention on the reports that came 
through the proper channels from the military personnel 
and those who had been at the airport. 

According to the report: 

This incident involved uli [unidentified] targets ob­
served on radar scopes at the Air Route Traffic Con­
trol Center and the tower, both at Washington 
National Airport, and the Approach Control Radar at 
Andrews AFB. In addition, visual observations were 
reported to Andrews and Bolling AFB and to ARTC 
Center, the latter by pilots of commercial alc [air­
craft] and CAA alc. Two tlights of interceptors were 
dispatched from Newcastle, Del., but their official re­
ports have not been received by this office [nor is 
there any indication in the Blue Book files that those 
reports were ever received], comments on their con­
versations with ARTC Center personnel are included 
herein .... This report covers the facts obtained from 
Washington National AlP personnel, the USAF 
Command Post and the AFOIN Duty Officer log. As 
yet, the commercial and CAA pilots who reported vi­
suals have not been contacted, nor have other poten­
tial sources been investigated. Such action will not be 
possible by this office. 

The short report continued: 

Varying numbers (up to 12 simultaneously) ofuli tar­
gets ... termed by CAA personnel as "generally, 
solid returns," similar to alc return except slower. No 
definable pattern of maneuver except at very begin­
ning about 2150 EDT, 4 targets in rough line abreast 
with about 11/2 mile spacing moved slowly together 
(giving about a 1" trace persistency at an estimated 
speed of less than 100 mph) on a heading of 110 [de-
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grees, or east-southeast] .... ARTC checked An­
drews Approach Control by telephone at 2200 EDT 
and ascertained that they were also picking up uJi tar­
gets. Vii returns were picked up intermittently until 
about 27/0100 EDT [1:00 A.M. on July 27], following 
which weak and sporadic (unsteady) returns were 
picked up intermittently for another 3 1/2 hours. 
Washington National Tower radar crew reports only 
one target positively uJi. This return was termed a 
"very good target" which moved across the scope 
from West to East at about 30 to 40 mph. However, 
the radar operators stated that there could have been 
other uli targets on their scopes, particularly outside 
their area of alc control, which would not have been 
noticed or would have assumed to be alc under 
ARTC Center control, however, they noticed no other 
unusual (i.e. very slow or erratic) returns. 

To this point the report suggested that a few of the re­
turns were solid and mimicked the solid targets presented 
by aircraft. The difference was the speed. Aircraft do not 
routinely fly at 30 or 40 miles an hour, especially when 
on the air routes or close to the airports. They are in the 
traffic areas and a very slow-moving plane would be in 
danger of being run down by a larger and faster aircraft. 
The unidentified targets were simply not part of the sys­
tem and were not small, light aircraft, again because of 
the speed. 

There were, however, some visual sightings of the ob­
jects. Again, according to the report in the Blue Book 
files: 

ARTC Center controllers also report that a CAA 
flight instructor, Mr. [name deleted] flying alc #NC-
12 reported at 2246 EDT that he had visually spotted 
5 objects giving off a light glow ranging from orange 
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to white; his altitude at the time was 2200'. Some 
commercial pilots reported visuals ranging from "cig­
arette glow" (red-yellow) to "a light" (as recorded 
from their conversations with ARTC controllers). 

What this means, simply, is that pilots-both commer­
cial airline pilots and an instructor for the CAA-had 
seen something strange in the air. There was no attempt at 
that point to correlate these sightings with the blips on the 
radar. This means that lights were seen in the sky and 
blips were spotted on the radars, but nothing that tied the 
two together. To make the case a valuable resource, that 
should have been one of the missions of the military in­
vestigators. 

The report continued: 

At 2238 EDT the USAF Command Post was notified 
of ARTC targets. Command Post notified ADC and 
EADF at 2245, and 2 F-94's were scrambled from 
Newcastle at 2300 EDT. ARTC controlled F-94's af­
ter arrival in area and vectored them to targets with 
generally negative results (flew through "a batch of 
radar returns" without spotting anything). However, 
one pilot mentioned seeing 4 lights at one time and a 
second time as seeing a single light ahead but unable 
to close whereupon light "went out" (these com­
ments from ARTC controllers). 

This, then, was an attempt to correlate the blips with 
the lights in the sky. The results, as mentioned, were neg­
ative, with the pilots seeing nothing solid where the ob­
jects were indicated. That could suggest that the objects 
were not lighted, though the comment about one of the 
interceptors flying through "a batch of radar returns" 
would seem to suggest that there was nothing solid in the 
air where the radar suggested they should be. 
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Maj. Fournet ... and Lt. Holcomb ... arrived at 
ARTC Center about 27/0012 EDT [or about fifteen 
minutes after midnight on July 27]. Lt. Holcomb ob­
served scopes and reported "7 good, solid targets." 
He made a quick check with airport Weather Station 
and determined that there was a slight temperature 
inversion (about 1 degree) from the surface to about 
1000'. However, he felt that the scope targets at that 
time were not the result of this inversion and so ad­
vised the Command Post with the suggestion that a 
second intercept ftight be requested. (2nd intercept 
flight controlled by ARTC, but no strong returns re­
mained when they arrived. Tbere were vectored on 
dim targets with negative results.) Maj. Fournet and 
Lt. Holcomb remained in ARTC Center until 0415, 
but no additional strong targets were picked up; 
many dim and unstable targets (assumed due to tem­
perature inversion) were observed throughout the re­
mainder of the period. 

The report also rated the reliability of all those civilian 
radar crews that had observed UFOs that night. All those 
at the ARTC radar operators and controllers, including 
Harry Barnes, were considered "serious, conscientious 
and sincere although vague about details of their experi­
ence on 26/27 July. Considered fairly reliable." 

The men in the Washington National control tower were 
considered "conscientious and sincere. Direct manner. 
Appeared sure of themselves. Considered very reliable." 

In the remarks section of the report, it was noted: 

ARTC crew commented that, as compared with u/i 
returns picked up in early hours of 20 July 52, these 
returns appeared to be more haphazard in their ac­
tions, i.e. they did not follow alc around nor did they 
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cross the scope consistently on same general head­
ing. Some commented that the returns appeared to be 
from objects "capable of dropping out of the pattern 
at will." Also that returns had "creeping appearance." 
One member of the crew commented that one object 
to which F-94 was vectored just "disappeared from 
Scope" shortly after F-94 started pursuing. All crew 
members emphatic that most uJi returns were "solid." 
Finally, it was mentioned that uJi returns have been 
picked up from time to time over the past few months 
but never before had they appeared in such quantities 
over such a prolonged period and with such defini­
tion as was experienced on the nights of 19f]J) and 
26/27 July 52. 

In another report found in the Project Blue Book files, 
originally classified as "Confidential" and sent on to the 
director of Intelligence in Washington, D.C., as well as to 
ATIC at Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, an unidentified 
pilot's impressions were described. According to the doc­
ument: 

2 F94B acft were scrambled by the 646 ACW Sqdn, 
Highland, New Jersey ([codename] Dogcatcher) at 
270304Z [meaning July 27, 3:04 in the morning, 
Greenwich Mean Time] against unidentified obj 
picked up by the Gel Sta. The Gel station was reptg 
[reporting] clusters of 5 or 6 obj coming in on their 
scope. Upon being vectored into the midst of the 
reptd obj, nothing could be seen by the intcp cws 
other than lights on the ground. However, one intcp 
pilot reptd seeing 2 bright lights in the vicinity of 
Mount Vernon possibly 5 to 10 miles in the distance 
at 1500 feet. Upon closing with these lights they dis­
appeared when within approx 2 miles. 
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One of the pilots had this experience: 

Every time he was vectored into the area of sightings 
by Dogcatcher, it was noticed that the area was very 
hazy, dark, turbulent and had a high moisture con­
tent. ... Lights were sighted on the ground below 
this haze area and pilot believes at a distance of from 
5 to 10 miles out the reflection of these lights ap­
peared on the bottom of the haze but upon approach­
ing they disappeared. 

'The ovenill investigation, some of it conducted by in­
telligence officers at Bolling AFB, but none from Wright­
Patterson or from ATIC, included some statements made 
by Air Force personnel who were at Andrews early on the 
morning of July 27. The statements were eventually for­
warded to Project Blue Book, but there is no evidence in 
the files that any of the witnesses were questioned care­
fully, or that follow-up investigations were conducted. 

Master Sergeant Harrison, for example, told Warrant 
Officer, Junior Grade Clyde Mahaffee, Jr.: 

While standing in front of GCA unit [at Andrews 
AFB] I observed a bluish white light move from 
vicinity of range in a NNE dir at an incredible rate of 
speed-about 45 sec later I observed another light 
moving from over the vicinity of the range to the 
NW. About one min later while walking toward 
AAPC [Andrews Approach Control] from the GCA 
unit I saw the same kind of light moving from the NE 
toward the range station. These lights did not have 
the characteristics of shooting stars. There was no 
[sic] trails and seemed to go out rather than disap­
pear, and traveled faster than any shooting star I have 
ever seen. 
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T/SGT H. Spiewakowski, also at Andrews, was also 
interviewed by Warrant Officer MaHaffee on the day af­
ter the sightings. He said: 

At 2023E [daylight time] Wash Center called re­
questing info as to whether we were observing many 
unidentified targets in the immediate area, on our 
radar equipment. We observed & noted a great many 
targets some of which later were identified as aircraft 
(conventional). We continued to maintain a sharp 
lookout & observed targets following very erratic 
courses, sometimes appearing to stop, then reverse 
course, accelerating momentarily, & then slowing 
down. Target sightings were all coordinated with 
W.A.R.T.C. [Washington Air Route Traffic Control, 
that is, ARTC] & verified, using radar facilities. An­
other peculiarity noted was the sudden disappearance 
of targets then suddenly reappearing 8-10 mi farther 
along the same course. A couple of aircraft which 
happened to be in the area were given vectors to tar­
gets however I am uncertain of results as this was 
handled by Wash. Radar. We had targets in vicinity of 
ADW(R) [Andrews range], the field & the SHZ [lo­
cation unidentified] vicinity, also NW of us targets 
were present in great No's. The only area relatively 
free was the S.W. Andrews tower personnel were ad­
vised of positions & were attempting to make visual 
sightings-results Unkn. The biggest problem ap­
peared to be the large No. of targets present which 
made it difficult to have any definate [sic] targets sin­
gled out for checking. 

Air Force files also reveal that a report was submitted 
by the 91st Strategic Reconnaissance Wing, Medium 
(meaning that the aircraft flown by the wing were consid-
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ered to have a medium payload) about a sighting by one 
of their flight crews in a B-29 while they were flying at 
9,900 feet. Staff Sergeant David L. Walker was described 
as having three and a half years of experience in the Air 
Force an aerial gunner, as well as duty in the Navy. Ac­
cording to the report: 

Three (3) different amber edged white flashing ob­
jects [were] observed. Travelling [sic] at approxi­
mately speed of sound each caused yellowish trail. 
First object moved across the sky in horseshoe path; 
second appeared to drop vertically; and the move­
ment of the third not identifiable .... 

Visual observation from B-29 cruising at speed at 
altitude of 9,900 feet. Unknown to observor (sic) if 
radar received return on these objects but believed 
radar received return from later object. 

Another report, coming from the "Vicinity of Wilm­
ington, Delaware," included this description: 

A single grey cylindrical object with slightly domed 
top and bottom was observed with the naked eye 
moving along a Northwest-Southeast course .... The 
cylinder appeared moving in an upright position. Just 
prior to the end of the sighting the object briefly re­
flected a silver light then entirely disappeared. 

The Air Force continued its analysis of the sightings, 
with several different departments competing to supply 
the answers. After General Samford's press conference, 
the temperature inversion answer became the preferred 
explanation. In a letter dated August 29, 1952, and sent to 
both Ruppelt and James (the radar expert of Samford's 
conference), it was suggested: 
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The general trend or tone of the available reports of 
the subject targets strongly indicates anomalous (bend­
ing) propagation (temperature inversion and/or mois­
ture lapse) effect on the radiated electromagnetic 
waves of the radar sets, thereby allowing the detec­
tion of ground targets which are not normally seen. 

The author of the letter, Major John E. Libbert, re­
ported, 

There are several factors, given the above [which was 
the temperature at various altitudes on July 26], 
which are favorable for concluding that the subject 
radar targets were actually ground targets which are 
not normally detected. It is considered that an abnor­
mal propagation condition caused a mild bending of 
the radar waves so that the detection of ground tar­
gets were not giving "solid" returns ever antana [sic] 
sweep and could cause a misinterpretation that sta­
tionary ground targets were in [the air and moving]. 

Based on the tone of the investigations, such as they 
were, the statements issued by high-ranking military offi­
cers, and belief that all UFO sightings could be explained 
if there was sufficient data for review, it is now clear that 
the Air Force had found an answer that sounded scien­
tific, objective, and fair. The sightings were the result of 
the mistakes made by the air traffic controllers, the radar 
operators, and an opinion that the solid returns indicated 
a "real" object in the air. When all the factors were 
weighed, it was obvious to the Air Force officers that the 
sightings, for the most part, could be explained. 

It should be noted, however, that the pilot reports and 
the debriefing reports were not present in the files. One of 
the men who had flown an intercept on the second night 
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said that he had been debriefed by military officers and 
men dressed in civilian clothing on a number of occa­
sions. This suggests a real and thorough investigation, but 
that is not represented in the documentation presented to 
Blue Book or found in the microfilm files. 

Ruppelt, in his book published in 1956, suggested that 
the Washington Nationals were still carried on the Blue 
Book files as "unidentified," meaning, simply, that there 
was no definite explanation for the series of sightings on 
either night. However, the Blue Book records suggest 
something else. The sightings are broken down into their 
various components, and each of those is listed in the 
Blue Book master index. Although there are a few that 
are labeled as "Unknown," the majority of them have no 
labels. In other words, no solution is noted, but then, the 
''unidentified'' label has been avoided. Some are listed as 
insufficient data for a scientific analysis, meaning that not 
enough information, according to the Air Force investiga­
tors, had been forwarded for a proper investigation to be 
completed. 

Interestingly, little in the Blue Book files suggests that 
the pilots who had reported UFOs, both military and 
civilian airline pilots, were interviewed. In any case, if 
they were, those interviews were not forwarded to ATIC. 
Instead, summaries of some of the statements and letters 
exchanged between the Air Force and the pilots are men­
tioned. Although the Air Force was writing the sightings 
off as temperature inversion, the pilots did have some in­
teresting stories to tell. 



CHAPTER NINE 

The Pilots' Reports from 
Washington, D.C. 

In the story of the Washington National sightings, a par­
ticular fact stands out. Pilots saw the lights. Military pi­
lots who flew the interceptors did close on the lights, and 
civilian pilots, both commercial and private, saw the 
lights. Whatever was seen on the various radars those 
nights over Washington was visible to the unaided eye. 
Lights, or objects, were in the sky where the radars sug­
gested they should be, and the pilots who were asked to 
look for them found them. 

At his press conference, General Samford knew some 
of this, but not all of it. He did mention Captain Pier­
man's sighting, and that information had been reported in 
the newspapers. Other pilots, especially those involved in 
the last round of sightings, had not been properly de­
briefed at the time of the press conference. No solid in­
vestigation had been completed before the press 
conference, and some of this is an outgrowth of investiga­
tions held years later. 
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Remember, after the targets began appearing on 
the radars-first at Washington National's ARTC­
controllers there checked the equipment to make sure that 
it was functioning properly, and then talked to the men in 
the tower, located about a quarter mile away, to learn if 
their radars showed similar objects. Later still, in commu­
nication with Andrews Air Force Base, those same con­
trollers at the ARTC learned that something appeared on 
the radar there as well. 

Not only were objects being seen on the radars, but the 
men in the tower at Andrews, and some of those on the 
airfield itself, were reporting that they were seeing ob­
jects or lights in the night sky. Those lights, for the most 
part, were small, bright, orange lights that maneuvered 
above Washington. Few witnesses, if any, reported seeing 
anything that resembled a flying saucer or a manufac­
tured craft, because all they saw were lights. And, accord­
ing to the Air Force, many of those lights were really stars 
that were very bright and fooled the men. 

In their attempts to learn what was happening, to iden­
tify the uncorrelated targets on their scopes, the con­
trollers asked the pilots in the area for help. At first, 
before the Air Force arrived with their interceptors, those 
pilots were on commercial airline flights. One of the first 
asked for help, and one who saw the lights being de­
scribed, was Captain Casey Pierman of Capital Airlines 
flight 807. According to Capital Airline officials, the air­
port had picked up the radar targets and asked Pierman to 
look for them. 

Pierman was described as a seventeen-year veteran 
with the airline who lived in Detroit. He reported that, in 
the early morning of July 20, at about two fifteen A.M. 

(though some published stories suggested it was an hour 
later, at three fifteen), he saw seven objects between 
Washington, D.C., and Martinsburg, West Virginia. The 
ARTC had asked him to be on the lookout for something 
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in the sky. He said, "They were like falling stars without 
tails." This is, of course, a description similar to that 
given by others, such as the Air Force personnel at An­
drews. 

In an official report found in the Project Blue Book 
files, Pierman took off from Washington National on a 
heading of 180 degrees, that is, due south, and climbed to 
1200 feet. He slowly changed course to 330 degrees, or 
north-northwest. According to the report: 

CAPTAIN Pierman stated that he switched over from 
Tower Control to AIRWAY TRAFFIC CONTROL 
CENTER (ATCC) at WASHINGTON NATIONAL 
AIRPORT. At this time ATCC informed him that 
their radar scope indicated two or three objects on the 
screen traveling at high speeds. ATCC instructed 
CAPTAIN Pierman to steer 290 degrees so as to in­
tercept the objects, which were approximately nine 
(9) miles ahead of him. At this time CAPTAIN Pier­
man's rate of climb was approximately 600 feet per 
minute and his altitude was between 3500 and 4000 
feet. ... 

Immediately after ATCC instructed CAPTAIN 
Pierman to alter course to 290 degrees he stated that 
the following events occurred within 5-8 minutes in 
the order in which presented and at the approximate 
intervals as indicated: 

a. 3-5 minutes after takeoff-ATCC informed 
pilot that the objects were five (5) miles dis­
tant dead ahead. 

b. 3-5 seconds later-ATCC informed pilot that 
objects were four (4) miles distant. 

c. 1-3 seconds later-ATCC informed pilot that 
objects were at ten (0) o'clock. At this time 
pilot stated he plainly observed a DC-4 type 
aircraft at ten (10) o'clock level proceeding in 
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the opposite direction. This information he re­
ported to ATCC. 

d. 4-5 minutes later-COPILOT [name de­
leted] observed one (1) object bluish white in 
color in a twenty-five degree dive from north­
east to the southwest traveling at a tremen­
dous rate of speed. The copilot told 
CAPTAIN Pierman that he could neither esti­
mate from what altitude the object began its 
descent nor at what altitude it faded. CAP­
TAIN Pierman stated that at this time his alti­
tude was 6000 feet and he could look down 
almost vertically and see CHARLES TOWN, 
WEST VIRGINIA. 

e. Immediately upon sighting CHARLES 
TOWN, CAPTAIN Pierman and his copilot 
observed a brilliant bluish light flash past 
from high over his left and disappear level 
flight ahead travelling [sic] at a tremendous 
rate of speed and appeared to be outside the 
earth's atmosphere. 

f. Next CAPTAIN Pierman and his copilot ob­
served a brilliant bluish white light reappear 
where the last light had disappeared and flash 
past from right to left at approximately 80 de­
grees about the horizon and travelling [sic] at 
a tremendous rate of speed. This light also ap­
peared to be outside the earth's atmosphere. 

4. CAPTAIN Pierman stated that he may have 
seen as many as seven (7) objects during as 
many minutes but due to the fact that things were 
happening so fast he had no way of keeping an 
accurate account of the number of objects. 

Pierman later told reporters for various newspapers 
and radio stations, "In my years of flying I've seen a lot of 
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falling or shooting stars-whatever you call them-but 
these were much faster than anything else that I've ever 
seen. They couldn't have been aircraft. There were mov­
ing too fast for that." 

Pierman provided more description, saying, "They 
were about the same size as the brighter stars. And were 
much higher than our 6,000 foot altitude. [I] couldn't es­
timate the speed accurately. Please remember, 1 didn't 
speak of them as flying saucers--only very fast moving 
lights." 

Pierman said that he was flying at about 180 to 200 
miles an hour when he saw the lights traveling at a 
tremendous speed. He said no special attention was paid 
to these because they could be taken for falling stars. 
Pierman qualified that, however, saying that the lights 
were moving up and down and then changed pace until 
they seemed to hang in the sky. 

Later, he said that he had seen three lights traveling 
horizontally in sight for three to five seconds. He didn't 
know what they could be, only that he had seen strange 
lights. 

Howard Dermott, captain of Capital Airlines flight 
610, was apparently unaware of the sightings around 
Washlngton. He told the controllers at the ARTC that 
while in the vicinity of Hemdron, Virginia, a light seemed 
to be following hlm. The airfield tower at Washington 
National found an object on the radar where Dermott sug­
gested it should be. Those at the ARTC also had a target 
on their scopes. 

Dermott and his crew kept the light under observation. 
The light followed them in the eight o'clock position, or 
to the rear and left of the aircraft. It stayed with them un­
til they were within four miles of the airfield. When Der­
mott radioed that the light was leaving them, the two 
radar scopes, in two separate positions at Washlngton Na­
tional, showed the object moving away from the airliner. 
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Another pilot, unidentified in various records but ap­
parently flying a commercial airliner, reported an object 
near Mount Vernon, Virginia, at about 5000 feet. He said 
that the object came from his right side and he had to veer 
to avoid a collision. 

It was a week later when the events repeated them­
selves. On this Saturday night, military pilots were the 
ones most heavily involved. As had happened the Satur­
day before, there was a delay between the request for in­
terceptors and the arrival of the jets, but, by midnight, 
after the targets had been tracked for about an hour or so, 
two F-94s from New Castle were on the scene. Dewey 
Fournet later said that as the jets arrived, the UFOs disap­
peared from the radar scope. 

The F-94s made a routine search, but the pilots could 
see nothing. The onboard radars failed to detect anything, 
suggesting that any inversion layer in the area was ex­
tremely weak. And, while the aircraft were in the area, no 
targets appeared on the radar scopes at Washington Na­
tional. 

Fred Woods of the Houston UFO Network (HUFON) 
located one of the military fighter pilots involved in these 
intercepts. The pilot said that he, as well as his fellow pi­
lots, were aware of the UFOs seen over Washington. They 
had talked about it, but none of them were very concerned. 
On the night of July 26, he was on the scramble alert, and 
just before midnight, they were ordered into the air. 

He said that they had lifted off from Dover and were 
vectored toward Washington. They normally operated at 
a high altitude, but on this night, they were ordered down 
under 10,000 feet. He also said that usually they were 
sent after objects out over the Atlantic to identify, but this 
time they were kept over dry land. To him, that meant that 
something unusual was happening. 

In a taped interview conducted in front of the HUFON 
group, he said: 
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This night, however. we quickly figured out that we 
were not going to catch or get near this object. Now 
in the little article passed around the room that it's in­
dicated that this was a short duration and short inci­
dent but we tried for a few minutes to acquire the 
object. We tried very hard. We gave it our best shot 
with everything that little airplane had. And that 
night it was state of the art equipment. But the object 
we were trying to catch was too elusive. It moved at 
times above supersonic speeds and other times very 
slowly. The change of direction was so quick. so er­
ratic that there was no wayan aircraft. a manned air­
craft could stay with it or tum, climb or descend. We 
just couldn't catch it. 

My radar operator said that he saw a couple of 
passes on his scope that was in it was a high speed 
object. Like I said, one time it was supersonic. He 
felt supersonic. So, it didn't tak.e but a few minutes. 
That was all we did that night. The object disap­
peared. 

There was another jet that went with us and I don't 
recall the report he might have given when he got 
back. But any rate the reason that I know that I was 
on that mission is because my log book will show 
that I landed at Langley Air Force Base that night. 
The reason I did we had worked south of Washing­
ton, D.C. a little bit and running at low altitudes and 
at high power settings I didn't want to try to go back 
to Dover, Delaware, so I set down at Langley to re­
fuel. And then we went back. 

During Samford's press conference, he said that one of 
the interceptors had detected something on his radar, but 
Samford said it was the other airplane and not a UFO. 
This pilot, however, who was there, and who knew where 
the other aircraft was, knew that Samford's off-the-cuff 
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remark did not reflect reality. The object they detected 
was not the other fighter. 

Once the jets had disappeared from the radars, the 
UFOs returned. With the UFOs back on the scopes, the 
ARTC again requested interceptors and another two 
F-94s were dispatched. This time the UFOs didn't disap­
pear and the situation became, according to Fournet, 
"Pretty hairy." 

This time the pilots were able to see the objects and 
were vectored toward them by the air traffic controllers. 
But the fighters couldn't close on the lights. The pilots 
saw no external details other than lights where the radar 
suggested that something should be seen. 

This wasn't quite the end, however. The military pilots 
still had to be debriefed. Remember, Ruppelt had sug­
gested that those military officers and tower personnel at 
Andrews had been persuaded to alter their stories 
slightly. Pressure from above suggested explanations 
about the UFOs those men had reported. The situation 
with the pilots wasn't any different. 

According to the pilot of one of the first intercepts: 

The next day back at Dover some strange things hap­
pened. I started getting interviewed by ranking offi­
cers. They take the radar officer that was with me into 
separate rooms and debrief us. Now it wasn't like 
you were in Vietnam, where they pulled your finger­
nails out and do worse. They threatened you. And 
they did certain things that I was surprised [at]. It re­
ally surprised me. And then when [it] came to an end 
in a few days, they said, "You are not to say a word 
about this to anybody." They even threatened me 
with a court martial. 

He elaborated on the interrogation, saying, 
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Concerning the interrogation phase that I had right 
after the attempted interception, we were called in 
separately, as I said. We were called in several times. 
It wasn't just one time but it was several times. It 
seemed to get a little bit heavier all the time. A little 
bit more serious all the time. Thinking back on this, 
the ranking officer was trying to get something out of 
us, to tell them something. What could I tell him but 
what I've told you? I told them the same story over 
and over. Sometimes I felt like maybe they didn't be­
lieve me, but they had my radar operator and they 
had other crews that had been on the same type of in­
cident. We just were frank with them. After a few 
minutes they just told us that "We want you to forget 
about it, it didn't happen, don't ever talk about it to 
anybody ... " I don't remember the exact questions at 
this time. 

We [meaning he and his fellow pilots] just didn't 
talk about it. I knew there were some others at other 
bases that had scrambled on such objects .... I was 
one of those on that particular mission that night. 

He did say, however, that he didn't have a visual sight­
ing of the blips detected by his onboard radars. He said 
that the visibility was very good and that he could see far 
outside the cockpit. He just didn't see anything that could 
be considered to be a UFO. 

The pilot was asked about the chances that he had 
made some kind of mistake or that the blips on the radar 
had been weather-related phenomena. He said: 

Chances are that the blips that were seen at the time I 
was [in] Dover, Delaware, were some weather ... I 
don't think so. Because there were too many times 
and because these radar operators who were on the 
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ground-both the USAF service ground radar and 
the air traffic controllers-had too much experience. 
There were too many of them and too much experi­
ence to be put off as something that was a tempera­
ture inversion or something they mistook. I don't 
believe that. 

What all this suggests is that there was something in 
the air over Washington, D.C., and it wasn't just a tem­
perature inversion. Yes, it is certainly possible that the 
men in the various radar facilities at Washington National 
and at Andrews could have been fooled. That does not ex­
plain the visual sightings from all the other locations, nor 
does it explain the interceptor pilots' or airline pilots' ex­
periences. 



CHAPTER TEN 

The Pilots' Reports from 
the Rest of the Country 

Other fighter pilots in other parts of the country were 
having the same problems as those flying over the Wash­
ington, D.C., area. In those other locations fighters were 
scrambled as the radar operators tried to vector them to­
ward the UFOs. Early on the morning of July 29, the 
scene shifted from Washington, D.C., to Osceola, Wis­
consin. 

According to the reports, again available in the Project 
Blue Book files: 

Numerous unidentified flying objects of undeter­
mined size and shape were sighted by ground elec­
tronic means between 0130 and 0230 (lasting 1 
hour) ... by members of a radar unit located near 
Osceola, Wisconsin, who were on duty. Size of blips 
which constituted the sightings were normal with the 
exception of one large well-defined target, speed of 
this target was 600 knots as computed on the radar 



150 INVASION WASHINGTON 

scope set on the fifty nautical mile range. The re­
mainder of the sightings were individual sightings 
having multiple targets, up to ten, appearing in a 
loose cluster on the radar scope, speed of these tar­
gets was fifty to sixty knots as computed on the radar 
scope set on the fifty nautical mile range. The only 
possible formation noted during the entire sighting 
period was during one or two of the sightings which 
consisted of multiple target" when two or three of 
these targets might possibly have been moving in a 
loose formation. All targets suddenly appeared on the 
radar scope and after having traveled between thirty 
and seventy nautical miles would just as suddenly 
disappear. Targets did not appear on the height indi­
cator due to anomalous propagation. Targets fol­
lowed a general pattern of appearing on the radar 
scope SW of the sighting station and proceeding 
E[ast] until disappearing. There was a continual 
overlapping of patterns on the radar scope; a new pat­
tern would have appeared before the old pattern 
would have disappeared. In the sightings which con­
sisted of multiple targets, with the exception of possi­
ble formation movement, targets progressed across 
the radar scope, until disappearing, independently of 
each other in regard to track and heading with some 
targets making a turning course. There was some cor­
relation between these electronic sightings and visual 
sightings made by a pilot scrambled in conjunction 
with the radar sightings. This correlation placed both 
types of sightings in the same area at the same time. 
Pilot estimated height of objects he visually saw at 
125,000 feet. Sighting station was specifically 
searching for possible unidentified flying objects at 
time of first sighting due to a GOC [Ground Ob­
servers Corps] report of visual sighting of unidenti­
fied flying objects. 
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One F-51 [known as the P-51 Mustang during 
World War II] aircraft was sent to sighting area for 
purpose of intercepting and/or identifying unknown 
targets. Pilot did report visually sighting unidentified 
flying object but interception and/or identification 
was not possible. This action occurred between 0130 
and 0255. 

Appended at the end of the document were the ATIC 
comments. According to them: 

Report indicates that anomalous propagation was af­
fecting the radar performance. This condition would 
allow detection of ground targets which are not nor­
mally detected. This would explain movement of tar­
gets unless weather conditions were such that every 
target (ground) was not detected in each sweep of the 
antenna thereby causing an apparent movement of 
stationary targets. A firm analysis cannot be made. 

The final conclusion, according to the report, was "un­
known." 

Another document in the file, prepared by an intelli­
gence officer, described the objects. The description, 
however, was based on the "electronic" detection of the 
UFOs rather than any of the visual sightings. The report 
said: 

Size of the blips which constituted the sightings were 
normal with the exception of one (1) large well de­
fined target ... speed of this target was 600 knots as 
computed on the radar scope ... The remainder of 
the sightings were individual .. . 

One of the points that is important but that is almost 
ignored in the official documentation is that the search for 
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the UFOs was initiated by sightings from the Ground Ob­
servers Corps. These trained men and women were on 
duty to watch the skies for possible sneak attack from a 
terrestrially based enemy. At the time that enemy would 
have been the Soviet Union. Without the Ground Ob­
servers Corps' visual, ground-based sightings, the radar 
operators would not have been searching for anything un­
usual and the UFOs might have gone unnoticed. 

The ground-based visual sightings were all rather 
vague and seemed to match the descriptions given in 
Washington, D.C., a few days earlier. According to the 
handwritten report from an ainnan second class: 

The object seemed to be a shooting star at first but 
appeared and dissappeared [sic] in an arc starting 
about over the pump room and extending to about the 
boiler shack [which were, obviously, ground-based 
reference points that provide no modern clues as to 
size]. I was located on top of the operations building, 
over this arc it appeared and dissapearred [sic] about 
three times. 

In a similar statement, another ainnan [name deleted 
by Air Force officers in 1976], wrote: 

I [name deleted], being of sound mind do hereby 
state that I saw following occurance [sic] ... Stand­
ing on top of operations roof and saw flashes of light 
at different intervals that appeared as if they were in 
one same cycle. These flashes of light that were seen 
by me appeared to be between 15 and 30 degrees 
above the horizon and seemed to leave a trace for a 
second. 

A very interesting note in the file revealed the exis­
tence of "16 mm film, July 29, 1952 Osceola, Wisc. Mul-
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tiple observers. In custody of Audio-Visual archives." 
This might refer to the radar scope photographs taken 
during the sightings because there is no suggestion of 
analysis of any sort of movie footage, nor is there any 
suggestion that this might be gun camera film from the 
lone fighter scrambled. Air Force records provide no clue 
about the movie footage. 

The file also lacks a statement given by the fighter pi­
lot. He was apparently dispatched from another unit and 
the investigation centered on the radar operators and ob­
servers stationed in the Osceola area. The investigating 
officer was more impressed with the electronic sightings, 
believing them to be more reliable than the visual sight­
ings made by the low-ranking enlisted men. Lieutenant 
Colonel Willard L. Worden wrote, "The significance of 
this report lies in the fact that these sightings are elec­
tronic sightings made and recorded by competent person­
nel." 

The following evening, at about 9:40 P.M., another 
radar site, this one in central Michigan, began to detect a 
solid target as it flew south across the Saginaw Bay in the 
area of Port Huron. It was traveling at 625 miles an hour 
and wasn't a jet, according to the local radar operators 
and observers. They checked the flight plans from around 
the local area and found no explanation among them for 
the UFO. 

There were three F-94s in the local area on various 
training missions and one was diverted to identify the 
UFO. When the pilot reached an altitude of about 20,000 
feet, the ground controller told him to turn. As he did, 
both he and his radar operator in the backseat saw a 
bright blue light that was quite a bit larger than a star. As 
they watched, it turned reddish and then began to shrink 
as if it were flying away from them. The ground radar 
controller said that he had both the UFO and the jet on his 
scope and that the UFO had made a ISO-degree turn. 
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The F-94 couldn't match the turn, and the speed of the 
UFO suggested that it had to be some kind of a jet. The 
pilot rolled around, leveled, and then began a high-speed 
pursuit using the afterburners. The F-94's radar operator 
was able to get a lock on, using the onboard radar. He 
said that the object was as big as blips made by the largest 
military bombers. 

The chase lasted for about thirty seconds or so as the 
jet slowly began to close the distance between it and the 
unidentified object. The ground controller said that 
the distance, according to his calculations, was about four 
miles. At about that time the object brightened consider­
ably and the distance between the jet and the object dou­
bled in a single sweep of the radar antenna. 

The chase lasted another ten minutes, with the jet peri­
odically closing the distance to the UFO, and then having 
the object flash far ahead. No one was sure what the top 
speed of the UFO was because the sudden bursts were too 
short for anyone to get an accurate reading. Estimates, 
however, suggested that the UFO could fly as fast as 1400 
miles an hour, much faster than any aircraft in the then­
known inventory. 

With the F-94 getting low on fuel, the intercept ended. 
As the jet turned away, the ground-based radar suggested 
the UFO had slowed to about 200 to 300 miles an hour. 
These plots weren't too accurate because the UFO was at 
the outer range of the radar's capability. 

This case is important because, once again, it involves 
military pilots, a visual observation, and a radar track. 
The UFO seemed to respond to the presence of the jet, 
speeding ahead and then slowing enough to let the F-94 
close the distance before flashing ahead again. The visual 
sighting of a bright blue light is not much of a descrip­
tion, but it does show that something was in the sky over 
the radar station. And to many, the UFO's maneuvering 
seemed to rule the possibility of a weather-related target 
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that had been offered as an explanation for the Washing­
ton Nationals only a couple of hours earlier by General 
Samford and his staff. 

On August 1, 1952, over a small town in Ohio named 
Bellefontaine, radar contact was made with something 
moving very fast. Movie footage was taken, but this time 
the photographer was an Air Force pilot, and the camera 
he used was the gun camera on the wing of his F-86 in­
terceptor. Later Air Force analysis suggested that the ob­
ject photographed was nothing more extraordinary than a 
weather balloon at a very high altitude that had been 
misidentified. 

According to the Air Force records available in the 
Project Blue Book files: 

At 1551Z [or just before ten A.M. local time], a radar 
track appeared 20 miles NNW of W-P [Wright­
Patterson] AFB. The course was 240 degrees at 400 
knots. Two F-86's under Gel control were then lo­
cated ten miles SW of that position. The fighters 
were vectored and made visual contact at 1555Z. 
Fighters stayed with the object until 1613Z [or about 
eighteen minutes]. 

One of the documents, which listed the pilots of the 
two aircraft as a major, identified later as James B. Smith, 
and a lieutenant, identified as Donald J. Hemmer (or 
Herner, depending on the source) reported that: 

The F-86's climbed to 48,000 feet. The major made a 
camera run the second time and received a weak re­
turn on his radar gunsight. The lieutenant's sight was 
"caged" [meaning that it was turned off and locked 
down] so he received no return. The major estimated 
the object at 12,000-20,000 feet above his altitude of 
48,000 feet. This estimate was substantiated by the 
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range capability of the radar gunsight [meaning that 
if the object had been much farther away, there 
would have been no return]. The object's size, ac­
cepting the source's estimate of distance, was 24-40 
feet in diameter and source said his optical sight just 
covered the object. The films were not sufficiently 
clear. The object appeared as a fuzzy, small image in 
the upper right comer with discernable motion to the 
lower left. 

The investigating officer made a couple of notes that 
are quite important. First, he wrote, "Re-affinnation that 
the UFO moved at 400 knots and indication that the two 
F-86's and UFO appeared simultaneously on the Gel 
scope." Second, he suggested, "It is obvious that all eyes 
and antennas were fixed on the same object." 

In the comments section of the report, the officer 
wrote: 

The object was not a balloon, since the speed was too 
fast [winds aloft data suggest the winds at that alti­
tude were blowing between 25 and 32 knots]. A raw­
insonde was released at 1500Z and moved off to the 
east. The object moved against the wind. The blip 
size was that of a normal aircraft. The object was not 
a known aircraft because the altitude was too high. 
The object was not astronomical as dual radar returns 
eliminate this. Electronic or visual mirage of meteor­
ological phenomenon is out of the question as the 
radar set was on high beam, and both would not oc­
cur simultaneously in the same place .... [The con­
clusion was] Unknown. 

According to the Project Blue Book files, the final con­
clusion after investigation was that the radar sighting was 
an aircraft and that the visual sighting, as well as the gun 
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camera films, were of a balloon. The Air Force files 
noted: 

[T]he radar did not, however, have a height 
finder .... when they reached the area the controller 
requested them to get a visual. At approximately this 
time the ground radar failed .... The original object 
painted by the radar was an aircraft flying out of 
Cleveland. The object sighted by the pilots later was 
positively identified as an upper air research balloon. 

Donald Menzel reviewed the case in one of his UFO­
debunking books, The World of Flying Saucers. He 
wrote: 

[T]he radar operator at the Air Defense command 
post picked up an unidentified target north of Dayton, 
moving southwest at a speed of about 525 miles an 
hour. 1\\'0 jets from Wright-Patterson Air Force Base 
were scrambled for an intercept. 

Menzel noted, correctly, that there was no height­
finding capability on the radar, so the operator could only 
direct them toward the target but could not tell them if it 
was above or below them. Menzel wrote: 

A few seconds later, the returns from the jets and the 
UFO blended on the radarscope and the operator ad­
vised the pilots that they would have to continue the 
search visually .... Soon after communication be­
tween ground and air had ended, the lead pilot ob­
served a silver-colored sphere several thousand feet 
above him. Both jets went after it but although they 
climbed to their maximum altitude, 40,000 feet, nei­
ther could get close enough to identify the object, 
which was still some 30,000 feet above them. One 
pilot, however, managed to expose several feet of 



158 INVASION WASHINGTON 

film with his gun camera. At the same moment the 
warning light on his gunsight blinked on to indicate it 
detected a solid object ... 

Menzel added: 

Both pilots then realized that, although they had been 
chasing an unknown for some ten minutes, they were 
still northwest of the base in almost the same area 
where they had started the intercept. This surprising 
fact seemed to indicate that the unknown had slowed 
down from its original speed of 525 miles an hour, to 
hover in the sky nearly motionless. 

Menzel, the Air Force, and "flying-saucer addicts" (as 
Menzel described them) realized the importance of the 
case. Menzel noted that one of those flying-saucer addicts 
had commented, "For the first time a saucer had been 
photographed during simultaneous radar and visual sight­
ings, with the camera 'plane [sic] also locked on by radar. 
It was absolute proof that this saucer was a solid object, a 
controlled disc-shaped machine." 

While it isn't true that anyone had described a "disc­
shaped" machine, this is one UFO sighting that had mul­
tiple chains of evidence. There was the radar sighting that 
started it; the visual sighting by the pilots, corroborated 
by the onboard radar; and finally, the motion picture film 
taken by the gun camera. Three different types of evi­
dence, each corroborating one another. Clearly there was 
no hoax here in the sighting report and certainly no fak­
ing of motion picture film. Just as clearly, there was no 
mirage, because the radar sightings established that a 
solid object was in the sky. Finally, the visual sighting by 
the pilots provided another perspective for investigators. 
The only element that could be added would have been 
additional witnesses on the ground or in the air. This truly 
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was a very important case, one that could go a long way 
to establishing the reality of the flying saucers. 

According to Menzel, the Air Force investigators 
eventually found "the more prosaic though complicated 
solution to the puzzle." The object picked up by radar 
was, according to Menzel and the Air Force, a jet plane 
flying out of Cleveland, Ohio. At the time the radar return 
was discovered, the low-flying jet was "on a southwest 
heading, at a speed of around 525 miles an hour-the ex­
act time, position, and speed of the radar unknown." Of 
course, the speed, as outlined in the file was only 400 
miles an hour, hardly the "exact" speed of the jet. 

The pilots, according to this explanation, didn't see the 
jet, which was below them and far away. What they had 
seen was a twenty-foot in diameter radiosonde balloon 
that had been released about an hour earlier. The ground 
radar did not "see" the balloon because the operator was 
concentrating on the fast-moving UFO. 

A reason for the confusion was that the ground radar 
did not have height-finding equipment. Without that, the 
jet, tracked by the ground was confused with the balloon 
seen by the pilots. According to Menzel, "At 30,000 feet 
the pilots were too high to see the Cleveland jet far below 
them." 

Had the radar not failed at this point, the operator 
would have seen the jet continuing on its path while the 
pilots continued to watch the sphere above them. The 
radar operator would have been able to redirect the pilot's 
attention to the object that had fooled him in the begin­
ning, and they would have then been able to identify the 
jet. 

According to Menzel: 

The photographs [taken by the gun camera] con­
firmed this reconstruction of a complicated series of 
events. The pictures obtained by the gun camera dis-
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played a round, indistinct blur. Analysis showed that 
the size of the object was that of a twenty-foot 
sphere-a balloon-photographed from a distance of 
30,000 feet. 

Ruppelt, in his book, The Report on Unidentified FLy­
ing Objects, also wrote about this case. He noted that "At 
exactly ten forty-five on the morning of August 1, 1952, 
an ADC [Air Defense Command] radar near Belle­
fontaine, Ohio, picked up a high-speed unidentified tar­
get" and suggested that the object "continued on its 
southwesterly course at about 525 miles an hour." Rup­
pelt also wrote that the lead interceptor pilot knew that he 
wasn't chasing a hallucination, mirage, sundog, or re­
flected light. 

The Air Force investigator on this case, Lieutenant 
Andy Flues interviewed the interceptor pilots and ob­
tained a copy of the gun camera film, which he took to the 
base photo lab at Wright-Patterson. There he asked them 
a very basic question. He wanted to know what a twenty 
foot-in-diameter weather balloon would look like on 
16mm movie film if it was about 30,000 feet (around six 
miles) away. The lab, according to Ruppelt, said that it 
would look pretty much like the object photographed by 
the major's (that is, the interceptor pilot's) gun camera. 

There is, in the official file, a one-page "Air Intelli­
gence Information Report" that appears to be a carbon 
copy of something else. It is badly smeared in places, and 
nearly indistinct in others. It contains some information 
that tends to corroborate the story as reported by Menzel 
but contradicts other reports also in that file. 

The document begins by noting, "Observed by lILt. 
James Lott," and provides both his home address and his 
telephone number. Then, in a single paragraph, the story 
is told again. According to the document: 
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At 1551Z [3:51 in the afternoon, Greenwich Mean 
Time] a track appeared on the scope 20 miles north 
northeast of Wright-Patterson field. Two F-86's un­
der control were then located 10 miles southeast of 
that position. Major Smith of the 97th Fighter Inter­
ceptor Squadron [unreadable] flight leader. The track 
was making a ground speed of 450 knots so a cut off 
vector was given. The flight leader immediately tally 
hoed at 1055Z [clearly a mistake, the time should 
read "L" or local] on the track and the heading was 
changed 30 degrees to cut the track off more. [Un­
readable] clock position was affirmed by flight 
leader. Track was on scope for 15 miles heading 240 
degrees from time of pickup. Flight leader reported 
object as silver in color round in shape. Flight leader 
climbed to 40,000 feet, and estimated object at 
70,000 feet. Flight of F-86's stayed with object until 
1113L [local time] returning to base low on fuel. At 
the time it was dropped object was 5 miles northwest 
of Springfield, Ohio. Attempt had been made to get 
gun camera film. 

There is one other fact that is interesting. On a copy of 
the original report, in which the unidentified officer re­
ported that the case was unknown, someone else made 
notes. Over the comment about the speed of the object, he 
had scribbled, "but speed relative!" And, near the sugges­
tion the case was "Unknown," he had written "unless 
backend of jet exhaust photographed." 

That about covers all the information in the Blue Book 
file, with the exception of the radar report form. Of inter­
est on the form is the name of Lieutenant Lott, who ap­
parently was the radar officer during the intercept, and a 
note that the speed of the object was constant at 400 
knots. 
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Here is an important case that seems to have been lost 
in the publicity that the Washington Nationals generated. 
In Washington, there were only radar tracks and at­
tempted intercepts, but no photographs. Here, there is no 
indication temperature inversion that could cause the 
radar returns and the mysterious object, there are visual 
sightings, and the all-important gun camera film. 

Like the Washington Nationals, the explanation has 
been distorted. There is nothing in the file to suggest that 
the track of the object 525 knots as claimed by Menzel. 
Given the onboard radar indication, and the estimate of 
the pilot, the object was not 30,000 feet above him, but 
12,000 to 20,000 feet. The analysis of the film, if the dis­
tances are changed, eliminates the balloon explanation. 
The Air Force, however, has a thing about balloons. They 
blame them for everything. 

Ignoring Menzel's analysis because it simply does not 
square with any of the facts in the file, and ignoring the 
Air Force claim that this has been absolutely identified as 
a balloon, there is one other fact to consider. The pilots 
were interviewed by a newspaper. One of them said, "I 
don't think the light was reflected. I deliberately maneu­
vered around it at several angles to make sure it wasn't a 
reflection." 

The article also reported that the officers had sug­
gested that the object disappeared at a high rate of speed. 
This is not suggestive of a balloon or any sort of natural 
phenomena. It does suggest, however, that something un­
usual was seen. 

These were the last comments reported because, ac­
cording to the story, the pilots were ordered to stop com­
menting on the sighting. It just wasn't good form to have 
Air Force interceptor pilots reporting they had seen 
something that they couldn't catch, that it had disap­
peared, and that they had photographs of it. There was 
simply too much information about it. Besides, what did 
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it say about the Air Force if their pilots couldn't tell a bal­
loon when they saw one? 

Although the lion's share of the publicity about UFOs 
on radar went to the Washington Nationals, these other 
intercepts provide important clues about what was hap­
pening in July 1952. They provide a glimpse into the atti­
tudes of the men investigating UFOs, and at those who 
are explaining UFOs. It also tells us something about hu­
man attitudes at the time. 

But attempted intercepts weren't the only cases being 
reported in 1952. Dozens of cases were reported from 
around the country after the last sightings were made in 
the Washington, D.C., area. Those sightings suggested 
that UFOs were overlying all of the United States. Those 
sightings suggested that the UFO sightings were not lim­
ited to Washington, D.C., or the East Coast. A great deal 
of information was gathered, suggesting some interesting 
things about the 1952 summer wave of UFO reports. 



------------~II~------------

CHAPTER ELEVEN 

The End of July 

The UFO sightings throughout the country did not end 
with the last of the Washington National reports. More 
military installations, more military officers, and more 
military pilots were making reports of UFOs during the 
end of the month. These sightings seemed to mirror those 
in the Washington, D.C., area, but they did not involve the 
numbers, nor did they receive the national attention of 
those in Washington, D.C. 

On July 26, 1952, Airman First-Class J. M. Donaldson, 
while walking near the service club on Kirtland Air Force 
Base in Albuquerque, New Mexico, reported that he saw 
eight orange balls in a triangular formation cross the sky 
from west to east without making a sound. He only saw 
the objects for three or four seconds. In his short report, 
filed with Project Blue Book, he wrote, "I did not observe 
any exhaust or trail from these objects ... I observed these 
objects for approximately 3 or 4 seconds. They seemed to 
be traveling west to east and were north of my position." 
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The Air Force investigation was conducted by a local 
intelligence officer, First Lieutenant Glen D. Parrish. He 
noted that the statement by Donaldson was "sworn and 
suscribed [sic] before me," and that he believed "the reli­
ability of the observer is considered excellent." 

Of course, the problem with Donaldson's sighting is 
that he was the only witness to make any sort of state­
ment, and given the nature of the observation, as well as 
the length of it, there was little chance that a plausible ex­
planation would be found. The Air Force, with uncharac­
teristic candor, labeled the sighting as ''unidentified,'' 
though, in this case, it might have been more accurate to 
suggest that it was "insufficent" for a proper and scien­
tific analysis. 

A day later, from Selfridge Air Force Base in Michi­
gan, three bomber crewman-Captain Cyril H. Rogers, 
Jr.; First Lieutenant Malvin W. Samuel; and Staff Sergeant 
Kenneth E. Kling-while on the ground watched five 
silvery-white objects flying in a loose trail formation. The 
first two UFOs were close together, but the last three did 
not fly at any sort of regularly spaced interval. They just 
seemed to follow the path of the first group. 

Jet fighters were in the area at the time ofthe sighting, 
and one was seen crossing the sky after the last of the 
UFOs had disappeared. The witnesses suggested that the 
UFOs were faster than the jet, having just seen them. It is 
also apparent that the jets were not attempting to intercept 
the UFOs, and there is no evidence that the objects were 
seen on radar by any of the base facilities. 

Again, the Air Force believed that the witnesses were 
all very reliable, were familiar with aircraft, and were all 
members of a combat flying crew. The Air Force was un­
able to explain the sighting and it is carried as an 
"unidentified" in the Blue Book files. 

About ten hours later, that is, about eight thirty that 
evening, Adrian Ellis and his wife in Wichita Falls, Texas, 
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reported they watched two glowing, circular objects fly 
by at about a thousand miles an hour. The UFOs came to 
a complete stop, flew in a half circle, and then flew off in 
a straight line. The objects had no exhaust and left no 
trail. They were in sight for about fifteen seconds, so that 
the witnesses had enough time to identify them as con­
ventional objects had they been airplanes, weather bal­
loons, or atmospheric phenomena. 

The following day, July 28, at McGuire Air Force 
Base, the ground radar operators reported that they had 
detected UFOs at various points within thirty miles of the 
base. Master Sergeant William F. Dees, provided draw­
ings of the objects as they appeared on the radar, and told 
the investigator, Staff Sergeant Dennis G. Washburn, that 
the objects remained in the area for about fifty-five min­
utes. Dees said that he had contacted the control tower to 
tell them about the UFOs and that two of the men there 
said they had seen the UFO through binoculars. 

Dees supplied a statement to the Air Force that said: 

Turned on scans [radar] at 0600 and observed 
scopes ... Contacted Dog Catcher [code name of the 
unit at McGUire]. In a period of time about two 
sweeps or so the blips move about and change their 
pattern ... until at 0620 they lined up ... All returns 
were clearly defined radar targets ... At 0652 and 
0655 the returns ... lined up in perfect echelon ... 
Four (4) clear blips lined up and then several more 
moved from the big cluster 20 to 25 miles out down 
to the line and made about eight (8) in a perfect 
spaced row. 

Dees' statement isn't very exciting. It refers to blips on 
a radar screen, and frankly, they could be just about any­
thing. However, in the control tower, Staff Sergeant 
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Thomas R. Dunn and Airman Second Class Albert M. 
Holmes, saw the objects. According to the statement they 
gave the Air Force investigator: 

At 0600 D.S.T. [daylight savings time], G.C.A. ad­
vised of various targets to the southeast ... Then 
they advised one target had left the bunch and pro­
ceeded north and then turned west. We sighted this 
aircraft passing seven to eight miles north of the sta­
tion ... It was a B-25 or B-26. 

Then approximately 3 to 5 minutes later at 0610 
D.S.T. we sighted another object northeast of the 
field ... There was a sound at the same time that was 
similar to a fog hom or a boat whistle. The object at 
first appeared to be a bomber type aircraft, but as it 
was about 10 miles northeast at an altitude of 8000 or 
9000 feet, it was hard to determine any silhouette. 

The object was moving at conventional speed di­
rectly inbound to the field. The two of us on duty 
were observing this object through sets of binoculars 
by this time. It was a steep turn, or an abrupt tum, 
with no noticeable increase in speed. When inbound 
the object seemed to be reflecting the sun's rays off 
the left side, the sun being to the object's left, but in 
turn what seemed to be the reflection remained on the 
same spot on the object and two more bright 
yellowish-orange reflections appeared after complet­
ing the tum, leaving one light on either side and one 
light at the rear of the object moving away. It was at 
this time we noted that it was not reflection but some 
other cause for the light on the object. 

The object had no known silhouette. It appeared 
sort of oblong with no visible tailor wing sections. 
Then the object flew northeast at the same rate of 
speed until it was out of sight. 
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The investigating officer then reviewed in detail the 
statements made by Dees, Dunn, and Holmes. He found 
nothing to suggest that the object seen from the tower, 
which neither Dunn nor Holmes could identify as any 
kind of a conventional craft. That one sighting was left as 
an "unidentified." 

Nor was any good explanation offered for what Dees 
had watched on the radar scope. There were multiple tar­
gets, all looked to be solid and although there were some 
weather related targets present, Dees had spotted and 
marked those. The question that could not be answered 
was if the single object seen by the men in the tower was 
one of the objects that Dees was watching on radar. 

One other important point comes out of this sighting. 
Air Force investigators had often suggested that the 
longer the UFO was in sight, and the better trained the 
witnesses, the less likely that the sighting would remain 
unidentified. In this case, the observers were well trained, 
at least in aircraft recognition because that was part of 
their job. They had the object in sight long enough to get 
a very good look at it, and they observed it through binoc­
ulars. In other words, the criterion the Air Force sug­
gested would help solve UFO sightings prohibited the 
solution here. There was just too much information avail­
able for them to suggest one of the possible solutions. 

In stark contrast to the work done by the Air Force in­
vestigator at McGuire is the report that comes from Mc­
Chord Air Force Base in Washington. The only 
investigative work here seems to be the message sent by 
teletype to the various Air Force agencies that received 
UFO sighting reports. 

According to the teletype, the witnesses, identified 
only by their military ranks and last names, were T/Sgt 
Walstead and Staff Sergeant Calkins. They watched a 
dull, bluish-green, glowing ball of light that they believed 
was at about 20,000 feet. They said that it was traveling 
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as fast or faster than meteorites. They said that it wasn't a 
meteorite, and that they had an unobscured view of the 
sky. 

A second sighting was made by Mrs. Leidy of the 
Ground Observer Corps at about the same time. She re­
ported that it moved "sparodically [sic]" back and forth, 
and that it had no propulsion, no sound, and no trails. The 
object disappeared straight up. 

The sightings continued to pour into the Air Force. 
One of the better such reports came on July 29 near 
Merced, California. According to the Air Force investiga­
tive report: 

Late in the afternoon on 29 July 1952, Mr. [name 
deleted by the Air Force] and an employee of his, 
[name deleted] were standing in front of his house 
waiting for some friends of the family to arrive. Mr. 
[name deleted] and [name deleted] had just returned 
from their job ... At approximately 1544 PDT they 
heard a noise which sounded like a jet fighter passing 
over and they both looked up to see it. After scanning 
the sky for a moment they spotted a dark object in the 
sky ... to the Southeast. At first glance they both 
thought it was a buzzard however they immediately 
changed their minds for this object was perfectly 
round ... he estimated its actual size as slightly 
larger than a B-29 and all thru [sic] the interview 
continued to emphasize the impression he received 
of its large size. When the object first appeared it 
seemed to be just below the clouds which more or 
less covered the sky, which was estimated to be about 
12,000 feet. Right after they spotted the object it 
tipped on edge into a steep dive towards them, diving 
about two or three thousand feet. During this dive 
they got a good end view of the object which [name 
deleted] described as "like a discus from the 
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side" ... At the end of the dive the object did not 
round out like an airplane but righted itself smoothly 
and stopped momentarily before beginning a slow 
circle to the left. It was at this time that they noticed a 
translucent silvery light behind the object a distance 
equal to two diameters of the object itself and appar­
ently not connected. At first sighting the object ap­
peared to be black however not its color seemed to be 
a dark blue "similar to the color Navy planes are 
painted." The object circled slowly to the left com­
pleting the circle, then made a second circle, and fi­
nally took off at high speed to the North Northeast 
towards Castle AF Base and also towards a large hole 
in the clouds about eight miles away where blue sky 
was showing through ... The object passed out of 
sight thru [sic] this hole. Mr. [name deleted] who 
claims to be able to estimate distances quite will [sic] 
due to experience in chasing brush and forest fires by 
estimating the distance of the smoke stated that the 
object traveled about 10 miles in 10 seconds on its 
departure. He further stated that its speed appeared to 
be very much faster than that of two B-29's which 
were in the area at the time, one to the Northwest and 
the other to the South. 

Aside from the noise which attracted their atten­
tion initially no other sound was heard which could 
be attributed to the object. All of its movements were 
extremely smooth as was its accelleration [sic] on de­
parture. The object was in view for a full 2 minutes 
and was viewed against a background of clouds until 
it passed thru the hole. 

The report contained in the Blue Book files is incom­
plete. There is no record card, and no additional informa­
tion, other than that the case is considered "unidentified." 
Major William H. Timlin, the 93rd Bomb Wing Intelli-
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gence officer, prepared the report based on a detailed in­
terview conducted by Captain Gerald S. Chapman. 

Chapman did note that the witness was 

self-employed in a small but thriving business ... He 
enlisted in the Air Force in 1942 and was enrolled as 
a navigation student but "washed out" for physical 
reasons. He served the rest of his time with a ground 
radar unit at Boca Baton [obviously Raton], Florida, 
and was discharged in 1945. He impressed me as be­
ing very sincere, and one not readily excited. He said 
he was reluctant to tell anyone about what he saw be­
cause of their probably [sic] reaction, but he is posi­
tive that what he saw was no ordinary object, and was 
real. 

At this point-that is, July 29, 1952-the Blue Book 
files become confusing. The project cards, which give the 
location, time, date, conclusions, and a brief description 
of the sighting, are missing. File after file is thrown to­
gether so that it becomes difficult to tell which report 
goes with which file. The master index is some help in 
sorting through the mess, and that does, for the most part, 
provide conclusions to the various reports made during 
July 29 to the end of the month, but it does not solve all 
the problems. 

One of the most comprehensive of the files, which in­
cludes numerous military and civilian witnesses, was 
listed in the master index as taking place at Ennis, Mon­
tana. Without the card to separate the file from other re­
ports, and with a master report that was generated at 
Kelly Air Force Base near San Antonio, Texas, it would 
be easy to overlook this report. Given the length of time 
over which the objects were seen, and given the number 
of witnesses involved, it is too important to ignore. 

The case began, apparently, in Seattle, Washington. 
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Someone there called the Air Force base at Great Falls, 
Montana, alerting them that UFOs were on the way. One 
of the statements, written by a captain whose name was 
deleted, reported: 

A little background of this incident will clarify the 
statements that I, Captain [name deleted] have to 
make. The question was asked by myself to the 
[names deleted]. "How did they know to go outside 
and look for these flying saucers?" The statement she 
(Mrs. [name deleted)) made was that they had heard 
a transmission over the squawk box that flying 
saucers had been reported and that they were headed 
toward Great Falls. I asked her where the transmis­
sion came from and she did not know as it came 
through the squawk box. 

The captain said that he was outside one of the 
hangars, and looking to the east when he saw two objects, 
hovering. The captain noted, "The altitude which these 
objects were cannot be estimated due to the fact of not 
knowing size or conception of these objects I was unable 
to determine the altitude." 

Although it is clear from his report that he was not 
happy about seeing the objects, he reported, 

The appearance of the objects did actually have the 
size of a cup's saucer and appeared to have a flat alu­
minum base ... These two objects were stationary 
when I first saw them, for approximately 3 or 4 min­
utes. Suddenly one came in at about a 45 degree an­
gle, between the two stationary objects. It appeared 
to be of a dusty color without any shiny appearance 
to it. This object continued to travel past these ob­
jects and off into a southemly direction. By this time 
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the object on the right ... started with a backward 
motion which appeared to be with tremendous speed. 
The one on my left darted off to the south and all 
three were lost from sight at this time. 

A major assigned to the same unit watched circular ob­
jects at high altitude about 20 minutes later. He reported 
that they were disk-shaped and silver in color. He wrote, 

They appeared to travel from west to east at approxi­
mately 2,000 miles per hOOf. There was no vapor 
trails visible. One larger disc shaped object hov­
ered ... It hovered for about 20 seconds and imme­
diately darted off at a high rate of acceleration and 
disappeared to the southeast. 

About that same time, a first Lieutenant said that he ar­
rived at work and saw fifteen or twenty people watching 
the sky. He was told that they had seen flying saucers but 
was quite skeptical about it. He reported: 

After watching approximately five (5) minutes I was 
able to see what appeared to be a disc, white or metal 
in color approaching from the west. As it moved 
directly overhead it turned generally north at a 90 de­
gree tum then slowing down and made approx­
imately four (4) more 90 degree turns and then 
proceeded east. 

After seeing this 1 knew what I was looking for 
and was able to pick up at least five (5) more of these 
objects ... However, after keeping them in my sight 
long enough [sic] to study their appearance they def­
initely seemed to be very high .... All of these ap­
peared in the west and proceeded east what appeared 
to be an extreme high rate of speed. 
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Others were still inside and overhearing conversations. 
A master sergeant reported that he had been in the Trans­
port Control Center and 

heard a transmission over the PLAN 113, stating that 
"flying saucers" were sighted over Seattle, Washing­
ton, at approximately 1515 MST and were headed to­
ward Great Falls. They were immediately cut off in 
the middle of a sentence, as though someone threw a 
switch. Just for fun I figured that if they were over 
Seattle at 1515 MST they should arrive at Great Falls 
around 1520 MST due to reported speed from vari­
ous sources in the past of these ftying objects. I 
walked out the front door of the Control Section at 
1520 MST and looked into the south quadrant of the 
sky ... and sighted three (3) objects. One appeared 
to be larger than the others. The larger object was sta­
tionary with the two smaller objects circling around 
it counter-clockwise. When the first object reached 
the western side of the stationary object it immedi­
ately darted off to the southwest, behind a group of 
small clouds and it was lost from view. The other 
smaller object darted off due west and when I looked 
back at the larger object it had disappeared. 

In all, there were seventeen separate statements taken 
and appended to the report by Lieutenant Colonel George 
S. Geanetos, the wing intelligence officer. His report 
seemed to be straightforward, providing copies of all the 
statements, and additional information about other sight­
ings that had taken place some two years earlier. He drew 
no conclusions about the validity of what he had been 
told or about the reliability of the witnesses. 

There is one disturbing aspect to this case. According 
to a partial report in the file, 
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At 1200 hours MST Thursday, 31 July 1952, the lo­
cal radio station KMON broadcast an interview with 
Mr. [name deleted] ... who claims he saw and took 
pictures of unidentified flying objects and that he had 
turned the undeveloped fims [sic] over to the Air 
Force. We contacted the manager of the radio station 
KMON, who informed us that Mr. [name deleted] 
turned the undeveloped film over to the Commanding 
Officer ... 

At that point the report ends. There is no indication 
elsewhere in the file about who the commanding officer 
was, where the film was, or if anyone ever heard anything 
else about it. With seventeen other witnesses, such photo­
graphs could be very important, but they seem to have 
disappeared. In fairness to the Air Force, it must be noted 
that there is no evidence that the man on the radio had 
taken pictures of anything. It could have been someone 
attempting to gain his fifteen minutes of fame. 

Later in the file, however, is another report, labeled 
that it was "Submitted in accordance with AF LTR [Let­
ter] No. 200-5, dated 20 April, 1952, Sub: Unidentified 
Flying Objects Reporting." At the bottom of that report it 
said: 

Observer took 8mm motion pictures (Bell & Howell 
camera) with colored film, and still shots with Kodak 
Retina black-and-white. Films turned over to Major 
[name deleted] Air Division Defense, Great Falls 
AFB, who dispatched the films to WADF, Hamilton 
AFB, Calif. Later WADF advised to ship films im­
mediately to ATIC. 

Being in the report written by Major Joseph M. Penny 
at Great Falls, this section seems to prove that both mo-
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tion picture and still photographs were taken by someone 
during the sightings. There are no indications in the mas­
ter index or in the file itself as to what happened to this 
valuable evidence once the Air Force took it, other than it 
was forwarded first to Hamilton in California and then or­
dered on to Wright-Patterson. 

In the end, the sightings are labeled as unidentified. 
Seventeen witnesses were interviewed and possibly many 
more. There are indications that sightings were made 
over Seattle, Washington, and that reports were made to 
Great Falls because some of the witnesses went outside to 
look for the UFOs. There are indications of both motion 
picture and still photography, which could make the 
sighting unique in UFO history. 

Unfortunately, nothing else is in the files. There are no 
indications of what happened to the photographic evi­
dence; it just disappears. There are no indications of who 
had alerted the people at Great Falls about the approach­
ing UFOs. The case, though fairly well documented, is 
left hanging. It is important to learn if the film, either mo­
tion picture or still, revealed anything, and how those ob­
jects looked compared to what the witnesses claim to 
have seen. 

Think about this. On July 2, a Navy officer in Tremon­
ton, Utah, filmed a number of objects soaring in the after­
noon sky. They were too far away when he began to film 
for them to be any sort of valuable proof. Less than a 
month later, someone else took more footage of objects 
over Great Falls, but there seems to be no record that the 
Great Falls films ever reached Project Blue Book. Rup­
pelt made no mention of them in his book, and no one 
else has brought up anything about them. They aren't 
mentioned in any of the surveys of the Blue Book mate­
rial. The films are just gone. 

It is interesting that the films and cases that have sur­
vived in Project Blue Book fall just short of providing the 



The End of July 177 

evidence that is needed. Now we have another case that 
seems to provide the clues, but it has disappeared. 

Although the Washington National sightings are quite 
important, they might not be the most important of the 
July 1952 sightings. Although radar sites were involved. 
and that provided a type of physical evidence, the impor­
tant case might have been the Montana sighting that came 
just days after the last of the Washington Nationals. Un­
fortunately, the Montana sightings seemed to be confined 
to the Air Force base, and there was little in the way of 
local publicity. There certainly was nothing on a national 
level. 

As July drew to a close, the number of UFO sightings 
did not diminish by much. People were still seeing the 
UFOs, still reporting them, but the important sightings 
had already happened. Other, interesting cases would be 
reported, including one of the first occupant sightings to 
gain any sort of national attention. but the good, solid 
cases, with physical evidence, radar, interceptors, and 
photographs, had occurred. Now it was just a question of 
picking up the debris. 



-------.f----------

CHAPTER TWELVE 

Blue Book and the Aliens 

Throughout the twenty-two-year history of the project 
first known as Project Sign, then as Project Grudge, and 
finally as Project Blue Book, there were very few reports 
of alien creatures. Blue Book's attitude seemed to be that 
UFOs in the sky were fine. UFOs close to the ground, and 
even landed, were fine. But they drew the line at a UFO 
that had not only landed, but from which came the pilots or 
crew. Blue Book avoided, as much as possible, reports of 
alien creatures, possibly believing them to be too weird. 

That is not to say that no one ever reported alien be­
ings to the Air Force. There were such reports, and in one 
notable case-the Socorro, New Mexico, landing in April 
1964-the Air Force even concluded the case to be 
"unidentified." They seemed impressed with Lonnie 
Zamora's sincerity, the physical marks left by the egg­
shaped UFO, and the fact that Zamora had only seen the 
creatures in the distance. He had not interacted with 
them, he claimed no telepathic communications with 
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them, and he didn't suggest they had come to abduct him. 
He only reported seeing the craft briefly on the ground 
and only reported a quick look at the two small, hu­
manoid creatures that scurried back into it. 

The Air Force file on the Aatwoods, West Virginia, 
sighting of September 12, 1952, however, is quite differ­
ent. Like the Zamora case, it contains a project card-a 
form created at ATIC that holds a brief summary of the 
sighting, what the solution is, if one has been offered, and 
other such easily condensed data. Unlike in the Zamora 
case, the Air Force found an explanation for the Aat­
woods case. The project card for the Flatwoods sighting 
notes that the case was explained by the meteor that had 
been reported over the East Coast of the United States on 
September 12. 

The file contains one other piece of information. It is 
just a single sheet of paper with some information about 
the object seen and a notation that it was a meteor. There 
is nothing in the file to suggest that anyone saw creatures, 
that the Air Force attempted to learn more about those 
sightings, or that any sort of investigation was made. 

In fact, the only reference to anything suggesting a 
creature was on the project card where there is the note 
about the "West Virginia monster, so called." All other 
notes suggest that the case was inspired by a meteor. 

This presents a curious problem. Clearly the Air Force 
had heard of the case, and just as clearly they had written 
it off as a very bright meteor that had been reported over 
the eastern seaboard on September 12. There is also a 
note that the meteor (or meteorite, for those of a precise 
and technical nature) landed somewhere in West Virginia. 
Apparently the Air Force believed that the "landing" of 
the meteorite was enough to inspire local residents to 
imagine a creature on the ground. And, apparently, they 
believed that the meteorite would account for the reports 
of physical evidence. 
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Ufologist and biologist Ivan T. Sanderson, writing in 
his UFO book, Uninvited Visitors, was aware of both the 
Air Force explanation and the meteorite that had been re­
ported. Sanderson wrote: 

... we met two people who had seen a slow-moving 
reddish object pass over from the east to west. This 
was later described and "explained" by a Mr. P. M. 
Reese of the Maryland Academy of Sciences staff, as 
a "fireball meteor." He concluded-incorrectly we 
believe-that it was "traveling at a height of from 60 
to 70 miles" and was about the "size of your fist." ... 
However, a similar, if not the same, object was seen 
over both Frederick and Hagerstown. Also, some­
thing comparable was reported about the same time 
from Kingsport, Tennessee, and from Wheeling and 
Parkersburg, West Vrrginia. 

The whole story, as it is usually told, begins with sev­
eral boys playing on a football field in Flatwoods. At 
about seven fifteen P.M., a bright red light, described as 
being as large as an outhouse, "rounded the comer of a 
hill," crossed the valley, seemed to hover above a hilltop 
and then fell behind the hill. One of the boys, Neal Nun­
ley, said that he thought the glowing object might have 
been a meteorite. He knew that fragments of meteorites 
were collected by scientists, so he suggested they all go 
look for it. 

As they watched, there was a bright orange flare that 
faded to a dull cherry glow near where the object had dis­
appeared. As three of the boys started up the hill, toward 
the lights, they saw the lights flash through the same se­
quence a couple of times. The lights provided a beacon 
for them, showing them where the object was. 

They ran up the main street, crossed a set of railroad 
tracks, and came to a point where there were three 
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houses, one of them belonging to the May family. Kath­
leen May came out of the house to learn what was hap­
pening and where the boys were going. Told about the 
lights on the hill, and that "a flying saucer has landed," 
she said that she wanted to go with them. Before they left, 
May suggested that Eugene Lemon, a seventeen-year-old 
member of the National Guard (which has no real rele­
vance to the story, but is a fact that is always carefully re­
ported), go to look for a flashlight. 

They found the path that led up the hill, opened and 
then closed a gate, and continued along the winding path. 
Lemon and Nunley were in the lead with May; her SOD 

Eddie followed, and they were trailed by others, includ­
inc Ronald Shaver and Ted Neal. Tommy Hyer was in the 
rear, not far behind the others. 

As they approached the final bend in the path, 
Lemon's large dog, which had been running ahead, began 
barking and howling, and then reappeared, running down 
the hilt, obviously frightened. Lemon noticed, as the dog 
passed him, that a mist was spreading around them. As 
they got closer to the top of the hill, they all smelled a 
foul odor. Their eyes began to water. 

Kathleen May spotted something in a nearby tree. She 
thought they were the eyes of an owl or other animal. 
Nunley, who was carrying the flashlight, turned it toward 
the eyes. What they saw was not an animal, but some sort 
of creature. The being was large, described as about 
waist-high to a full-grown man. They could see no arms 
or legs, but did see a head that was shaped like an ace of 
spades. No one was sure if there were eyes on the crea­
ture or if there was a clear space on the head, resembling 
a window, and that the eyes were somehow behind that 
window and behind the face. 

Lemon reacted most violently of the small party when 
he saw the object. He passed out. There was confusion, 
they were all scared, and no one was sure what to do. The 
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boys grabbed the unconscious Lemon and ran. 
They finally reached May's house. Inside, they man­

aged to bring Lemon back to full consciousness. They 
called others, and a number of adults arrived at the May 
house. The group, armed with rifles and flashlights, 
headed back up the hill to search for the strange creature. 
None of the men seemed to be too enthusiastic about go­
ing up the hill, and in less than half an hour, they were 
back, claiming they had found nothing at all. 

Still others, including the sheriff, eventually arrived. 
Most of them didn't bother to mount any sort of search, 
and the sheriff, who was clearly skeptical, refused to in­
vestigate further than talking to May and the boys. Two 
newspaper reporters did, at least, walk up the hill, but 
they saw nothing. They did, however, note the heavy 
metallic odor that had been described by May and her 
group. 

The next day, some follow-up investigations were 
done. Some people reported that they had found an area 
where the grass had been crushed in a circular pattern. 
Sanderson, who visited the scene a week later, said that 
he and his fellow investigators were able to see the 
crushed grass and a slight depression in the ground. 

Sanderson pointed out that the other physical evidence 
that had been reported-skid marks on the ground, an 
oily substance on the grass, and the foul odor-might 
have been part of the environment. The type of grass 
growing wild in that area gave off a similar odor and the 
grass seemed to be the source of the oil. Sanderson said 
that he couldn't find the skid marks and knew of no one 
who had photographed them. 

When this story is reported, it always seems to end 
here, with the one group, led by May and Lemon, seeing 
the strange creature or entity. The investigations carried 
out by various civilian agencies always fail to find any 
proof. Many believe that if there was some corrobora-
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tion-if someone else not associated with May and her 
group had seen the creature-it would strengthen the re­
port. Several years later, a men's magazine carried an­
other report of the Flatwoods monster. Paul Lieb wrote 
that George Snitowski was driving in the Flatwoods area 
with his wife, Edith, when he saw the thing on the 
ground. 

Snitowski didn't tell his story until two or three years 
after the fact. He then told it to an officer of the Flying 
Saucer Research Institute, who published the account in 
their magazine. Looking at it from the point of view that 
it is a tale told long after the national publicity that was 
provided for May and the others, there certainly is the 
hint that Snitowski was influenced by those tales. There is 
no proof that he was--only the very real possibility. 

According to his story, Snitowski was returning home 
with his wife and their baby when, near Sutton, West Vir­
ginia (which is not far from Flatwoods), his car engine 
stalled. He tried but couldn't get it to start and, because it 
was getting dark, he didn't want to leave his wife and 
baby alone on the semideserted highway. He thought they 
would wait for morning, and that then he would walk the 
ten or twelve miles to the closest town, unless someone 
came along to give them a hand before then. 

Snitowski said that a foul odor began to seep into the 
car making the baby cry. Snitowski didn't know what it 
was but suspected it might be a nearby sulfur plant burn­
ing waste. It was then that a light flashed overhead and 
both Snitowski and his wife were confused by it. He said 
later that, looking down into the woods, he could see 
what he thought of as some kind of dimly lighted sphere. 

Snitowski finally got out of the car and started walking 
toward some nearby woods where he believed the earlier 
light flash had originated. Inside the treeline sat the 
sphere. As he moved deeper into the woods, closer to the 
sphere, he said that his legs began to tingle, almost as if 
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they had gone to sleep. Slightly sickened by a foul odor, 
barely able to walk, he began to retreat, heading toward 
the car. 

His wife screamed, and Snitowski yelled, "Edith, for 
God's sake! What's the matter?" 

She was unable to speak and Snitowski saw, leaning 
against the hood of the car, a strange creature. He 
couldn't see it well because of the darkness of the area, 
but he thought it was eight or nine feet tall and was gen­
erally shaped like a human, with arms and a head at­
tached to a bloated body. 

Snitowski reached the car, climbed in. and grabbed a 
kitchen knife that he had in the glove box. He forced his 
wife down to the 1Ioor and begged her to silence the cry­
ing and frightened baby. He didn't know what to do and 
said that the odor was now overpowering. But then, out of 
the comer of his eye, he saw the object, the sphere, begin 
to climb erratically into the sky. It stopped to hover sev­
eral times, and eventually disappeared. Suddenly it 
swooped, climbed upward in a bright, dazzling light, and 
vanished. When he looked outside the car, the creature 
was gone. 

Not knowing why, Snitowski tried to start the car now 
that the object was gone. Without trouble the engine 
started. They drove away, found a motel, and checked in. 
The next morning they heard about the sighting from 
Flatwoods, but neither wanted to tell authorities what 
they had seen. Snitowski said that he didn't want his 
friends and neighbors to think that he was crazy. Besides, 
he didn't have any evidence about the creature or the 
UFO. There was only his story, corroborated by his wife. 

If his story is true-and today there is no way to learn 
if it is-then it makes a nice corroboration for the Flat­
woods case. The problem, however, as outlined earlier, is 
that the Flatwoods report was national news the day after 
it happened. At that point, the case was contaminated be-
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cause an investigator could ever be sure that Snitowski, 
or anyone else who came forward with a report, hadn't 
been primed by the story as published in the newspapers 
or even seen on television. 

These two reports were not the only ones made about 
the strange, tall, smelly, creature. About a week earlier, 
according to an investigation conducted by two Californi­
ans, William and Donna Smith, a twenty-one-year-old 
woman who lived about eleven miles from Flatwoods 
said that she had seen the creature that gave off the horri­
ble odor. She was so upset by the encounter that she was 
hospitalized for three weeks. Like Snitowski, she wasn't 
interested in publicity at the time, so when the report 
from Flatwoods made the news, she elected to remain 
silent. 

Years later, in the mid-l990s, Kathleen May Horner 
was interviewed about the sighting. She told investigators 
that the two men who everyone thought were newspaper 
reporters were, in fact, government agents. She also re­
membered that a local reporter received a letter from 
some unidentified government agency that revealed that 
the creature was some sort of rocket experiment that had 
gone wrong that day. There had been four such "rockets" 
and all of them fell back to earth. The government agents 
were able to recover all but one, and that one had been 
seen in Flatwoods. It must be noted here that there is no 
corroboration for this story of government intervention 
and that it did not surface until forty years later. 

A somewhat similar event, involving strange lights 
and alien creatures, took place about three years later. 
Again, a group of people in a small town were confronted 
by very strange, alien creatures. Again, the Air Force 
would be aware of the sighting and again, they wouldn't 
bother to investigate. They would create an "information 
only" file. Two years later, as questions began to be 
asked, the Air Force would initiate a short investigation 
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but apparently only so they would be able to answer ques­
tions, rather than actually attempt to learn anything about 
the sighting. 

It was in August 1955 that the Sutton family, in the 
Kelly-Hopkinsville area of southern Kentucky, reported 
that their farmhouse had been assaulted by small alien 
creatures. The siege lasted through the night, with the 
men shooting at the small beings with a number of 
weapons. Eventually the family deserted the farmhouse 
and drove to the sheriff's office to tell the tale. Because a 
UFO had been seen, and because the creatures were ap­
parently alien, some believed that Project Blue Book 
would be involved in the investigation. 

But according to the case file, such as it is, Project 
Blue Book did not investigate. The project had no real in­
terest in the sighting or in alien creatures, especially in 
1955, although the Blue Book files do contain documents 
that suggest one active duty officer, and possibly more, 
did some sort of investigation right after the event was re­
ported on the radio. This investigation, however, was ''un­
official." 

Without any sort of physical evidence or proof that the 
tale was true, most of the people who made their way to 
the area to interview the witnesses were quite skeptical. 
The media reflected that attitude. The Air Force, though 
still claiming it was not conducting an investigation, is­
sued two statements. The Air Force insisted it was not in­
vestigating the case and that there was no basis for 
investigating it. In other words, the case was so unimpor­
tant that the Air Force wasn't going to waste its time or 
limited resources. 

The story officially began early on the evening of Au­
gust 21, 1955, when Billy Ray Taylor, a young friend of 
Elmer "Lucky" Sutton, had gone to the well behind the 
farmhouse, and came running back, saying that he had 
seen a flying saucer. The object, described as bright with 
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an exhaust that contained all the colors of the rainbow, 
had passed above the house. It had continued over the 
fields, finally slowed to a hover, and then had descended, 
disappearing into a gully. 

No one in the Sutton house, including Glennie Lank­
ford, Lucky Sutton, Vera Sutton, John Charley (J. C.) Sut­
ton, Alene Sutton, three Sutton children, June Taylor, and 
O. P. Baker, believed the story of the flying saucer. None 
of them considered walking out to the gully to see if 
something might be down there. The whole idea was pre­
posterous. 

Not long after Taylor had told his tale, the dog began 
to bark. Taylor and Lucky Sutton went to investigate, but 
the dog ran under the house, not to reappear that night. 

Out in the fields, away from the house, was a strange, 
hovering glow. As it approached, they could see a "small 
man" inside it. He was about three and a half feet tall, 
with a large head that looked to be round, and long, thin 
arms that extended almost to the ground. The creature's 
hands were large and out of proportion to the body, and 
were shaped more like a bird's talons than human hands. 
The two eyes were large and seemed to glow with a yel­
low fire. 

As the creature continued to move toward the house, 
the two men retreated, found a rifle and a shotgun inside, 
and then waited. When the creature was within twenty 
feet of the back door, both men fired at it. The creature 
flipped back, regained its feet, and fled into the darkness. 

The two men watched for a few minutes, searching for 
the creature, and then walked into the living room, where 
the others waited. The creature, or one just like it, ap­
peared in front of one of the windows and the men shot at 
it, hitting it. This one also did a back flip and disappeared. 

Now the men decided it was time to go out to learn if 
they had injured or killed the creature, whatever it was. 
Taylor was the first out, but he stopped on the porch un-
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der a small overhang. A clawlike hand reached down and 
touched his hair. Alene Sutton grabbed him to pull him 
back into the house. Lucky pushed past him, turned, and 
fired up at the creature on the roof. It was knocked from 
its perch. 

Someone, probably Taylor, shouted, 'There's one up 
in the tree!" 

Both Taylor and Lucky shot at it, knocking it from the 
limb. But it didn't fall to the ground. Instead, it seemed to 
float. They shot again, and it ran off into the weeds. 

At the same moment, another of the creatures ap­
peared around the comer of the bouse. It miabt have been 
the ODe that had heeD on the roof or ODe of those seen in 
the backyard. Lucky whirled and fired. The buckshot 
sounded as if it hit something metallic, like an empty 
bucket. Just like the others, the little creature flipped over, 
scrambled to its feet and fled, moving rapidly into the 
darkness. 

Having failed to stop the creatures with either the shot­
guns or the .22-caliber rifle, Lucky decided to leave them 
alone. Someone noticed that the creatures only ap­
proached from darkened areas. It seemed that they were 
repelled by the light. 

At some point they heard noises on the roof and went 
out the back door to investigate. One of the creatures was 
back on the roof. They shot at it and knocked it off the 
roof, but it floated to a fence some forty feet away rather 
than falling to the ground. Hit by another shot, it fell from 
the fence and ran away, seeming to use its arms to aid its 
locomotion. 

Some of the others in the house were still unconvinced 
that there were real creatures outside, believing instead 
that the men were playing some sort of a prank on them. 
With the lights in the house turned out, they had taken up 
a position close to one of the windows. Taylor told Lank­
ford to wait and she would see for herself. 
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After twenty minutes or so, one of the creatures ap­
proached the front of the house. According to Lankford, it 
looked like a five-gallon gasoline can with a head on top 
of two thin, spindly legs. It shimmered as if made of 
bright metal. 

Lankford, who had been crouching quietly near the 
window for a long time, tried to stand, but fell with a 
thud. She shrieked in surprise and the creature jumped to 
the rear. Taylor fired at it through the screen door. 

About three hours after the first creature had been 
seen, about eleven 0' clock that night, the group decided it 
was time to get out. Everybody ran to the cars. One of the 
kids was screaming and had to be carried. They all raced 
to the Hopkinsville police station for help. 

At the police station, there was no doubt that the pe0-
ple had been frightened by something. Police officers and 
the chief, interviewed after the events, made it clear that 
they believed the people had been scared by something. 
That doesn't mean they were "attacked" by strange little 
metallic men, but it does mean they were relating what 
they believed to be the truth to the assembled police offi­
cials. 

Within minutes, the police were on their way back to 
the house with some of the Sutton men in the cars. The 
police also called the Madisonville headquarters of the 
Kentucky State Police. A call was even made to the chief, 
Russell Greenwell, at home. He was told that a spaceship 
had landed in Kelly. Greenwell then told the desk ser­
geant that it had better not be a joke. 

Now Kentucky State Police, local police, the chief, 
and a sheriff's deputy were all either heading out to the 
Sutton house or already there. One of the state troopers, 
who was only a few miles from Hopkinsville on the road 
to Kelly, said that he saw what he called several meteors 
flash over his car. They moved with a sound like artillery, 
and he looked up in time to see two of them. They were 
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traveling in a slightly descending arc, heading toward the 
Sutton house. 

The yard around the Sutton house was suddenly filled 
with cars, and more importantly, light. The men tried to 
point out where the valious events had taken place. The 
chief searched for signs that anyone or everyone had been 
drinking, but found nothing to indicate that anyone had 
even had a beer. Glennie Lankford later said that she 
didn't allow alcohol in the house. 

Once the police arrived, the situation changed radi­
cally. Although the atmosphere was tension-charged, and 
some of the police were nervous, they began to search for 
signs of the invasion from outer space. There were appar­
ent bullet and shotgun blast holes in the screens over the 
windows, and there was evidence that weapons had been 
fired, but there were no traces of the alien creatures. The 
hard-packed ground did not show footprints. 

The search of the yard and fields around the house re­
vealed little, except a luminous patch where one of the 
creatures had fallen earlier and was only visible from one 
angle. The chief said that he saw it himself and there was 
definitely some kind of stain on the grass. No one took 
samples of evidence for analysis later. 

But with no real evidence to be found, with no alien 
creatures running around, and with no spacecraft hidden 
in the gully, the police began to return to their regular, 
mundane duties. By two in the morning, only the Suttons 
were left at the house. 

A half an hour or so after the last of the police left, and 
with the lights in the house down, Glennie Lankford saw 
one of the creatures looking in the window. She alerted 
Lucky, who wanted to shoot at it, but she told him not to. 
She didn't want a repeat of the situation earlier in the 
night. Besides, the creatures had done nothing to harm 
anyone during the first episode. 
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But Lucky didn't listen to her. He shot at the creature, 
but the shot was no more effective than those fired earlier 
in the night. He fired other shots with no apparent effect. 
The little creatures bounced up each time they were hit 
and then ran away. 

The little beings reappeared throughout the night, the 
last sighting occurring just half an hour before sunrise. 
That was the last time that any of the beings were seen by 
any of the Suttons or their friends. 

Although it seems that military personnel from Fort 
Campbell, Kentucky, did visit the Sutton house, and in­
serviews with the witnesses were conducted in 19S5, an 
investigation by the Air Force didn't take place until two 
years later. According to Project Blue Book files, in Au­
gust 1957, prior to the publication of a magazine article 
that would review the case, someone in the Air Force ap­
parently decided he should "investigate." 

In a letter from the ATIC at Wright-Patterson to the 
commander of Campbell Air Force Base, Wallace W. El­
wood wrote: 

1. This Center requests any factual data, together with 
pertinent comments regarding an unusual incident re­
ported to have taken place six miles north of Hop­
kinsville, Kentucky on subject date [21 August 1955]. 
Briefly, the incident involved an all night attack on a 
family named Sutton by goblin-like creatures reported 
to have emerged from a so-called "flying saucer." 

Later in the letter, Elwood wrote, 

3. Lacking factual, confirming data, no credence can 
be given this almost fantastic report. As the incident 
has never been officially reported to the Air Force, it 
has not taken official cognizance of the matter. 
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Here once again is the Air Force attitude that if the 
case has not been reported to them, then it simply doesn't 
exist. 

The matter was apparently assigned to First Lieutenant 
Charles N. Kirk, an Air Force officer at Campbell Air 
Force Base. He apparently spent about six weeks investi­
gating the case before sending the material on to ATIC on 
October 1, 1957. He researched the story using the Hop­
kinsville newspaper from August 22, 1955, and Septem­
ber 11, 1955. He also had a letter from Captain Robert J. 
Hertell; a statement from Glennie Lankford, one of the 
witnesses; a statement given to Kirk by Major John E. Al­
bert about his involvement in the case, and a copy of an 
article written by Glennie Lankford. 

Albert's statement provides some interesting informa­
tion. Remember, the Air Force was claiming that the case 
had not been officially reported and therefore the Air 
Force had not investigated. It seems that here we get lost 
in the semantics of the situation and the question that 
begs to be asked is, "What the hell does all that mean?" 

It sounds like a police officer who, seeing a robbery in 
progress, ignores it because it hadn't been reported to the 
station and he wasn't dispatched by headquarters. A po­
lice officer can't ignore a crime, and it seems reasonable 
to assume that the Air Force shouldn't have ignored the 
story. The sighting was outlined in the media, including 
the radio broadcasts, and newspapers from various loca­
tions around the country also reported what had hap­
pened. Although the Air Force officers at Blue Book or 
ATIC must have known that the sighting had been made, 
they chose to ignore it. If the sighting wasn't reported 
through official channels, directly to them, then it simply 
didn't exist. Since no one reported this case through offi­
cial channels, the sighting could be ignored. 

Or was it? Lieutenant Kirk, in his report in 1957, sent 
a copy of the statement made by Major John E. Albert on 
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September 26, 1957, to ATIC. The very first paragraph 
seems to suggest that notification was made to Campbell 
Air Force Base, which should have, according to regula­
tions in effect at that time (1955), reported it through offi­
cial channels to ATIC and therefore Blue Book. The 
regulation is quite clear on the point and it doesn't matter 
if everyone in the military believed the sighting to be a 
hoax, or if they thought the sighting too outrageous, it 
should have been investigated because the regulations re­
quired it. 

That investigation would not have been conducted by 
ATIC and Project Blue Book, but by the 4602d Air Intel­
ligence Service Squadron. AFR 200-2 tells us exactly 
what should have happened to the report. It went on to the 
4602d and apparently disappeared into some bureaucratic 
limbo there. 

In the statement found by Kirk, Albert said, 

On about August 22, 1955, about 8 A.M., I heard a 
news broadcast concerning an incident at Kelly Sta­
tion, approximately six miles North of Hopkinsville. 
At the time I heard this news broadcast, I was at 
Gracey, Kentucky, on my way to Campbell Air Force 
Base, where I am assigned for reserve training. I 
called the Air Base and asked them if they had heard 
anything about an alleged flying saucer report. They 
stated that they had not and it was suggested that as 
long as I was close to the area, that I should deter­
mine if there was anything to this report. I immedi­
ately drove to the scene at [for some reason 
the word was blacked out, but it seems reasonable to 
assume the word is Kelly] Station and located the 
home belonging to a [Mrs. Glennie Lank­
ford-again, the name is blacked out], who is the one 
who first reported the incident. (A copy of Mrs. 
Lankford's statement is attached to this report). 
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Albert's statement continued: 

Deputy Sheriff Batts was at the scene where this sup­
posedly flying saucer had landed and he could not 
show any evidence that any object had landed in the 
vicinity. There was nothing to show that there was 
anything to prove this incident. 

Mrs. Lankford was an impoverished widow woman 
who had grown up in this small community just out­
side of Hopkinsville, with very little education. She 
belonged to the Holly Roller Church and the night 
and evening of this occurrence, had gone to a reli­
gious meeting and she indicated that the members of 
the congregation and her two sons and their wives and 
some friends of her sons', were also at this religious 
meeting and were worked up into a frenzy, becoming 
emotionally unbalanced and that after the religious 
meeting, they had discussed this article which she 
had heard about over the radio and had sent for them 
from the Kingdom Publishers, Fort Worth I, Texas, 
and they had sent her this article with a picture which 
appeared to be a little man when it actually was a 
monkey, painted silver. This article had to be re­
turned to Mrs. Lankford as she stated it was her prop­
erty. However, a copy of the writing is attached to 
this statement and if it is necessary, a photograph can 
be obtained from the above mentioned publishers. 

There are a number of problems with the first couple 
of paragraphs of Albert's statement, but those are trivial. 
As an example, it wasn't Glennie Lankford who first re­
ported the incident, but the whole family who had trav­
eled into town to alert the police. 

It is the third paragraph, however, that is filled with 
things that bear no resemblance to reality. Lankford was 
not a member of the Holy Rollers, but was, in fact a mem-
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ber of the Trinity Pentecostal. Neither she nor any of the 
family had been to any religious services the night of the 
"attack." This unsubstantiated allegation was made in a 
recent book, suggesting once again that the religious tone 
of the family had somehow contributed to the attack on 
their house. Or rather, that they were "hysterical" people 
who would see things that simply were not there. 

And Lankford couldn't have heard about any "article" 
from the newspapers or magazines as it was read on the 
radio, because there was no radio in the fannhouse. And 
there was no evidence that Lankford ever sent anywhere 
for any kind of article about flying saucers and little crea­
tures, those painted silver or any other color. In other 
words, Albert had written the case off as a hoax almost 
before he began his "investigation" because of his false 
impressions. Apparently he was only interested in facts 
that would allow him to debunk the case and not learning 
what had actually happened. 

Further evidence of this is provided in the next para­
graph of his statement. 

It is my opinion that the report Mrs. Lankford or her 
son, [name deleted but it is reasonable to as­
sume it was Elmer Sutton), was caused by one oftwo 
reasons. Either they actually did see what they 
thought was a little man and at the time, there was a 
circus in the area and a monkey might have escaped, 
giving the appearance of a small man. Two, being 
emotionally upset, and discussing the article and 
showing pictures of this little monkey, that appeared 
like a man, their imaginations ran away with them 
and they really did believe what they saw, which they 
thought was a little man. 

It is interesting to note that Albert is not suggesting 
that Lankford, the Suttons, and the Taylors (other mem-
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bers of the family present that night) were engaged in in­
venting a hoax. Instead, with absolutely no evidence, Al­
bert invented the tale of an escaped monkey that fooled 
the people. That does not explain how the monkey was 
able to survive the shots fired at it, especially if it was as 
close to the house as the witnesses suggested. In other 
words, with shotguns and rifles being fired, someone 
should have hit it and there should have been broken bits 
of monkey all over the farmland. And, remember, the var­
ious witnesses talked of a number of little men, not a sin­
gle individual. 

But Albert wasn't through with the little monkey 
theory. 

The home that Mrs. Lankford lived in was in a very 
run down condition and there were about eight peo­
ple sleeping in two rooms. The window that was 
pointed out to be the one that she saw the small silver 
shining object about two and a half feet tall, that had 
its hands on the screen looking in, was a very low 
window and a small monkey could put his hands on 
the top of it while standing on the ground. 

The final sentence said, "It is felt that the report cannot 
be substantiated as far as any actual object appearing in 
the vicinity at that time." It was then signed by Kirk. 

What is interesting is that Albert, and then Kirk, were 
willing to ignore the report of the object because there 
was nothing to substantiate it, other than the witness tes­
timony that there had been an object. Both Albert and 
Kirk were willing to buy the monkey theory, though there 
was nothing to substantiate it, either. They needed a little 
man, or at the very least, a little humanoid creature for the 
family to see, and they created one because a "monkey 
might have escaped." 

Glennie Lankford might have inspired the little mon-
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key story with her own words. In a handwritten statement 
signed on August 22, 1955, said, "My name is Glennie 
Lankford age 50 and I live at Kelly Station, Hopkinsville 
Route 6, Kentucky." 

She continued: 

On Sunday night Aug. 21, 55 about 10:30 P.M. I was 
walking through the hallway which is located in the 
middle of my house and I looked out the back door 
(south) and saw a bright silver object about two and a 
half feet tall appearing round. I became excited and 
did not look at it long enough to see if it had any eyes 
or move. I was about 15 or 20 feet from it. I fell back­
ward, and then was carried into the bedroom. 

My two sons, Elmer Sutton aged 25 and his wife 
Vera age 29, J.C. Sutton age 21 and his wife Aline 
[sic] age 27 and their friends Billy Taylor age 21 and 
his wife June, 18 were all in the house and saw this 
little man that looked like a monkey. 

So the Air Force, which, of course, didn't investigate 
sightings of creatures, seized on her description and 
turned it into a possible solution, suggesting with no jus­
tification that the Suttons had been attacked by a horde of 
monkeys which were immune to shotguns. They over­
looked the evidence of the case, or ignored the testimony, 
dispatched someone to look into it unofficially at the 
time, and then denied that they had ever investigated. 

That was the pattern they would follow with almost 
every case in which alien beings were reported. If the 
witness said that he or she saw the creatures, then clearly 
the witness suffered from psychological problems. They 
avoided investigations into those tales of alien beings, 
pretending, when they could, that such reports didn't ex­
ist. 

In 1952, there were virtually no such cases. Those re-
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porting UFOs left them in the sky. The Air Force, charged 
with the defense of American skies, was content to leave 
them there. Had it not been for all the reports in July 
1952, had it not been for the continued public interest in 
UFOs, the Flatwoods case might never have received the 
prominence that it did. 

And the problem here, in Flatwoods as well as in Ken­
tucky, was that there was no corroborating physical evi­
dence. The tales told by multiple witnesses were 
interesting, even sensational, but were without any sort of 
corroborating proof. Of course, radar was one fonn of 
such independent proof because it is an insaument. And 
another fonn was photographs. In 1952, several photo­
graphs were submitted to prove that UFOs were real. 
Many of those photos are still wrapped in controversy to­
day. 



------------~II~-----------

CHAPTER THIRTEEN 

The Pictures 

During the month of July 1952, there were many reports 
that citizens had taken pictures of fiying saucers and a 
few suggesting that military officers had taken motion 
picture footage, including gun-camera film made during 
attempted intercepts. The most spectacular was the movie 
footage was taken on July 2 by Delbert C. Newhouse, but 
the objects in the short film were little more than blobs of 
bright, white light seen in the distance. Four weeks later 
an Air Force major would use the gun cameras on his in­
terceptor to take a short film of a sphere high above him, 
but again, that footage was less than spectacular. 

Although rumors about the movie footage would per­
sist for years to come, the films would not be available to 
the general public for years. The still pictures made in 
1952, however, were printed almost the moment they 
were taken and developed. These still photographs, of­
fered by a wide variety of people both in the United 
States and in other parts of the world, suggested that the 
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1952 wave was not localized. People around the world 
were seeing flying saucers, and a large number of them 
took photographs. 

Among the first of the 1952 still photographs offered 
as physical evidence that UFOs were real was a series of 
five pictures taken on May 7 on a cliff near Barra De Ti­
juca, outside Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Ed Keffel, along with 
another man, sometimes identified as his assistant, were 
taking pictures of the landscape when Keffel thought he 
saw an airplane in the distance. His friend, however, real­
izing that the object was not any kind of airplane he had 
evel' seen, shouted, "Shoot! Shoot!" 

According to Keffel. during the next sixty seconds he 
took. five pictures of the object. In the first, the UFO re­
sembled an airplane coming directly toward them over a 
large group of trees. The second was taken showing that 
the object was disk-shaped, proving that it was not a con­
ventional aircraft. The third photo was taken as the object 
tilted slightly, showing both the top with a slight dome 
and the now obvious disk shape. More trees, including a 
very tall palm, can be seen in the photograph. In the 
fourth picture, taken as the object tilted the other way, a 
raised ring on the bottom could be seen. Again, the disk 
shape is obvious. The last picture was taken as the object 
was nearly vertical, seen over part of the ocean and some 
distant hills. The UFO disappeared shortly after this last 
picture was snapped. 

According to the story that came out of Brazil, and re­
ported later by the Aerial Phenomena Research Organiza­
tion (APRO), a civilian group interested in UFOs and 
based in the United States, the Brazilian Air Force be­
came very interested in the report and the pictures. They 
interviewed the photographer, allegedly tracked down 
many of the estimated forty additional witnesses who 
were standing near Keffel, and tried to learn something 
about the object based on measurements made from the 



The Pictures 201 

pictures. For weeks Brazilian Air Force investigators 
tried to duplicate the images using trick photography. 
They made diagrams of the sighting, the location, and the 
position of each of the witnesses. They searched for evi­
dence of a hoax but in the end, according to the reports 
from Brazil, were unable to find it. They concluded, 
based partially on the corroboration of the forty wit­
nesses, that this was not a hoax. Keffel had photographed 
something that was unknown and probably unearthly. 

The APRO representative in Brazil, Dr. Olavo Fontes, 
forwarded a copy of his report, including the pictures and 
witness statements to the APRO headquarters. There, 
again, the photographs and statements were subjected to 
renewed scrutiny. The Brazilian Air Force claim of au­
thenticity was seconded by APRO. APRO found no evi­
dence of a hoax, but then, their pro-UFO stance might 
have colored their thinking. 

The National Investigations Committee on Aerial Phe­
nomena (NICAP) noted that the pictures had been taken 
by magazine writers Ed Keffel and Joao Martins. NICAP 
never received negatives for scientific analysis, but did 
examine prints provided to them. NICAP reported that 
"Critics have pointed out that in main photograph shad­
ows on object do not coincide with shadows on the 
ground below." NICAP was suggesting here that there 
were internal inconsistencies in the photographs and such 
a finding was suggestive of a hoax. The NICAP represen­
tatives were not impressed with the pictures. 

That is the way the case stood for five or six years. 
Upon the formation of the Condon Committee, those sci­
entists on the project who wished to review the photo­
graphic forms of physical evidence asked for copies of 
the Keffel pictures. All the information that APRO had 
collected was sent on to Colorado. In the end, the Condon 
Committee decided, as had NICAP, that there was a 
"glaring internal inconsistency." According to the com-
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mittee, in the picture in which the top of the object is 
tilted toward the camera, the UFO is illuminated from 
one direction and the trees, specifically a very tall palm, 
is illuminated from another. According to the Condon sci­
entists, "This is evidence of a hoax unless there were two 
suns in the sky." They dismissed the case as a hoax and 
therefore irrelevant. 

Both APRO and Dr. Fontes had been aware of the 
problem. According to them, enlargements of the picture 
that showed the tree and the surrounding area revealed 
that a shadow cast by a damaged palm caused the prob­
lem. They reported that the palm tree's trunk: appeared to 
be in the shade, meaning the sun was behind it and the 
shadows on the UFO showed the sun should have been in 
front of the tree. The trunk should have been brightly illu­
minated by the sun. The enlargement, however, suggested 
that two branches on that tree had been broken and were 
hanging in such a way that they shaded the trunk. APRO 
researchers suggested the shadow was, more or less, an 
optical illusion. 

According to the APRO analysis, enlargements of the 
surrounding area showed a dead tree without any 
branches on it. They suggested that the sunlight on the 
~nk of that tree was in the proper place, and suggested 
that this showed that the photographs were not faked. Or 
rather, it showed that there were no internal inconsisten­
cies, so the authenticity of the photographs could not be 
questioned for that reason. 

That wasn't the end of the controversy, however. Peo­
ple living in the area reported they had seen a number of 
men with models of a flying saucer taking pictures. 
APRO said that the Brazilian Air Force had explained 
that easily. The men with the models were Air Force offi­
cers trying to duplicate the photographs. According to the 
report issued by APRO, they had failed. 



The Pictures 203 

Today, the best evidence seems to suggest the case is a 
hoax, perpetrated by two magazine writers who wanted 
an interesting story. By themselves, even if authentic, the 
pictures do not prove that UFOs are extraterrestrial. The 
pictures merely suggest that something unusual was seen 
flying above Brazil. The conclusion of hoax is not sur­
prising, given both the attitudes of the investigators and 
the mission of the Condon Committee. 

Oddly, considering the Air Force attitude about UFO 
sightings and its attempts to explain everything as con­
ventional and mundane, the pictures taken sometime be­
tween July 6 and 12, 1952, were labeled as unidentified 
rather than simply insufficient data for a scientific analy­
sis. This is odd because there was no visual sighting, ei­
ther by the photographer or by the millions of other 
residents of the New York City area. There were just the 
objects, or more accurately, the blobs of light, that ap­
peared on the time exposures taken by an amateur pho­
tographer, identified only as Neff in the Project Blue 
Book files, in Elizabeth, New Jersey. 

According to the report in the Project Blue Book files, 
the co-owner of the Mel-Art Photo, reported: 

While scanning through the pictures which belonged 
to one of his customers, a group of four pictures 
came to his attention because of unusual unidentified 
objects which appeared in the sky. Since he was asso­
ciated with the Air Technical Intelligence during 
World War II, he felt that the pictures may be of some 
interest to G-2 ... The pictures were taken by an am­
ateur photographer by the name of Mr. [name 
deleted, but the last name is probably Neff] ... 

The pictures were taken about eleven 0' clock P.M. some­
time during the week of July 6-12. According to the report: 



204 INVASION WASHINGTON 

His purpose in taking the pictures was to obtain pho­
tos of the moon and it was not until after the film was 
developed that he became aware of the objects. The 
initial picture, identified by three spots with trailing 
lines, was taken with the shutter open for ten min­
utes. The second picture, identified by three spots, 
was taken with the shutter open for fifteen minutes. 
The third picture, identified by the presence of the 
moon with a spot mid-way between the moon and the 
tree tops, was taken with the shutter open for twenty 
minutes. The last and final picture, identified by the 
presence of the moon with a spot appearing directly 
under and near the moon, was taken with the shutter 
open for twenty-three to twenty-tive minutes .... 
The camera was mounted [on] a tripod and the pic­
tures were taken from the roof of his residence with 
the camera pointed in the general direction of Staten 
Island. 

The project card listed the sighting as "unidentified." 
However, the picture suggesting the objects in motion, 
because the images are structured akin to something af­
fecting the camera rather than the lights moving. In other 
words, it looks to me as if the tripod was bumped during 
the time exposure. 

The pictures themselves reveal little, if anything, that 
is recognizable or of importance. Without a visual sight­
ing to help understand the circumstances of the report, it 
is surprising that the Air Force would label this case as an 
"unidentified." It would seem to be more properly placed 
into the "insufficient data" category. 

Another photographic case labeled as "unidentified" 
came into Project Blue Book. According to the letter 
that accompanied the pictures, the photographer (name 
deleted) had 
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taken photos that I feel should be of great interest to 
your Dept. ... I have taken these photos on July 9th 
and since that time I have tried to sell them to Life 
Magazine but to this date I have never heard from 
them. They [the photographs] have been run in the 
Evening Chronicle . .. Two of the photos show the 
object broadside and the other one shows it as though 
it was standing on end. It came right out of the sky 
and headed east. At that time it stood on end and dis­
appeared. Actually it went so far out into space that I 
didn't see it any more. It did not make any noise ... 
and it had no propellor [sic] or other means of visible 
locomotive. It looked as though it was of an alu­
minum color. 

The next photographic case of importance was the 
Utah movie shot by Newhouse and discussed elsewhere. 
It is important simply because it is a film and was shot by 
a Naval ofttcer. The Coast Guard, not wanting to be left 
out, was involved in another of the important photo­
graphic cases of 1952. 

The photographer, Shell Albert, was at work in a 
building at the Coast Guard installation in Salem, Massa­
chusetts. According to the report filed with the Air Force, 
Shell said, "I turned slightly in the direction of the win­
dow and noticed something bright outside. I observed the 
sky and saw what appeared to be several bright-almost 
brilliant-lights slightly on the starboard side of the 
power plant smoke stacks." 

He told the Air Force investigators: 

I could not determine the size of the lights, number 
of lights, the altitude of the lights, the sound, if any, 
the speed of the lights, if any, direction of lateral or 
vertical motion [or the] shape of the lights. The tem-
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perature of the lights was a high number of Kelvin 
degrees-extremely brilliant and white. They seemed 
to be wavering but I am not certain of this. I observed 
these lights for possibly 5 or 6 seconds and then 
turned [to grab the] camera. 

He moved toward the window. As he prepared to pull 
the slide from the camera, he noticed that 

[the] lights were considerably dimmed down. I as­
sumed at that what I had seen was merely some sort 
of reflection, but I rushed out of the lab into the Sick 
Bay and got [apparently it was Thomas Fla­
herty], to come back to the window with me. As I en­
tered the office, I noticed the lights were again 
burning brightly and without saying anything to 
[name deleted] I dived for the camera and hit the 
shutter, after which I told him to look out and as he 
did there was a momentary flash and we could no 
longer see the lights. 

Albert suggested that 

it was an extremely hot day and I think that perhaps 
some sort of refraction of ground reflections could 
possibly have accounted for the lights, but in my esti­
mation this is an improbable explanation. The lens 
was quite dirty and so was the window screen. I can­
not in all honesty say that I saw objects or aircraft, 
merely some manner of lights. 

Investigation by the Air Force, based on the stories told 
by the photographs and the hospitalman, suggested that 
the lights were reflections of internal lights on the dirty 
windows. The Air Force investigation deemed the follow­
ing points pertinent: The camera was set on infinity, and 
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the cars in the parking lot are sharply focused but the lights 
are blurry and out of focus. All four lights have the same 
general configuration and outline in spite of the blurring. 
Of course, the cars in the parking lot were stationary, and 
if the lights moved during the exposure, that would ac­
count for the blurry nature of the images on the film. 

The Air Force also set up a number of bright spotlights 
so that they would be visible from the window where the 
photos were taken. Whenever they could be seen from the 
window, they produced reflections on the cars in the park­
ing lot. Since the photograph of the objects showed no 
such reflections, the conclusion was that the lights were 
between the photographer and the lot, meaning that they 
almost had to be reflections on the dirty glass windows. 

The Air Force, however, also had an alternate explana­
tion. Colonel Delwin B. Avery, in a report to Ed Ruppelt 
at Blue Book wrote: 

Series D [pictures that the Air Force staged in their 
attempt to duplicate the photo] prints show how easy 
it is to construct a hoax by means of double expo­
sure .... The film was multiply exposed at night, 
with a dark field surrounding the lamp. The day time 
exposure of the building was carefully oriented to 
produce the aerial hovering effect. However, fraud is 
indicated because no highlights may be seen in the 
auto roofs .... It is therefore concluded that the au­
thenticity of the picture, taken by the Coast Guard 
photographer, is open to serious doubt. 

The Coast Guard, however, in response to an inquiry 
from NICAP reported, "it never has been determined 
what caused the phenomenal lights shown [in the photo­
graph]." In other words, the Coast Guard was not con­
vinced that the Air Force had solved the sighting with 
their claim of dirty windows or suggestion of fraud. 
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The most spectacular of the July 1952 pictures are 
probably those taken by George Stock in New Jersey. Be­
cause of the number of sightings reported during the sum­
mer, the official Air Force investigation began in late 
November 1952, when the officers assigned to Project 
Blue Book finally had the opportunity to look into the 
case. According to Charles Gregg, a staff writer for the 
Herald-News in Passaic, a man came into the office on 
the afternoon of July 31, 1952, with a series of pictures of 
a domed disc he had taken earlier in the day. The man, 
identified by some only as Riley, claimed he was visiting 
a friend and was talking to him in front of the house when 
cbc object appeared traveling "southwest at a leisurely 
speed. At. it drew nearer it came to a stop overhead for a 
few minutes, about two hundred feet above the ground." 

He described the disk as about 30 feet in diameter and 
grayish in color. It made no sound. Before taking off 
again, it tilted, "as to observe the ground. An antenna, or 
something like that darted out of the dome's top for a mo­
ment and was withdrawn." The saucer then disappeared. 

Gregg, in a letter to the Air Force, said that Riley 
claimed there were other witnesses, but he hadn't the 
time to look for them. Riley wouldn't leave the negatives, 
and Gregg believed that he was taking them to other 
newspapers to sell. 

Later that night, Riley appeared at another newspaper, 
and a man named Dixon called the Air Technical Intelli­
gence Center at Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio, to let the 
Air Force know about the sighting. Major Herman called 
Dixon back and asked about "the photograph of an aerial 
phenomena." 

Dixon responded, "That's about your way of putting 
it." He then went on to say: 

Briefly, the story is this. A commercial photographer 
came in with the story that he was visiting a friend 
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when the two of them saw the saucer overhead. The 
guy grabbed the friend's fixed focus camera and 
grabbed a half a dozen shots before the saucer moved 
away. He wanted to sell us the pictures. The pictures 
are phenomenally clear for anything of the sort ... 
What it looks like, off-hand, is something very close 
to the camera because it is fairly sharp considering 
the type of camera used. On the other hand, the man 
swears, and he has one witness who will back him 
up, that it is a legitimate photograph ... we have 
threatened him with jail and all that and he still in­
sists that it was correct. 

Dixon and Herman discussed the photographs for a 
few minutes more. Dixon reported that no one really 
knew the man so that he couldn't say whether or not he 
was credible. Dixon did say that he thought the pictures 
were too good to be true and was inclined to believe that 
they were a hoax. 

After several minutes, Ruppelt entered the conversa­
tion. All three of them, although neither Herman nor Rup­
pelt had seen the pictures, were afraid they were being 
duped. Ruppelt decided that it would be a waste of time 
to pursue it any further, based on what Dixon had said. 

Even though they felt it was a poor case, they did initi­
ate an investigation into Riley's background. They 
learned that he ran a small commercial film processing 
business and that he didn't take pictures for a living. The 
people interviewed had nothing derogatory to say about 
Riley. The case was closed. 

And then reopened. It was learned that the man who 
had sold the pictures was not, in fact, the man who had 
taken them. On November 19, 1952, an Air Force investi­
gator interviewed George Stock, after it was confirmed 
that Stock was the real photographer. 

The story told by Stock was quite similar to the one 
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told by Riley. Stock had been outside at about ten fifteen 
on the morning of July 31, 1952, when he saw the object 
overhead. He ran into the house for a camera, shouting to 
his father, "I think I see a flying saucer!" 

Both men rushed into the backyard. Stock noticed the 
saucer was closer and he began taking pictures of it. He 
managed to get seven before the object disappeared in the 
southeast. 

Air Force investigators learned that the sighting lasted 
between five and seven minutes. The sky was clear and 
the temperature was in the mid-eighties. There were only 
two witnesses, Stock and his father. Riley, the man who 
had tried to capitalize on the photographs, hadn't been 
there when the saucer was overhead, and only had the 
facts as Stock related them. He had seen nothing himself. 

Late that afternoon, Stock took the pictures to Riley 
for processing. Stock stood by while Riley developed the 
film and then took the pictures and negatives, but not be­
fore Riley had made an extra set of prints, which he had 
tried to sell. 

Subsequent investigation by the Air Force Office of 
Special Investigation reports showed that both Stock and 
his father were considered to be reliable men. The neigh­
bors said that neither had ever participated in any type of 
a hoax. They were, for the most part, quiet men who 
caused no one any trouble. 

Air Force investigation eventually led to the Federal 
Telephone and Radio Corporation in Clifton, New Jersey, 
which made radar and microwave equipment. A check 
with the corporation president showed that no experi­
ments were being conducted on the day of the sighting 
that could account for the strange pictures Stock took. 

In the end, the Air Force could find nothing in Stock's 
background to suggest that he might have engineered the 
sighting or that he was inclined to invent tall tales. The 
AFOSI agent's report claimed that both Stock and his fa-
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ther were "honest, trustworthy and loyal American citi­
zens." 

The sighting, while questioned at first because of the 
clarity of the pictures, was unsolved. The Stocks were 
honest, and the negatives, five of which were examined 
by the Air Force, showed no signs of tampering. Without 
corroborating evidence, investigators were left with a 
sighting that was very good, but without the body of 
proof needed to make it a great sighting. 

Late investigations, however, suggested that the case 
was, in fact, a hoax. The newspapers for July had been 
filled with stories of UFOs, and a few of the pictures 
taken elsewhere had been published. Stock's photos came 
out during a period when everyone was talking about 
UFOs. 

So pictures supplied another fonn of evidence, but 
those offered in July 1952 left a great deal to be desired. 
They were either wrapped in controversy because of in­
consistencies in them, or in the stories surrounding them, 
or they were of little real value because they failed to 
show any detail. In some cases, the photos could be of 
practically anything. 



------------~II~-----------

CHAPTER FOURTEEN 

Aftennath 

A panel of scientists chaired by Dr. H. P. Robertson was 
the outgrowth of the summer wave of fiying saucers sight­
ings around the country and specifically over Washington 
in 1952. In fact. before the wave of sightings began to ta­
per off in late August, the CIA, aware of a potential intel­
ligence problem involved with the UFO sighting reports, 
began a series of informal discussions about them. These 
meetings were chaired by H. Marshall Chadwell, assis­
tant director of Scientific Intelligence at the CIA. Chad­
well, in fact, with Frederick Durant, apparently traveled 
to Wright-Patterson Air Force Base for a series of brief­
ings about UFOs from the officers of Project Blue Book. 

In late September 1952, Chadwell sent a memo to 
General Walter Bedell Smith, at that time the Director of 
Central Intelligence (DCI). Chadwell wrote: 

Recently an inquiry was conducted by the Office of 
Scientific Intelligence to determine whether there are 
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national security implications in the problem of 
"unidentified fiying objects," i.e. fiying saucers; 
whether adequate study and research is currently be­
ing directed to this problem in its relation to such na­
tional security implications; and what further 
investigation and research should be instituted, by 
whom, and under what aegis. 

Chadwell further wrote, 

It was found that the only unit of government cur­
rently studying the problem is the Directorate of In­
telligence, USAF, which has charged the Air 
Technical Intelligence Center (ATIC) with the re­
sponsibility for investigating the reports of 
sightings ... and major Air Force bases have been 
ordered to make interceptions of unidentified tIying 
objects ... 

Chadwell then made the claims that so many others 
would later echo. 

[P]ublic concern with the phenomena indicates that a 
fair proportion of our population is mentally condi­
tioned to the acceptance of the incredible. In this fact 
lies the potential for the touching-off of mass hyste­
ria ... In order to minimize risk of panic, a national 
policy should be established as to what should be 
told to the public regarding the phenomena. 

It is easy to believe that the CIA was suggesting that a 
cover-up of the truth be implemented here. However, it 
can also be suggested that the CIA was concerned about 
intelligence matters that had little to do with UFOs. In 
other words, hysteria over the approach of an alleged 
UFO could set up a situation in which attention was di-
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verted from a real threat, possibly of Soviet manufacture, 
to a threat that was illusionary. The CIA might be sug­
gesting that public attention be diverted here, from the al­
leged problems of UFOs to the more real problems facing 
the United States in 1952. 

These meeting and discussions about the potential 
problems carried into the late fall of 1952, when Major 
Dewey Fournet, received a call from Frederick Durant, 
who would eventually be one of the lower-ranking mem­
bers of the panel. According to Fournet, 

[Durant] asked me to make a presentation [about 
UFOs] to the CIA which I did. I gave them a few of 
my own opinions based on what I had observed [on 
July 26, 1952, and from the reports he had seen that 
had been forwarded to Project Blue Book] ... from 
that the idea of the Robertson Panel spawned. And 
Fred, through his superiors, convened it. 

The meetings, then, were a direct result of the sum­
mer's sightings, and the problems they had created in a 
number of arenas including the use of military fighters for 
the interceptions and the use of military communications 
channels for reporting of the hundreds of sightings. The 
major magazines, including all the news magazines, had 
carried stories about UFOs, not all of them suggesting 
that those who saw UFOs were fooled by the mundane 
seen under unusual conditions. To add to the pressure on 
the CIA, and on the Air Force, was the fact that UFOs had 
appeared to play games in the skies over Washington, 
D.C., and that had caught the attention of President Tru­
man, who had asked his military advisors for a few an­
swers, especially when Air Force interceptors had been 
unable to catch or to identify the UFOs. The public and 
the president were well aware of that failure. 

In December of 1952, just weeks before the group ac-
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tually met, Chadwell decided the form the scientific advi­
sory panel would take so they could study the ramifica­
tions of UFO sightings. Dr. Michael Swords, who 
carefully reviewed the history of the Robertson Panel, 
said that H. P. Robertson, who would eventually occupy 
the chair, had apparently accompanied Chadwell and Du­
rant to Wright-Patterson Air Force Base. According to 
Swords, Robertson accepted the assignment of chairman 
against his will, but Chadwell had insisted. Chadwell 
wanted someone with scientific stature and Robertson fit 
that bill. Robertson, after accepting the chair, then had to 
"strong-arm" four others to join him in their so-called sci­
entific evaluation of flying saucers. 

Swords, having interviewed Dr. J. Allen Hynek, a par­
ticipant in part of the panel's discussions as well as a sci­
entific consultant to Project Blue Book for its entire 
existence, said: 

As far as Allen Hynek is concerned [these guys] have 
an immediate aura about the committee room that 
this thing is going to be debunked from the absolute 
beginning ... [Committeemen Luis] Alverez and 
[Samuel] Goudsmit are saying nothing but hostile 
things [about flying saucers] and Goudsmit is also 
saying wiseass things ... [Thorton] Page is more 
open minded. [Lloyd] Berkner is not there [having 
failed to arrived on time] . . . 

Hynek had the feeling that the panel members had al­
ready studied the cases that were going to be presented to 
them, or they simply had their minds made up before they 
sat down for the first meeting. In other words, the panel 
was not designed to review the situation, as it had devel­
oped over the summer, but to end the public interest in 
UFOs and the complications that UFO sightings were 
causing the CIA and the Air Force. 
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So under the auspices of the CIA, and headed by Dr. 
H.P. Robertson, the panel convened on January 14, 1953, 
just a little over six months after the sightings at Wash­
ington National. According to Ruppelt, the first two days 
of meetings had been set aside for his review of the cases 
in the Blue Book files and for the scientists to be briefed 
on the findings of Projects Sign, Grudge, and Blue Book, 
as well as the situation as it existed currently at ATIC. 
Confidence in the explanations offered for some of the 
sightings studied by the panel ranged from known to pos­
sible, meaning that Ruppelt and his staff sometimes felt 
they had an answer but weren't positive about it. 

1be briefings to the panel included the intelligence se­
curity concerns and a brief history of the UFO project, 
though it would seem that Ruppelt could have provided a 
more comprehensive analysis of the situation at Wright­
Patterson. Instead, that briefing was left to someone else. 
Ruppelt, as well as other members of the Blue Book 
team, did not attend the first days of the meetings. Once 
those areas-that is, the sighting reports and the investi­
gations of them-had been discussed, Ruppelt, Hynek, 
and other observers were finally allowed into the meeting 
room on Wednesday, all day Thursday, and Friday. 

During his presentation, Ruppelt made it clear that 
much of the data was observational. These reports relied 
on the abilities of the witness to accurately estimate the 
size and speed of the object and to provide other, some­
times complex data. Ruppelt wrote, "We could say only 
that some of the UFOs had been traveling pretty fast." 

Objective data, such as that from radar sites, was avail­
able, but again, it was open to the interpretation of the 
radar operators. Ruppelt mentioned that the best cases 
from their files were those in which radar had tracked the 
objects at 700 to 800 miles an hour. All those on the panel 
were aware that UFOs had been seen on radar over Wash­
ington, D.C., and given the situation at the time, would 
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surely have been aware of the Air Force explanations of­
fered for those sightings in General Samford's press con­
ference at the end of July. 

There was another motive for the panel to meet, and 
something else that had to be considered. The word that 
impressive movie footage of UFOs had been taken had 
leaked into the public arena. One of the films had been 
taken about three years earlier, over Great Falls, Mon­
tana. It showed two very bright objects in the sky, flying 
over some low buildings and then behind a water tower. 
No real shape could be seen behind the lights as they 
silently crossed the sky. 

The second film was that taken by Newhouse in July. 
This one was special, if only because it had been taken by 
a Naval officer who had been trained as a photographer. 
Swords has said that these UFO movies were one of the 
reasons that the panel was formed. The scientists wanted 
to see the movies. They were all very interested in the 
movies. Swords said, "As soon as they get finished with 
all the preliminary briefings, that's the only thing they 
want to do is look at the movies." 

According to Ruppelt, the last day of meetings was re­
served for showing the films. That may not have been the 
best evidence that Blue Book had, but it was certainly the 
most spectacular. No one on the panel suggested that ei­
ther the Newhouse film or the Montana movie were 
faked. But in and of themselves they proved nothing con­
clusively. Fournet said, "But you can knock out the sea 
gulls [as the explanation for the Tremonton film] and then 
where are you?" 

It meant simply that one more mundane explanation 
for the film had been eliminated, but that didn't lead di­
rectly to the extraterrestrial hypothesis. There was noth­
ing on that film, or that shot in Montana, that allowed the 
extraterrestrial explanation to be positively put forward. 
The films might be interesting, and might not be ex-
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plained to the satisfaction of investigators, but that was 
all. Interesting, spectacular, unexplained, but not proof 
that Earth was being visited by aliens. 

Swords said that the last afternoon, Friday, with 
Hynek invited to stay, was when Robinson was given, or 
took, the task of writing the final report. Swords said, 

I can't imagine that H. P. Robertson, a guy like him is 
going to sit down late into the evening and bang out a 
draft of the report on his own that somehow, mysteri­
ously the next morning is already read by Lloyd 
Berkner and has already been taken by Marshal 
Clladwell to the Air Force directorate of intelligence 
and been approved. So when they show up on Satur­
day. Robertson presents this draft to the rest of the 
committee and the rest of the committee does minor 
revisions ... There is some remarks that are out of 
line that they decided are not going to be included. 

According to Swords, 

It seems an amazingly cut and dried deal that by the 
time Saturday shows up, here's this mildly to be re­
vised draft that has already been seen by one of the 
other committee members who wasn't even there for 
the first two and a half days. It's already been seen by 
Chadwell and the U.S. Air Force. 

Over the years, some have claimed the Robertson Panel 
was a whitewash, but a thorough examination of the 
record suggests that the panel scientists did the best they 
could within the framework of their orders. They were not 
experts in the UFO phenomenon and there is no evidence 
that those forming the panel, that is, the CIA, wanted UFO 
experts. Those who joined the panel had not spent months 
or years investigating and reviewing the sighting reports. 
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They spoke to no witnesses, and the only evidence they 
saw were films that showed bright lights moving through 
the sky that could, unfortunately, be interpreted as almost 
anything. And, most importantly, they seemed to ignore 
the sightings that had been the motivation for the fonna­
tion of the panel, the series of radar reports and Air Force 
attempts at interception over Washington. 

One other thing must be understood to keep the 
Robertson Panel in perspective. Their first concern was to 
determine if UFOs posed a threat to national security and 
not what had caused the sightings over Washington. D.C. 
The question of national security was one that they could 
answer. They decided. based on the number of UFO re­
ports made through official intelligence channels through 
the years. that UFOs did. after a fashion. pose a threat. 

Fournet mentioned this finding in his interview with 
me. and Ruppelt mentioned it in his analysis of the whole 
UFO question. Too many reports at the wrong time could 
mask a Soviet attack on the United States. Although hind­
sight shows us this threat was of little importance. espe­
cially when the sorry state of Soviet missile research in 
1952 is considered. it was a major concern to those men 
in the intelligence field in the early 1950s. A sudden flood 
of UFO reports. not unlike what had happened during the 
summer of 1952. could create havoc in the message traf­
fic so that critical messages of an imminent attack would 
be hidden or lost. 

With that as a concern, the Robertson Panel, who had 
seen nothing to suggest that UFOs were anything other 
than misidentifications, hoaxes. and weather and astro­
nomical phenomena, needed to address this concern. That 
was the motivation behind some of the panel's recom­
mendations. These recommendations, then. were born of 
a need to clear the intelligence reporting channels and not 
of a need to answer the questions about the reality of the 
UFO phenomena. 
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The panel report stated: 

... although evidence of any direct threat from these 
sightings was wholly lacking, related dangers might 
well exist resulting from: 

a. Misidentification of actual enemy artifacts by 
defense personnel. 

b. Overloading of emergency reporting chan­
nels with "false" information ("noise to sig­
nal ratio" analogy-Berkner). 

Co Subjectivity of public to mass hysteria and 
greater vulnerability to possible enemy psy­
chological warfare. 

They continued, writing, 

Although not the concern of the CIA, the first two of 
these problems may seriously affect the Air Defense 
intelligence system, and should be studied by ex­
perts, possibly under ADC. If U.F.O.'s become dis­
credited in a reaction to the "flying saucer" scare, or 
if reporting channels are saturated with false and 
poorly documented reports, our capability of detect­
ing hostile activity will be reduced. Dr. Page noted 
that more competent screening or filtering of re­
ported sightings at or near the source is required, and 
that this can best be accomplished by an educational 
program. 

Of all the suggestions in the panel report, this is the 
area that has caused the most trouble with interpretation. 
The panel was suggesting that if people were more famil­
iar with what was in the sky around them, if they were fa­
miliar with natural phenomena that were rare but 
spectacular, then many sighting reports could be elimi­
nated. How many UFO sightings are explained by Venus, 
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meteors, or bright stars that seemed to hover for hours? In 
today's environment, with video cameras everywhere, 
how many times has Venus been taped and offered by 
witnesses as proof they saw something? 

Under the subheading of "Educational Program," the 
panel recommended, "The Panel's concept of a broad ed­
ucational program integrating efforts of all concerned 
agencies was that it should have two major aims: training 
and 'debunking.''' 

The panel explained their thoughts, writing: 

The training aim would result in proper recognition 
of unusually illuminated objects (e.g. balloons, air­
craft reflections) as well as natural phenomena (me­
teors, fireballs, mirages, noctilucent clouds). Both 
visual and radar recognition are concerned. There 
would be many levels in such education ... This 
training should result in a marked reduction in re­
ports caused by misidentified cases and resultant 
confusion. 

The problem with the next paragraph came from the 
use of the word debunking. Many read something nefari­
ous into it, while the use of it and the tone of the para­
graph suggest something that was, at the time, fairly 
innocuous, at least according to Condon sixteen years 
later. 

The "debunking" aim would result in reduction in 
public interest in "flying saucers," which today 
evokes a strong psychological reaction. This educa­
tion could be accomplished by mass media such as 
television, motion pictures, and popular articles. Ba­
sis of such education would be actual case histories 
which had been puzzling at first but later explained. 
As in the case of conjuring tricks, there is much less 
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stimulation if the "secret" is known. Such a program 
should tend to reduce the current gUllibility of the 
public and consequently their susceptibility to clever 
hostile propaganda. The Panel noted that the general 
absence of Russian propaganda based on a subject 
with so many obvious possibilities for exploitation 
might indicate a possible Russian official policy. 

They then discussed the planning of the educational 
program. Some have seen that as a "disinfonnation" pro­
gram designed to explain UFOs as mundane. The real 
reason behind it. however, seems to be to end sighting re­
ports made by those who are unfamiliar with the sky 
above them. The educational program was suggested as a 
teacbingtool. 

Seventeen years later, Edward Condon would address 
a similar concern. He wanted an educational program that 
would discourage interest in UFOs. Again, he wasn't ad­
dressing the problem of the reality of the situation, but 
was concerned with a symptom of it. The code word was 
education, but the result would be the same. They could 
hid the truth about UFOs behind the cloak of superior ed­
ucation, convincing the unenlightened that flying saucers 
were the realm of the unschooled, the ignorant, and the 
drunk. It is a policy that seems to have worked, based on 
public stereotypes of those who see UFOs. 

According to those who were at some or all of the 
panel's sessions, the UFO infonnation presented was 
stage-managed and had little to do with the situation that 
had developed over the summer of 1952. They had a lim­
ited time and were unable to examine all aspects of the 
UFO field in the time they had. It can be suggested that a 
careful management of the data supplied would provide a 
biased picture and that the conclusions drawn from that 
specific data would be accurate, but those conclusions 
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would be skewed. It could be argued that the panel was 
designed specifically so that time would not allow those 
embarrassing questions to be asked. And, it can be sug­
gested that panel was loaded with scientists who had al­
ready made up their minds about the reality of UFOs. 

It could also be suggested that the panel, whose forma­
tion might have been the result of President Truman's de­
sire for answers, would be presented instead to President 
Eisenhower. Truman's administration ended in January 
1953, replaced by that of Eisenhower. The panel was not 
reporting for the man who had asked for answers, but one 
who had been campaigning during the critical time of 
July 1952. 

The question then becomes, was someone in the gov­
ernment confident enough in his own abilities to micro­
manage the data so that he could inftuence the 
conclusions? Could he be sure that there wouldn't be a 
wild card on the table that might jerk his carefully pre­
pared plan off the rails? The study was going to be classi­
fied so the potential damage was limited for a time. But 
what would happen if the study concluded that UFOs 
were from other planets and that information leaked into 
the public arena? 

It seems to be a very big risk to undertake. It also im­
plies that there was someone at the top managing these 
things who was brilliant beyond description. If someone 
conceived of this plan as a way of convincing the vast 
majority of the people in the intelligence and scientific 
communities that UFOs were little more than illusion, 
misidentification and hoax, it worked brilliantly. And, ac­
cording to Swords, Robertson, Chadwell, and the others 
at CIA were just the sort of men who could design such a 
plan, especially when a new set of managers would be ap­
pointed by the new president. Besides, they were the ones 
who selected the panel members. The only one who 
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seemed unbiased was Thorton Page, and he was over­
whelmed by the prestige of the other, high-powered panel 
members. 

It must be pointed out there is some interesting evi­
dence to support this scenario. The evidence suggests that 
the panel was empowered as a fact-finding commission 
and because the evidence for the extraterrestrial given to 
them was weak to nonexistent, it concluded that UFOs 
posed no threat to national security, but not that they were 
not extraterrestrial. 

It would seem that if, as many have suggested, the 
Robertson Panel was just another in a long line of manip­
ulated investigations with foregone conclusions, that the 
recommendations would be to cease the operations. If the 
members of the panel knew the truth and were hiding it, 
they were recommending the path that could expose that 
data to all. But the reality of the situation seems to be that 
only one or two of the top men knew the truth. The others 
just thought they did. And although they recommended 
that Blue Book be open to public scrutiny, Blue Book was 
about to become little more than a shell of its former self. 
Air Defense Command regulations were already written 
that would move UFO investigation from Blue Book and 
ATIC to another, classified unit. The public would not 
know the difference. 

Dewey Fournet, who was present during some of the 
Robertson Panel meetings, who briefed them on the 
sighting reports, and who answered their questions about 
the investigation said that it was a legitimate effort. They 
were searching for answers. But Fournet had not been 
present for all the sessions, and he thought that Durant 
had authored the report at the conclusion of the discus­
sions late on Friday. Fournet did not know that the report, 
in draft form, had existed before Friday and possibly be­
fore the panel was even convened on Wednesday. 

But the question that seemed to be foremost in the 
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minds of those on the panel was whether there was a 
threat to national security. That is the angle that has been 
overlooked too often. Robertson might have wanted to 
answer the question about the nature of the phenomenon, 
but that's doubtful. Instead, he answered the one he had 
to. UFOs, at that point, posed no threat to national secu­
rity other than their ability to clog reporting channels. M­
ter more than five years of UFO sighting reports, no 
hostile intent had been observed. 

The emerging documentation, the minutes of the meet­
ings, the diaries and notes kept by the participants, and 
discussions held with them in later years provides us with 
aeveral important clues. It was scripted from the very be.. 
&inning without those who made presentations aware that 
the final conclusions were drawn before they even sat 
down. 

The final irony here is that the panel, originated under 
the Truman administration, partially because of the sight­
ings made over Washington, didn't have to report to Tru­
man. By the time the panel was formed, and by the time 
they had finished their report, a new administration had 
taken over the reigns of the government. Eisenhower 
wasn't interested in UFO sightings in July 1952. 



------------~II~-----------

CHAPTER FIFTEEN 

Radar and Weather 

To fully understand the significance of the Washington 
Nationals, it is necessary to understand something about 
radar, its history, and anomalous propagation that can 
render it useless. Radar is a wonderful tool, but to believe 
that an object being seen on radar is proven to be an ac­
tual physical object is to misunderstand radar. 

Many people believe that if we can find a good radar 
case-that is, one without obvious explanation-then we 
move closer to proving something about the reality of 
UFOs. There are good cases, involving multiple wit­
nesses, including interceptor pilots, multiple radars, and 
gun-camera films of the object. The explanations for 
those sightings offered by officials are less than plausible 
in some respects, but equally plausible in others. These 
sorts of cases do, however, supply one aspect of physical 
evidence about the reality of UFOs, and they add a di­
mension of corroboration by instrumentality, but we must 
be aware of the pitfalls that dot such a landscape. 
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Throughout the history of the development of radar, 
the capabilities of the various sets and designs have been 
underestimated and misunderstood by those using them. 
During World War II, for example, radar operators and 
specialists in London were surprised and puzzled by a 
radar return that would appear quickly, expand, and then 
just vanish. It happened each morning as the sun began to 
rise, which, had they been paying closer attention, would 
have provided them with a good clue about it. 

To discover what was happening, observers were 
posted near the scene where the radar suggested that the 
blip originated. As dawn broke, hundreds if not thousands 
of birds emerged from nesting and took off in all direc­
tions searching for food. The cloud of birds, expanding 
outward as they left the area of the trees, was responsible 
for the early morning radar return. No one expected the 
radars to be sensitive enough to pick up and track some­
thing as small as the birds. 

In September 1951, technicians at Fort Monmouth, 
New Jersey, were demonstrating their latest radar and 
how it could automatically track anything up to and in­
cluding the fastest of the jet fighters. Using the scope in 
front of a crowd of visiting dignitaries and generals, a 
technician tried to lock on to a target about 12,000 yards 
away. The target broke the lock and the embarrassed op­
erator tried to reestablish it, suggesting that the object, 
whatever it was, had to be flying faster than a jet, other­
wise he would have been able to establish the lock. 

The equipment, the weather, and the operator were all 
checked carefully, and no one could find a plausible solu­
tion for what had now become a UFO sighting. There 
were no inversion layers to confound the operator, no 
unidentified jet traffic in the area, according to all the 
available flight records, and no outside influences that 
could account for the experiences of the technician as he 
tried to lock on to the rapidly moving object. 
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The next day, again at Fort Monmouth, a telephone 
call came from post headquarters to the radar facility to 
find out if they had anything on radar south of the base. 
The officers at headquarters, who had spotted a spherical 
shape high overhead, wanted to know how high the object 
was. According to the information available to the radar 
operator, who did, in fact, find a return on the scope, the 
sphere was at 93,000 feet, far above the service ceilings 
of any military or civilian aircraft at that time. Rockets 
were being fired that could reach those sorts of altitudes, 
but none were being fired in New Jersey. It confused 
those at the radar facility, suggesting that something very 
unusual had been fiying over their base at 93,000 feet. 

More unidentified objects were spotted around Fort 
Monmouth later that day and into the next. Again the au­
tomatic tracking of the radars failed because it seemed 
that the erratically flying craft was faster than the modem 
jets, since the attempts to lock on just wouldn't hold. And 
finally, a much slower-moving object was spotted and 
tracked for several minutes before it was lost in the dis­
tance, proving to the puzzled operators that the radar was 
working just as it was supposed to work. 

Here were a number of highly credible radar sightings 
that suggested some unusual objects were being spotted 
by the technicians at Fort Monmouth. With visual sight­
ings corroborating the radar returns, it was clear that the 
answer was not some kind of malfunction. The fast, high­
flying UFOs certainly weren't illusions, and no one 
thought about suggesting some kind of a hoax because of 
the equipment involved, the integrity of the officers mak­
ing the reports, and impossibility of creating that sort of 
an illusion. 

But plausible explanations made sense to the Air Force 
officers assigned as investigators as they reviewed the ac­
cumulated data. The officers suggested the object that 
was faster than ajet wasn't an aircraft at all. The operator 
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had made an mechanical error as he attempted to lock on 
to the target. It was considerably slower than a jet fighter 
and was identified, based on the time, location, and direc­
tion of movement, as a commercial airliner on a routine 
flight. The problem was a miscalculation of the range to 
the target. The operator thought that it was much farther 
away than it was. 

The radar search for the object in the sky that had been 
precipitated by the telephone call-the object that was 
fiying at an altitude of 93,000 feet-twned out to be a 
balloon, which the officers who called already knew. 1bere 
was a discussion at the base headquarters about how biIh 
the balloon was and they had asked that the radar be UIed 
to determine the altitude. Those who had received the 
telephone call overreacted to it, thinking that the officers 
at headquarters were attempting to identify some sort of 
UFO. They had not seen it, and had not been told what it 
was. They had just been asked about the altitude. 

The last of the Fort Monmouth sightings were identi­
fied, again, as a balloon, and as weather-related phenom­
ena. The excitement of the day before, that is, the belief 
that they had seen some sort of flying saucer, had influ­
enced those who were involved in the second day's activ­
ities. They were primed to accept the stories of flying 
saucers because of the reaction of the others and their be­
lief that the equipment would not make a mistake. They 
were right-the equipment didn't make a mistake, the op­
erator did. He had made some assumptions that had not 
been warranted by the information he had. 

These were good sightings, confirmed by radar. Some­
thing real was in the sky. But proper scientific investiga­
tion had also found a good explanation for the sightings. 
It told us something about the capabilities of radar. It also 
demonstrated that just because something was seen on 
radar didn't mean that the object was unidentifiable or of 
extraterrestrial origin. 
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It fact, what we learn about radar is that just because 
there is something in the sky doesn't mean that what the 
eyewitnesses are observing is the same thing as the object 
located by the radar. There are many cases in which an 
unidentified blip is located and observers outside are 
alerted. Looking into the sky, they eventually see some­
thing that they believe is related to the blip on the scope. 
Sometimes this simply isn't the case. 

Philip Klass, in UFOs Explained, noted that just such 
a case was reported on September 14, 1972. The West 
Palm Beach, Florida, airport control tower began to re­
ceive telephone calls about a very bright object seen out 
over the Atlantic Ocean an hour or so before dawn. 'The 
controner looked out and saw what he described as a 
"glowing circular object" that was, according to his esti­
mate, about two miles from the tower. To him, it was 
clearly something very strange. 

He then turned his attention to an old surveillance 
radar that had been reconditioned. After studying the 
scope, he did find an object that was ten miles east of the 
airport. It was larger than the blips of aircraft display on 
the scope, moving far too slow to be an airplane, and fly­
ing toward the coast. 

The controller made a number of telephone calls and 
found that the radars at Miami International Airport also 
showed the object, as did the Air Defense Command 
radars at Homestead Air Force Base. The controller also 
talked to the crew of an Eastern Air Lines jet flying in the 
area who said that they, too, could see the bright light in 
the east. 

Two F-106 fighters were scrambled into the brighten­
ing sky. Although equipped with onboard radars, neither 
pilot could see the UFO. The controller said that he could 
still see the object and agreed to help the fighter pilots 
find the UFO. Vectored by the controller, and after a se­
ries of back and forth maneuvers, including flying over 
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the top of the tower, the pilots identified the light as Venus. 
We could take that as a typical Air Force explanation, 

but the local sheriff, William Heidtman, using a county 
helicopter in response to many calls about the bright 
light, tried to intercept and identify the object. He be­
lieved that he was attempting to intercept Venus. His 
identification was independent of the Air Force, but it did 
corroborate their conclusion, proving that Venus can fool 
even the most experienced observer. 

There seems to be little question as to what the light in 
the eastern sky was. Venus, at its brightest, when the con­
ditions are proper, can look more like an oval object tly­
ing in our atmosphere than a planet some thirty million 
miles away. 

The case also demonstrates that when a light is seen in 
the sky, it is often possible to find "uncorrelated" targets 
on the radar scope. These sorts of cases must be investi­
gated carefully, and it must be remembered that the light 
in the sky might not be responsible for the image on the 
radar. 

It should also be noted that in this case, though the 
control tower operator was fooled by Venus, as were hun­
dreds of others, the object was properly identified. The 
report was solved by the men on the scene and the fighter 
pilot's attempts to intercept the object. That identification 
was corroborated by the local sheriff. While it could be 
said that the Air Force pilots, because they were Air Force 
pilots, might have had a hidden agenda, that cannot be 
said for the sheriff. The exact source of the object on 
radar was not identified. 

This leads us into a discussion of radar itself and the 
reliability of it. Roy H. Blackmer, Jr., along with R.J. 
Allen, R. T. H. Collis, C. Herold, and R.1. Presnell, wrote 
about the workings of radar in the Condon Committee re­
port. The first point they made in that study is one of the 
most important. According to them: 
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At first consideration, radar might appear to offer a 
positive, non-subjective method of observing UFOs. 
Radar seems to reduce data to ranges, altitudes, ve­
locities, and such characteristics as radar reflectivity. 
On closer examination however, the radar method of 
looking at an object, although mechanical and elec­
tronically precise, is in many aspects substantially 
less comprehensive than the visual approach. In addi­
tion, the very techniques that provide the objective 
measurements are themselves susceptible to errors 
and anomalies that can be misleading. 

That certaiDly is true. But it is abo true that there are 
very few cues in wbich there were only radar contacts and 
DO correapondiDg visual sightings. To be useful, in a sci­
entific arena. both chains of evidence are necessary. And, 
as demonstrated by Klass, as well as many others, it is 
necessary to make sure that the object in the sky that has 
been located by the radar is the same one being observed 
on the ground or by the pilots who are asked to identify it. 

The Condon Committee report makes it clear that one 
of the weak links in the radar cases is the radar operators. 
They wrote: 

The radar operator himself is an important part of the 
radar systems. He must be well trained and familiar 
with all of the interacting factors affecting the opera­
tion and performance of the equipment. When an ex­
perienced operator is moved to a new location, an 
important part of his retraining is learning pertinent 
factors related to expected anomalies due to local ge­
ographical and meteorological factors. 

In his analysis of the West Palm Beach case, Klass 
pointed out that the radar used in the control tower was a 
"twenty-year-old ASR-3 that had originally been in-
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stalled at a larger airport that had since been given a more 
modern radar, while the old ASR-3 had been recondi­
tioned for use at West Palm Beach." He mentioned noth­
ing about the radar training of the control tower operator, 
but it seems likely that it was more of an "on the job" 
training than a complete course in radar operations of that 
particular type of equipment. 

I should point out here that this is often the course 
taken by writers of the UFO phenomenon. We speculate 
about a condition rather than ask the questions. Klass 
should have found out the level of training of the control 
tower operator, as should I. The message is that in sci­
ence, we can't accept as fact our speculations. 

The operator's lack of experience in radar systems, on 
that specific system, or in the local geological conditions 
might have led to his false conclusion that the target on 
the scope was related to the object in the sky. It was a 
question that should have been asked at the time, though 
by the time UFO investigators arrived, a viable solution 
had been found and all other considerations had been ren­
dered moot. 

There are, according to the Condon Committee experts, 

five possible relationships between radar echoes and 
targets. These are: 

a. no echo-no target; 
h. no echo-when a visual object appears to be 

in a position to be detected; 
c. echo-unrelated to a target; 
d. echo-from a target in a position other than 

that indicated; 
e. echo-from a target at the indicated location. 

They point out that both the first and last possibility 
are indicative of the normal operation of the radar. Of the 
others, they wrote: 
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Possibility (b) becomes of importance where there is 
an object that is seen visually. Then, from knowledge 
of the types of targets that are detectable by the radar, 
some knowledge of the characteristics of the visual 
object could be obtained. 

They continued, 

The situations (c) where there is an apparent echo but 
no target are those when the manifestation on the PPI 
[plan position indicator] is due to a signal that is not 
reradiated portion of the transmitted pulse but is from 
another source. 

Situation (d), according to the Condon Committee re­
port: 

First, abnormal bending of the radar beam may 
take place due to atmospheric conditions. Second, 
a detectable target may be present beyond the de­
signed range of the radar and be presented on the 
display as if it were within the designed range .... 
Third, stray energy from the antenna may be re­
flected from an obstacle to a target in a direction 
quite different from that in which the antenna is 
pointed .... Finally, targets could be detected by 
radiation in side lobes and would be presented on 
the display as if there were detected by the main 
beam. 

The last situation, (d)-that is, an echo and a target lo­
cated where it is indicated by the radar-is of primary in­
terest to our discussion. In this case, the primary task is 
the identification of the target. 

The authors noted: 
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The possible relationships listed above show that 
radar scope interpretation is not simple. To attempt to 
identify targets, the operator must know the charac­
teristics of his radar; whether it is operating properly; 
and the type of targets it is capable of detecting. He 
must be very aware of the conditions or events by 
which echoes will be presented on the radar in a po­
sition that is different from the true target location (of 
in the case of interference no target). Finally the op­
erator must acquire collateral information weather 
data. transponder, voice communication, visual 0b­
servations or handover information from another 
radar before he can be absolutely sure he has identi­
fied an unusual echo. 

During the Washington Nationals, there was a compli­
cating factor. This was the weather in the area. It provided 
the Air Force, and later the Condon Committee, with a 
built-in excuse for the sightings. To them, this clearly was 
a case of temperature inversion. 

The weather data, available from various records, 
show that there were high temperatures and high humid­
ity, both conditions that create temperature inversions. 
What happens is that a layer of air at one temperature is 
trapped between two layers of another temperature. The 
air, then, acts like a lens, bending the rays of light, and in 
the case of the Washington Nationals, the radar waves. 
The electronic beams, then reflected downward, begin to 
pick up objects on the ground, bouncing off them and re­
turning to the radar scope. If the object reflecting the 
wave is a vehicle-say, a car or truck-it will have mo­
tion. 

This phenomenon is now well understood by everyone 
who has ever looked at weather radar, which often dis­
plays what is called "ground clutter." The one thing that 
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must be remembered is that weather radar is attempting 
to "see" precipitation. Radars at airports, defense radars, 
and antiaircraft radar operate on different frequencies so 
that some of the weather-related problems are eliminated. 

The question that must be addressed is, was the inver­
sion layer strong enough to create the problems, and 
should the controllers at Washington National have been 
able to tell the difference between the solid targets and 
those created by the weather? 

First, as for the strength of the inversion layer, it seems 
to come down to which expert you want to believe. Some 
say that it was. OChers say that it wasn't. All agree that 
there was an inversion, and all apee that the weather was 
conducive to the formation of inversion layers that do 
produce weather-related targets. 

Second, all the controllers, as well as the military ex­
perts who were in the radar room on the second night, 
said they were familiar with weather-created targets and 
that the targets over Washington, D.C., were not weather 
related-at least, not the ones they were watching. Four­
net and Ruppelt both said that the controllers were ignor­
ing those targets that were most likely the result of the 
weather. 

AI Chop, who was there, said that the targets seemed 
to respond to the presence of the interceptors. At one 
point, as the jet fighters arrived, all the UFOs disap­
peared. When the jets returned to base, the UFOs reap­
peared on the scopes. That suggests that some of the 
targets were reacting to the jets. and that would tend to 
eliminate weather. 

What all this means is that the evidence developed 
through a radar case is more complicated than just a blip 
on the screen and a corresponding light in the sky. The 
evidence has to be assembled carefully and the expertise 
of the operator, or operators. becomes a critical factor. 
Without an operator who is good at the job, the case is 
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weakened considerably and the conclusions drawn may 
be skewed. 

But when all is said and done, the radar return adds a 
dimension of reliability to the case. When the target is 
spotted visually, right where it is supposed to be, it means 
that we are no longer dealing with illusion or imagina­
tion. We are dealing with something that is real and solid. 



------------~lIr------------

CHAPTER SIXTEEN 

The Condon Committee 

To fully understand the Washington National sightings, 
it is necessary to understand the investigations that took 
place outside of the official Air Force project, as well as 
the attitudes of various government officials during this 
time. Although the Air Force had explained the sightings 
to their satisfaction and the satisfaction of the press and 
science, there were still questions to be asked and an­
swers to be sought. Many didn't believe the Air Force 
suggestion that the trained radar operators at Washington 
National Airport could be so completely fooled by a 
weather-related phenomenon that they had to have wit­
nessed dozens of times in the past. 

When those sightings were coupled with the reports 
from both military interceptor pilots and civilian airline 
pilots asked to look for the lights, many were of the opin­
ion that something solid and real was being seen over the 
city. The Air Force seemed to ignore too much of the eye­
witness testimony, especially that from its own personnel. 
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The Air Force had an answer and they didn't want incon­
venient testimony cluttering up the landscape. Pressure 
was carefully applied so that all testimony would con­
form and there would be no loose ends to cause trouble. 

The Air Force seems to have understood their real 
problem very well. To the high-ranking officers of the Air 
Force, it was no longer so much a problem of national se­
curity as it was one of public relations. Given that, not 
long after the Washington Nationals, the Air Force began 
to attempt to move Project Blue Book out of ATIC and 
into the public relations offices of the secretary of the Air 
Force in Washington, D.C. Then, on April 1, 1960, in a 
later to Major General Dougher at the Pentagon, A. Fran­
cis Archer, a scientific advisor to Project Blue Book, 
commented on a memo written by Colonel Evans, a rank­
ing officer at ATIC, about Blue Book. Archer wrote: "[I] 
have tried to get Blue Book out of ATIC for 10 years ... 
and do not agree that the loss of prestige to the UFO proj­
ect is a disadvantage." This was the beginning of the at­
tempts to end Project Blue Book and the beginning of a 
chain of events that would lead to the creation of the Uni­
versity of Colorado study that would become known in 
the UFO community as the Condon Committee. A chain 
that had a very important link that had been forged in July 
1952 over Washington, D.C. 

Another volley was fired in 1962, when Lieutenant 
Colonel Robert Friend, who at that time was the chief of 
Project Blue Book, wrote to his headquarters that the 
project should be handed over to a civilian agency that 
would word its report in such a way as to allow the Air 
Force to drop the study. At about the same time, Edward 
Trapnell, an assistant to the secretary of the Air Force, 
said pretty much the same thing when talking to Dr. 
Robert Calkins of the Brookings Institution. Find a civil­
ian committee to study the problem, then have them con­
clude it the way the Air Force wanted it concluded. One 
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of the stipulations, of course, was that this civilian group 
say some positive things about the way the Air Force had 
handled the UFO problem for the last fifteen or twenty 
years. This became, in a very broad sense, the blueprint 
for the Condon Committee. 

Public pressure, which began with the Washington Na­
tionals, was mounting for an independent study of UFOs. 
The Air Force explanations, often half-explained and 
sometimes not completely thought out, resulted in a pub­
lic perception that the Air Force investigators were hiding 
the real truth. This was reinforced when people studied 
the Washington Nationals. The questions that kept com­
ing up were the same and the Air Force answers were 
seen as inadequate. 

Then for three years in a row, starting in 1964, with a 
spectacular landing in New Mexico, a series of UFO 
sightings again grabbed national headlines. The explana­
tions offered by the Air Force and their scientific consult­
ants were found by both the press and the public to lack 
credibility. Gerald Ford, a congressman from Michigan, 
was demanding congressional hearings about UFOs be­
cause his constituents were demanding answers about 
their sightings. The wheels were threatening to come off 
the cart once again. 

The outgrowth of this pressure by the public and Con­
gress was an allegedly independent and scientific investi­
gation of UFOs. Heralded in the beginning by those inside 
the civilian flying saucer community as just what the UFO 
phenomenon needed, the Condon Committee was organ­
ized at the University of Colorado and funded by more 
than half a million dollars of Air Force money. Several 
universities had been approached, but they had all turned 
down the research grant. The University of Colorado had 
been way down the list of possible sites, but it was the 
only university that accepted the challenge. That a few 
arms were twisted to make this work is a common belief. 
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The man who officially received the Air Force grant 
and became the scientific director of the project was Dr. 
Edward U. Condon, a professor of physics and astro­
physics and a fellow of the Joint Institute for Laboratory 
Astrophysics at the University of Colorado. As a career 
scientist, Condon had the sort of prestige the Air Force 
wanted in their scientists. 

Prior to the Air Force assignment, Condon had had a 
distinguished career as a scientist. He was a fanner direc­
tor of the National Bureau of Standards and was a mem­
ber of the National Academy of Sciences. In 1941, he was 
named to the committee that established the atomic bomb 
program. He was a scientific advisor to a special Senate 
atomic energy committee for Naval Atomic Bomb tests in 
1946. Twenty years later, Condon was a professor at the 
University of Colorado. 

As noted by the documentation that appeared after the 
declassification of the Project Blue Book files, the fonna­
tion of the Condon Committee was part of an already ex­
isting plan. Find a university to study the problem (flying 
saucers) and then conclude it the way the Air Force 
wanted it concluded. The first universities approached did 
not agree to the conditions placed on them by the Air 
Force contracts and rejected the opportunity to conduct 
the research. 

It is important here to understand that the Condon 
Committee wasn't a legitimate scientific effort. It was a 
setup from the very beginning. The evidence for this is 
more than just idle speCUlation, it is an established fact. 
Dr. Michael Swords has spent the last several years 
studying the history of the Condon Committee and con­
finns the view that the Air Force used Condon, and that 
Condon was a willing participant in the deception. Ac­
cording to a letter discovered by Swords and written by 
Lieutenant Colonel Robert Hippler to Condon at the be­
ginning of the investigation, the plan was laid out in no 
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uncertain terms. Hippler told Condon that no one knew of 
any extraterrestrial visitation and therefore there "has 
been no visitation." 

Hippler also pointed out that Condon "must consider" 
the cost of the investigations of UFOs and to "determine 
if the taxpayer should support this" for the next ten 
years-this despite the fact that Samford and others had 
repeatedly told the press that the cost of investigating 
UFOs was a minor expense. Hippler warned Condon that 
it would be another decade before another independent 
study could be mounted that might end the Air Force 
UFO project. 

Condon understood what Hippler was trying to tell 
him. Three days after receiving the letter, while in Com­
ing, New York, Condon delivered a lecture to scientists, 
including those members of the Coming Section of the 
American Chemical Society and the Coming Glass 
Works Chapter of Sigma XI. He told them, "It is my in­
clination right now to recommend that the government 
get out of this business. My attitude right now is that 
there is nothing in it. But I am not supposed to reach a 
conclusion for another year." Such a statement certainly 
indicates that Condon understood his instructions. 

Robert Low responded to Hippler's letter a day or so 
after Condon's Coming talk, telling him that the commit­
tee were very happy to now know what they are supposed 
to do. Low wrote, " ... you indicate what you believe the 
Air Force wants of us, and I am very glad to have your 
opinion." Low pointed out that Hippler had answered the 
questions about the study "quite directly." 

Low, who in the UFO literature has become nothing 
more than Condon's hatchet man, did want to do a proper 
scientific investigation. In fact, according to Swords, Low 
had a rather brilliant plan for the investigation that would 
have entailed the creation of a "case book" containing 
both new cases and reinvestigation of some of the clas-
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sics, such as the Washington Nationals. These were cases 
that were considered extremely puzzling. Low hinted to 
those around him that he believed UFOs were a subject 
worthy of study, although he didn't believe that the study 
would lead to extraterrestrial visitation. He did seem to 
believe that something of scientific value could come 
from a properly conducted investigation. 

In 1969, the Condon Committee released their find­
ings. As had all of those who had passed before them, the 
Condon Committee found that UFOs posed no threat to 
the security of the United States. In Section I, Recom­
mendations and Conclusions, Edward U. Condon wrote, 
'''The history of the past 21 years has repeatedly led Air 
Force officers to the conclusion that none of the things 
seen, or thought to have been seen, which pass by the 
name UFO reports, constituted any hazard or threat to na­
tional security." 

After suggesting that such a finding was "out of our 
province" to study, and if they did find any such evidence, 
they would, quite naturally, pass it on to the Air Force, 
Condon wrote, "We know of no reason to question the 
finding of the Air Force that the whole class of UFO re­
ports so far considered does not pose a defense problem." 

Included in the Recommendations, was the idea that: 

It is our impression that the defense function could 
be performed within the framework established for 
intelligence and surveillance opef8tions without the 
continuance of a special unit such as Project Blue 
Book, but this is a question for defense specialists 
rather than research scientists. 

Finally, Condon wrote, 

It has been contended that the subject has been 
shrouded in official secrecy. We conclude otherwise. 
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We have no evidence of secrecy concerning UFO re­
ports. What has been miscalled secrecy has been no 
more than an intelligent policy of delay in releasing 
data so that the public does not become confused by 
premature publication of incomplete studies or re­
ports. 

The Condon report suggested there was no evidence of 
extraterrestrial visitation and that all UFO reports could 
be explained if sufficient data had been gathered in the 
beginning. This is exactly what Hippler wrote in his Jan­
uary 1967 letter to Condon. Yet, even when they selected 
the sightings they would investigate, they failed to ex­
plain almost 30 percent of them. In one case (over 
Labrador, 30 June 1954), they wrote, ''This unusual sight­
ing should therefore be assigned to the category of some 
almost certainly natural phenomenon, which is so rare 
that it apparently has never been reported before or 
since." 

So there weren't any cases that they found persuasive. 
They had looked at some of the "classics," including the 
Washington Nationals. Just what did they find during 
their investigation of those sightings? 

The Washington National sightings, as detailed by the 
Condon Committee, bore no resemblance to the unbiased 
reports offered by other investigators. In the Condon re­
port, it was suggested that very few of the pilots sent to 
look for UFOs on those nights saw anything. Most of the 
sightings were made on radar, and the radar end was ex­
plainable as weather-related phenomenon. Although they 
didn't say it, the suggestion was that the timing of the 
sightings was indicative of a mass hysteria induced in the 
various observers by discussions of UFOs and some of 
the reports that had been published in the newspapers. 

The problem with the Condon assessment is the idea 
there were few visual sightings. The report did quote 
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from a few Air Force personnel who talked of seeing 
stars, but even Ed Ruppelt, head of Project Blue Book 
during the sightings, admitted that those "confessions" 
seemed coerced. Ruppelt, the man on the inside, had pub­
lished information that Air Force personnel had changed 
their stories to conform to the Air Force line, but Condon 
and the scientists didn't follow up on this suggestion. 

Dewey Fournet and Al Chop, who both were present 
on the second Saturday night set of sightings, knew that 
visual sightings had been made. Fournet said, "When you 
combine radar reports with [Lieutenant John] Holcomb's 
explanations to me about solid returns with reports of the 
pilots, I think you can conclude they were not reflections 
from the atmosphere or temperature inversions." 

Aware that the Condon Committee had virtually over­
looked the visual sightings made by both civilian airline 
and military interceptor pilots, as well as lock-ons by on­
board radars, I asked about the Condon Committee's sug­
gestion there were few visual corroborations. Fournet 
said, '''The reports we got from at least one of the fighter 
pilots was pretty gory." He wouldn't elaborate, just say­
ing that "It was pretty interesting." 

Fournet made one other point that I found interesting. 
Although the Condon Committee had spoken to a number 
of the controllers who had been in the radar room during 
the Washington Nationals, they didn't search for Fournet. 
Finding him from scratch was incredibly easy. It took 
only five minutes and I didn't have access to the Air Force 
personnel records that could have been used by the Con­
don Committee. The Air Force was sponsoring the inves­
tigation and they would have been able to put one of the 
scientists in touch with Fournet, had anyone asked ques­
tions about him. 

I asked Fournet if he would have told the Condon 
Committee investigators what he had told me about his 
experiences in the radar room that night. Fournet said, 
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"Yes, I would. In fact, I think I would have told them 
more had I known what they were doing." 

During my interview with Al Chop, I asked him if he 
had been contacted by the Condon Committee during 
their research. He said that he hadn't been. He would 
have, of course, provided them with as much information 
as he had given to me if they had called him. 

During his investigation in December 1966, Michael 
Wertheimer spoke to many of the people who had been 
involved in the sightings, including some of the air traffic 
controllers and the Air Force personnel who reported 
sightings. He was aware of the visual and radar sightings, 
that targets were seen at least once on radars in three sep­
arate locations, and that onboard radars had locked onto 
the targets as the jet interceptors had chased the UFOs 
over Washington. 

Wertheimer, in his preliminary report, made it very 
clear that the controllers believed they were watching 
solid targets of craft in the sky and not of reflected radar 
waves. These men, experienced in the anomalies that 
could appear on radar, were well aware of the Air Force 
explanation of weather-related phenomenon, but they 
didn't believe it to be accurate. Paul Petersen, one of 
those controllers, told Wertheimer that he had never be­
fore seen weather targets like those he saw in July 1952. 
He also mentioned that he had only seen similar targets 
on a couple of occasions after those events in July 1952. 

Wertheimer did interview Harry Barnes about the 
sightings. In his preliminary report, Wertheimer wrote: 

Mr. Barnes found the experience of discovering un­
known radar and visual targets flying over Washing­
ton, particularly in the vicinity of the White House, at 
a small early hour in the morning when there was no 
known air traffic, quite "terrifying." The object made 
right angle turns on the radar and in other ways exe-



The Condon Committee 247 

cuted maneuvers that no self-respecting aircraft 
could. He indicated that nobody at the time thought it 
was the Russians or experimental aircraft or Mars­
men, but everybody who was involved seemed quite 
puzzled. 

Wertheimer noted that Bames did not believe that the 
objects they had seen on the radar that night were 
"ghosts." The radars were functioning properly. Various 
radar sets, including those in the jet fighters, detected the 
UFOs. There were visual sightings to corroborate the 
radar sightings. 

Wertheimer wrote, "Mr. Barnes also indicated that be 
thought it was very unlikely that the sightings were due to 
a temperature inversion, because the objects were moving 
all the time and also didn't have the shape on the radar 
scope that known temperature inversions produce." In 
other words, the senior man in the radar room, an experi­
enced radar operator, told the Condon Committee investi­
gator that the objects they had detected did not resemble 
the weather-related phenomenon they had seen in the 
past. It was something different. 

To be fair here, it is necessary to point out that Barnes 
told Wertheimer that he didn't believe UFOs represented 
an extraterrestrial presence, but that he thought they 
could be explained as natural phenomena. He didn't 
know how, but thought that they might represent some 
sort of magnetic anomaly. 

Wertheimer also interviewed Joseph Reino, who had 
come on duty about the time the UFOs disappeared from 
the scopes. Reino's duty began in the early morning. 
Reino told Wertheimer that 

a Capital airliner was coming in[to Washington Na­
tional]; two objects were on the [radar] screen, came 
up to his starboard side and paced him; the tower 
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asked the pilot if he saw them. and the pilot said he 
did. As the plane approached Riverdale the pilot 
turned it right to see if they would follow; they did, 
but went a little faster than the plane. They were 
clearly not aircraft; he hadn't seen them before­
they were saucer or cigar shaped. grayish-green with 
light coming from the bottom. The pilot couldn't get 
very close to them and Mr. Reino wondered whether 
our type of metal repels them or makes them afraid. 

Wertheimer was also told of other incidents in that 
time frame of radar contact and visual sight:inp. Reino 
told of one incident in which five people were involved in 
watching a group of objects on the scope and the same 
objects in the sky· overhead. Reino made it clear that 
some of the standard explanations for the sightings just 
didn't work because of the experience and training of 
those involved. 

Wertheimer reported about his trip out to Washington 
National: 

At dusk I was taken to the control tower by Joe 
Reino, who gave me a brief lesson on how to read the 
radar. I found out how one goes about identifying 
whether something is a jet, about where it is, what a 
flock of birds looks like. what occasional ghosts look 
like, and became convinced that after extensive expe­
rience a radar operator probably can tell what a given 
object is. Mr. Reino put me through several exercises 
in which he would point to an object on the radar 
screen and then ask me to find it in the sky, and I 
found this wasn't too difficult to do. 

Importantly, Wertheimer reported that "Both Mr. Con­
klin [who had been in the radar rooms during the 1952 
sightings] and Mr. Reino confirmed Mr. Barnes's story, 
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and are convinced it couldn't have been temperature in­
version, birds, or the like; experien<ifd radar operators 
can tell these apart easily." 

Given Wertheimer's preliminary investigation into the 
Washington Nationals, it seems strange that he hadn't 
bothered to locate and interview Fournet and Chop. Both 
Fournet and Chop were easy to locate. I did nothing spe­
cial to find them. Had Wertheimer wanted to speak to 
them. he could have found them as easily. Since he 
didn't, the question becomes, why not? 

Thning is critical here. Wertheimer made his prelimi­
aary investigation at the beginning of December 1966. 
Six weeks later, Hippler told Condon exactly what the Air 
Force wanted. The Washington Nationals investigation 
apparently ended at that point. And, even though they had 
information that there were visual- and radar-coordinated 
sightings, when the final report was written, that informa­
tion disappeared. 

To fully understand this, we must examine the contract 
that was given to Condon. According to Swords, Condon 
was the "grantee" and the chief scientist. He had the job 
of writing the conclusions. He was not required to allow 
the committee to review them. In fact, Condon wrote his 
conclusions based on his personal opinion rather than the 
scientific facts surrounding UFOs as revealed by the in­
vestigation-what little there had been. 

Discussing this with Dr. Swords, I asked about that 
and he said, ''The chief scientist will write the summary 
and he can say whatever he wants in it. The summary for 
the Condon report is a disaster." 

The case book was never written. Low's plan for re­
viewing a number of cases in depth is something that 
never happened, although, as we've seen with Wert­
heimer's investigation, they did begin the research. Ac­
cording to Swords, fifteen or so cases were written up for 
the case book, but those treatments were written by Tad 



250 INVASION WASHINGTON 

Foster, a graduate law student. These were not technically 
oriented, and the plan called for the scientists to rewrite 
them in the proper format. That never happened. 

The draft of the Washington Nationals report, written 
by Foster for the ill-fated case book, seems to be quite 
comprehensive. It lays out the weather data, interviews 
with the primary participants with the important excep­
tions of Fournet and Chop, and describes, chronologi­
cally, the complex events of July 1952. What is 
interesting is the difference in the draft for the case book 
and the final description as it appeared in the final draft of 
the Condon report. 

Another thing Condon did was refuse to investigate 
any of the past "classic" cases. Whenever it was sug­
gested, Condon said that they had already been investi­
gated and what could they learn that was new? 

Condon, then, did the job he was hired to do. He at­
tempted to bury the questions about UFOs under a blan­
ket of scientific jargon and supposed objectivity. The 
Committee report, structured the way Condon wanted it, 
then halted other scientific investigation into UFOs. It 
stopped many scientists and journalists from speaking 
about UFOs in a positive light just as it was designed to 
do. 

It is quite clear from the evidence at hand that the Con­
don investigation of UFOs was not the unbiased report it 
was supposed to be. Almost no one who understands 
UFOs accepts as genuine the conclusions it draws. Had 
Low's plan been used, then, according to Swords: 

there were a whole lot of people on the project, in­
cluding Bob Low who weren't whitewashing. Con­
don, because he was the grantee and it was a typical 
Air Force contract, he had the right ... [as] the chief 
scientist [to] unilaterally ... write the summary ... 
Condon just takes control. 
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Swords believed that if Low's plan had been used, 
"You would have had a hell of a lot different UFO his­
tory ... " 

It is also true that had Low's plan been followed, the 
history of the Washington Nationals as told since 1969 
would have been different. The sightings were more com­
plex, involving more people and equipment than origi­
nally suggested in various press accounts and 
conferences. The questions still to be answered sur­
rounded radar and its fallibility. Could the problems of 
weather and radar explain, finally, the Washington Na­
tionals? 



-------------11-------------

Conclusions 

Like so much of the UFO phenomena, the facts about 
the Washington Nationals have become confused and 
convoluted by those with agendas other than the truth. Air 
Force officers and Pentagon officials, not wanting to ad­
mit that something could invade our airspace without fear 
of reprisal, attempted to minimize the events. They de­
clared that the objects that most thought they had ob­
served over Washington, D.C., were, in fact, false radar 
returns created by temperature inversions. UFO re­
searchers, wanting to believe in government conspiracy 
and extraterrestrial visitation, attempted to exploit the 
events because the objects had been seen on radar and 
those radar tracks proved the UFOs to be extraordinary. 
They declared that since no power on Earth could create 
those sort of craft, the only possible explanation was ex­
traterrestrial. 

The truth of the matter lies somewhere in the middle, 
as it often does. Those on one side overlook the facts that 
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don't fit with their theories, while those on the other see 
manipulation of the truth. A few facts are undisputed in 
the case, and from those facts we can reach a few rational 
conclusions. 

First, everyone agrees that the radars at Washington 
National Airport did detect something during the sight­
ings. Radars at other locations, including Andrews Air 
Force Base and Bolling Air Force Base, also detected 
strange objects on those nights. Fighters scrambled did 
achieve, in a limited fashion, onboard radar locks on 
these objects. 

Second, pilots, whether in the cockpits of jet intercep­
tors or flying commercial airliners, did see lights in the 
sky where the radar operators said those lights should be. 
These reports seem to provide visual confirmation of the 
objects detected by the radars at the airfields. 

Third, there were temperature inversions all along the 
Atlantic seaboard that hot and muggy JUly. Weather 
records establish this fact. It is the strength of those inver­
sion layers that becomes the important point in the debate 
over the Washington Nationals. 

Finally, in a point that is often overlooked in UFO re­
search, the important national magazines had published 
stories about flying saucers in the weeks that preceded the 
sightings. Although not one of them was heavily "pro­
UFO," all of them brought the topic to the forefront of 
conversation so that, as the sightings began in Washing­
ton, those on the "front lines" were ready to interpret the 
anomalies they were watching as something extraordi­
nary and possibly extraterrestrial. 

As we study the case, we do notice that some of the 
sightings can be explained, often as weather related. For 
example, one of the pilots chasing a radar object noticed 
that each time the radar controller on the ground said they 
had maneuvered into a position right on top of the UFO, 
the aircraft was passing over the river. On the river was a 
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slowly moving boat. The pilots believed that the boat and 
the river accounted for the UFO seen on radar because 
they could see no corresponding object in the sky. This 
explanation seems reasonable, given the facts and the ob­
servations by the pilots. 

But what must be remembered is that a single explana­
tion given to a single sighting does not translate into a 
blanket explanation that explains everything. Each sight­
ing must be treated as an individual case. It is only in the 
aggregate that the Washington Nationals become impres­
sive. If we eliminate some, or even a majority of those 
cases, there are still others that have not been eliminated. 
However, if we can sufficiently reduce the numbers, the 
case takes on less importance. 

One of the most important aspects of the Washington 
Nationals is the intercepts attempted. We know from the 
records that some of those intercepts resulted in no visual 
corroboration by the military pilots. We can offer two ex­
planations that seem reasonable. First is that there were 
no physical objects in the sky where the radars suggested 
they should be. If that is true, then the weather explana­
tion takes on added weight. 

Second, we can suggest that the object, whatever it 
was, had no lights on it, and therefore would not be read­
ily visible to the interceptor pilots in the dark night sky. 
This allows the object to be real and present, but unseen. 

For the sake of convenience, let's eliminate those radar 
reports in which there is no corresponding sighting sim­
ply because there is no corresponding sighting. We do 
this because one of the chains of evidence, the visual con­
firmation, is not present. We have a radar sighting that 
suggests something in the sky, but nothing that proves it 
was physically there. Other explanations, such as temper­
ature inversion, are reasonable in these cases. 

What we are attempting to do here is reduce the sight­
ings to the smallest possible number by eliminating those 
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with reasonable, though not proven explanations, those 
without visual confinnation, and those that lack sufficient 
data for us to examine. There is a risk that we will reject 
or overlook a sighting that is valuable simply because our 
arbitrary criterion eliminates it. However, there are 
enough good, solid sightings that fit our strict point of 
view to help us understand all of the Washington Nation­
als. 

One of the best examples of the sightings around 
Washington were those spotted on the radar and radioed 
to Captain Casey Pierman. Here was a group of sightings 
in which the objects seen on the radar were also seen in 
die air. Pierman. when told where to look. could see the 
lights of the UFOs: radar and visual confirmalioo. 

Another fine example is the attempted inten:ept on the 
second night when the pilot found himself virtually sur­
rounded by the UFOs. Those in the radar room, watching 
the scene as it played out on the scope. could hear the pi­
lot describing the same thing in the air around him. It was 
obvious that solid objects were surrounding his aircraft. 

A third good example comes from another, but failed. 
attempted intercept. The UFOs all disappeared from the 
radar screens as the jet fighters appeared. This seems to 
suggest that the UFOs were responding to the presence of 
the jets. That is something that weather-related phenom­
ena would not, or could not, do. 

Although the Air Force would have us believe that 
these sightings were also the result of temperature inver­
sions, that simply is not the case. The description pro­
vided by Piennan, along with the radar plots as the object 
maneuvered around the airliner, argues against tempera­
ture inversion. If the UFO had remained in one place ac­
cording to the radar, then the temperature inversion 
explanation would be reasonable. However, the objects 
did not remain stationary, seemed to react to the presence 
of the aircraft, and, according to Harry Barnes in the 
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radar center, seemed to be under intelligent control. 
Fournet and Chop both described that incident for me, 

Fournet suggesting that it had been "real hairy." The pilot 
involved talked about the lights surrounding his aircraft 
as those on the ground watched the scene on the radar 
scopes. Again. this would seem to suggest a real event 
rather than a weather-related problem. 

Both Dewey Fournet and AI Chop said that the UFOs 
reacted to the presence of the fighters. In one case, as the 
jets arrived on the scene, all the UFOs disappeared. When 
the interceptors turned to head back to their airfield, the 
UFOs returned to the scope. That sort of activity. observed 
by the military representatives as well as the experienced 
radar operators, argues against the temperature-inversion 
explanation. Weather-related phenomena would not react 
to fighters. 

What this means, quite simply, is that once we have 
adjusted the sighting reports for those that have plausible 
explanations, and adjusted for those that have reason­
able explanations, and even when we adjust for those 
that have explanations no matter how far we have to 
stretch the facts, there is a core of cases that simply 
cannot be explained. Temperature inversion, pilot and 
observer hysteria. and misidentification of stars do not 
explain the reactions of the UFOs as seen on the radar 
scopes and by those on the ground and in the air. 

Radar provides a mechanical means of observing the 
targets. Operator bias and interpretation certainly can in­
fluence those observations, but when the UFOs react to 
the interceptors, or disappear when the interceptors ar­
rive, but on observations on the radar screen, then a me­
chanical instrument has provided confirmation of the 
outside situation. In other, less complex words, it means 
that the radar has corroborated what the pilots were re­
porting. 

All of this suggests that, while some of the sightings 
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made were clearly misidentifications, a body of them had 
no explanations. Even the Air Force, which pretended to 
have explained the sightings as temperature inversions, 
listed many of the sightings as unidentified in their offi­
cial files. Despite their ready-made solutions, they 
couldn't explain all the sightings. 

Some fifteen years after the Washington Nationals, the 
Condon Committee scientist who began an investigation 
of the sightings wrote in his preliminary report, about 
"My Current Impressions of the UFO Phenomenon." He 
wrote: 

AB my sketch of a model indicates, my thinking 
about UFO reports suggests that they are pretty com­
plex phenomenon [sic]. Most of our briefing in the 
groups has been concerned with the input end, the 
physical phenomena that can give rise to UFO re­
ports. I learned a great deal during the briefings; I 
hadn't realized how many different sorts of physical 
phenomena of which I was unaware, or minimally 
aware, could, at least occasionally produce UFO 
sightings, including balloons and their fragments. 
ball-lightning, all the rest of the meteorological and 
astronomical events too. 

I've come to the impression that in spite of a 
tremendous overload of work, and in spite of doing a 
very good job considering the small number of peo­
ple involved, that only some proportion of the Blue 
Book explanations are, if one's going to look at them 
very carefully, very tenable. In a substantial propor­
tion of cases the explanations are not very plausible. 
Chances are the detailed study of many of them will 
suggest that quite a few should be changed, either 
from explained to unexplained, or from one class of 
explanation to another being more likely. But, if one 
takes just the ones that are officially listed as unex-
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plained, but which don't look very well explained, I 
would guess that if we work real hard, maybe one­
third to one-half of these could eventually be put into 
the "explained" category, in the sense that somebody 
can come up with a reasonably plausible account of 
how the sighting might have been induced. I'm also 
convinced, though, that however much time we or 
any other group put in on it, eventually there will still 
remain some that are not very satisfactorily ex­
plained. The big question comes in how to interpret 
that remaining group in the "X" class. Unfortunately, 
I think it is becoming clear that the fundamental 
question that the public and the Air Force want an­
swered is just plain unanswerable. The assertion that 
at least some (one or more) of these are actually 
caused by objects of intelligent extraterrestrial origin 
in neither proved nor disproved, neither made more 
or less likely by the existence of cases in this "X" 
class. While the data are consistent with that hypoth­
esis than an infinity of other alternative hypothesis, 
they are no more consistent that hypothesis than an 
infinity of other alternative hypotheses of the origin 
of these reports. It would seem far more parsimo­
nious at this point not to entertain the extraterrestrial­
origin hypothesis. Just because there is no question 
but that sincere and reliable people are reporting 
complex phenomena that they clearly really did ex­
perience and which nobody can explain, there is a 
vast jump, from my point of view a logically indefen­
sible jump, between the assertion that these reports 
constitute proof of or evidence for an extraterrestrial 
intelligent origin of the objects reported. 

This report, prepared after the man had reviewed some 
of the Washington Nationals and after he had seen many 
of the Project Blue Book files, says clearly that the people 
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might have worked hard, and been dedicated and honest, 
but that their conclusions for the sighting reports were for 
the most part in error. That is a tune that has been played 
by UFO investigators ahnost from the moment that it was 
learned that the Air Force was investigating flying 
saucers. 

It must be noted that the scientist does not agree that 
the material in the files would lead to the extraterrestrial 
conclusion, but he does not rule it out. This was a man on 
the Condon Committee who had talked to a number of 
men who had been involved in the Washington Nationals. 
His conclusion was that something happened ovu Wash­
ington, D.C., that the men involved were higbly trained 
and skilled, and that their observations could not be dis­
missed as easily and cavalierly as the Air Force had done 
in 1952. 

That seems to be where we are today. The evidence is 
that something extraordinary was seen in the sky over 
Washington. Radar confirmed the sightings and fighters 
attempted to intercept these objects. There were visual 
sightings. And there was pressure by the Air Force to 
force their personnel to chance their descriptions of the 
UFOs and their conclusions about the objects. 

We can say with certainty that something was seen by 
radar and observed visually. There was a physical mani­
festation over Washington that engaged the interest of the 
president. If the objects sighted were manufactured craft, 
then it is clear that they hadn't been built on this planet 
because of their speed and maneuverability. The only ex­
planation that fits all the facts is the extraterrestrial. We 
were so busy arguing the question that we didn't respond 
to the situation. 

The Washington Nationals show that we have been 
visited. There is no other plausible explanation. 
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APPENDIX A 

The Unidentifieds in the 
Summer of 1952 

May 1, 1952: Moses Lake, Washington. An ABC em­
ployee watched a silver object in straight and level flight. 

May 1, 1952: George AFB, California. 5:50 P.M. Several 
Air Force officers and enlisted men watched five, flat, 
white, disc-shaped objects make a sudden 9O-degree tum 
and disappear. 

May 5, 1952: Tenafly, New Jersey. Witnessed by Judson. 
Carried as an unidentified in the Project Blue Book files. 

May 7, 1952: Kessler AFB. Mississippi. 12:15 P.M. Four 
Air Force personnel saw about ten objects that were 
cylindrically shaped and looked to be made of aluminum 
dart in and out of the clouds. 

May 9, 1952: George AFB, California. 10:30 A.M. Wit­
ness on the ground and pilot of an F-86 saw one silver-
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colored, round object that disappeared to the north. One 
of a series of sightings at the base on May 9, 11, 13, 14, 
20. Some were identified and many were marked as in­
sufficient data. 

May 10, 1952: Ellenton, South Carolina. 11:45 P.M. A 
number of civilians watched four object, yellow in color 
and disc-shaped, that flew straight and level for a short 
period. One object was reported to have pulled up to 
avoid other objects on the ground. 

May 14, 1952: Puerto Rico. 7:00 P.M. An attorney, 
among others, reported two objects, orange in color, 
spherical, one of which darted around. 

May 20, 1952: Houston, Texas. 10:10 P.M. Three Air 
Force navigators watched an orange-white light coming 
toward them. Object flew straight except for one turn. 

May 25, 1952: Walnut Lake, Michigan. 11:15 P.M. 

Seven civilians, including a witness named Hoffman, re­
ported a white to yellow orange moon-shaped object, 
which they followed in a car for 30 minutes. 

May 28, 1952: Saigon, RVN. 10:30 A.M. A civilian re­
ported a single, white-silver disk-shaped object that was 
in sight for two minutes. 

May 28, 1952: Albuquerque, New Mexico. 1:30 P.M. A 
city fireman reported two sightings of a light silver and light 
brown, circular objects that came in from the northeast at 
high speed, stopped to circle, and then climbed out of sight. 

May 29, 1952: San Antonio, Texas. 7:00 P.M. An Air 
Force pilot watched a single object that he described as 
tubular for about eight minutes. 
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June 1, 1952: Rapid City, South Dakota. William Beatty, 
an airman, saw a number of civilians looking into the sky. 
He turned and saw five or more silver-colored objects that 
did not resemble airplanes in a boxlike formation. He 
watched them for about 20 seconds, until they disappeared. 

June 1, 1952: Walla Walla, Washington. A USAF Re­
serve Officer watched a single object that was in sight for 
about seven seconds. The UFO was small and oval­
shaped, and it moved rapidly across the sky at about 
10,000 to 15,000 feet. 

June 1, 1952: Soap Lake, Washington. The unidentified 
witness (name deleted by the Air Force) saw three glim­
mering objects that crossed the sky and disappeared in 
the east. The sighting lasted about ten minutes. 

June 2, 1952: Bayview, Washington. Captain Joe W. 
Donaldson, Major Wesley H. Parks, T/Sgt Oron C. Lott, 
Al1c William C. Callison, Allc Bobby J. Lunsford, Bertil 
Eklin, Richard Christion, Robert Erickson. Witnesses 
watched an irregular bluish-white or silver sphere that 
hovered in the sky. The object was observed through a 
theodolite. An intercept, but a C-47 was attempted, but 
abandoned with no closure was apparent. 

June 2, 1952: Fulda, Germany. 

June 5, 1952: Lubbock, Texas. Witnessed by Bacon, 
among others. Eight unidentified flying objects were 
sighted during a period of 45 minutes. They were lights 
like that of a very bright star, were all of a uniform size 
and color, which was described as a constant yellow. 

June 5, 1952: Albuquerque, New Mexico. S/Sgt T.H. 
Shorey. A large, round object flew quickly over the city. It 
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was very shiny and made no noise during flight. It 
crossed above a B-29 that was at 10,000 feet. 

June 5, 1952: Offutt AFB, Nebraska. 2nd Lt. William R. 
Soper. The witness saw a large, bright red object that 
seem to hover for about five minutes and then disappear 
at a high rate of speed. No other object was visible. 

June 6, 1952: Kimpo AFB, Japan. Carried as an uniden­
tified in the Project Blue Book files. It was also noted in 
the Master Index that the case file was missing. 

June 7, 1952: Albuquerque, New Mexico. Col. Harold 
A. Radetsky, Lt. Col. George S. Baylan. A small, metal­
lic, rectangular object crossed in front of their aircraft. 
They lost sight of it as it passed behind them. 

June 8, 1952: Albuquerque, New Mexico. Witnessed by 
Markland. Four objects in a diamond-shaped formation 
flew over the city. They were flat and circular and were a 
very brilliant, whitish-silver color. They made no sound. 

June 9, 1952: Minneapolis, Minnesota. Carried as an 
unidentified in the Project Blue Book files. It is also noted 
in the Master Index that the case file was missing. 

June 12, 1952: Fort Smith, Arkansas. Witnessed by two 
military officers (names deleted by Air Force). Both offi­
cers saw an object best described as cigar-shaped, with an 
orange glow at the front, and a long, glowing tail at the 
rear. The object was in sight for about 10 or 15 minutes 
and was watched through a pair of binoculars. 

June 12, 1952: Marrllkech, Morocco. T/Sgt Adams. An 
unidentified object was observed on radar. The UFO was 
above 60,000 feet and moving at 625 knots. 
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June 13, 1952: Middletown, Pennsylvania. Witnessed 
by Thomas. Air Force investigation suggested that this 
might have been a balloon on its way down. The object 
was described as round in shape and orange in color. It 
was noted that the witness had held a penny at arm's 
length so that it was determined that the object was two 
times the size of a full moon. Unfortunately the witness 
said that he had some knowledge of astrology and 
thought the object might be an exploding star. 

June 15, 1952: Louisville, Kentucky. Witnessed by Ed­
ward Duke. A cigar-shaped object, blunt on the front and 
lighted at both ends, with a red glow at the rear, maneu­
vered in the area for about 15 minutes. The speed was es­
timated at between 400 and 500 mph. 

June 16, 1952: Walker AFB, Roswell, New Mexico. A 
group of UFOs were sighted about one mile south of the 
airfield. There were gray in color and were tlying about 
5,000 feet above the ground, moving at between 500 and 
600 mph. 

June 17, 1952: McChord AFB, Washington. Series of 
sightings around the base on the 17th, 19th, and 23rd of 
June. Object was silver to yellowish-white, always de­
scribed as a light and very bright. 

June 17, 1952: Cape Cod, Massachusetts. Carried as an 
unidentified in the Project Blue Book files. 

June 18, 1952: Columbus, Wisconsin. Carried as an 
unidentified in the Project Blue Book files. 

June 18, 1952: Pontiac, Michigan. Witnessed by Hoff­
man. Carried as an unidentified in the Project Blue Book 
files. 
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June 19, 1952: Goose AFB, Labrador. 2nd Lt. A'Go­
stino. The object was described as being a red light mov­
ing in a wobbly manner. It turned white and disappeared. 
GCA radar confirmed the sighting. 

June 19, 1952: Yuma, Arizona. Object was spotted as it 
was overhead, disappeared into the sun, and then reap­
peared. It was white, about the size of a silver dollar and 
round in shape. 

June 20, 1952: Korea. Sgt. James Kinner and Sgt. A.P. 
Moore. A small· object, only four feet in diameter, flew 
over an airfield in Korea. It was described as little more 
than a bright light. 

June 21, 1952: Kelly AFB, Texas. T/Sgt. Howard Davis. 
An arrow-shaped object with a pointed nose and a oval 
trailing edge was sighted over the air base. There was a trail 
of reddish sparks and streaks that began behind the object. 

June 22, 1952: Korea. Carried as an unidentified in the 
Project Blue Book files. 

June 23, 1952: Spokane, Washington. Many people in the 
area saw a fiery ball of light that could have been a mete­
orite. Air Force officials labeled the case as unidentified. 

June 23, 1952: McChord AFB, Washington. See report 
from McChord AFB dated June 17, 1952. 

June 23, 1952: Kirksville, Missouri. Carried as an 
unidentified in the Project Blue Book files. It is also noted 
in the Master Index that the case file is missing. 

June 23, 1952: Oakridge, Tennessee. Carried as an 
unidentified in the Project Blue Book files. 
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June 23, 1952: Near Owensboro, Tennessee. A contrac­
tor named Depp heard a sound like aircraft and looked up 
to see two round objects, described as looking like soap 
bubbles, flying one behind the other. They disappeared in 
about five seconds. 

June 25, 1952: Tokyo, Japan. Carried as an unidentified 
in the Project Blue Book files. 

June 25, 1952: Chicago, Illinois. One bright yellowish 
to white egg-shaped light slightly larger than Venus with 
occasionally visible red taillight traveling in a large con­
tinuous circle at slow speed. 

June 25, 1952: Japan, Korea area. US Naval vessel 
recorded a number of strong radar plots that were about 
the size of a B-29 but were considerably faster. No allied 
aircraft were in the area, and the location suggests that 
enemy fighters would not have had the range. 

June 26, 1952: Terre Haute, Indiana. Carried as an 
unidentified in the Project Blue Book files. 

June 26, 1952: Pottstown, Pennsylvania. Five UFOs 
were sighting over a period of 30 minutes. First two ob­
jects were flying in tandem. The first had steady lights 
and the second had flashing lights. About 15 minutes later 
two more objects appeared flying in the same configura­
tion. And 15 minutes after that, a single object appeared. 
There was no sound and the objects moved steadily 
across the sky. 

June 27,1952: Topeka, Kansas. 2nd Lt. Kerwin F. Kelly. 
Pilot saw one object that hovered and pulsated a brilliant 
red. Shape varied from circular to oval in the vertical di­
mension as the object pulsated. 
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June 28, 1952: Lake Kishkonoug, Wisconsin. One silver 
white sphere was observed over the lake. The object 
made a 180 degree tum and became elliptical turning the 
tum and then a sphere. 

June 28, 1952: Nagoya, Honshu, Japan. Military wit­
nesses saw a single, purplish-blue object that was ellipti­
cal. It maintained constant flight until it disappeared. 

JUDe 29, 1952: O'Hare Airport, Chicago, illinois. Wit­
nesses saw one oval object that was very bright and 
smooth like highly polished silver. After a time, object 
moved at a high rate of speed and disappeared like a light 
bulb being shut off. 

July 3, 1952: Selfridge AFB, Michigan. The witness 
watch two circular-shaped lights, about twenty feet in di­
ameter, traveling horizontally at a tremendous rate of 
speed. 

July 3, 1952: Chicago, Illinois. Two disk-shaped objects 
flew one behind the other, each described as about the 
size of one-third of the full moon. The objects were a 
"bright pastel green with non-persisting luminescent 
trails and were traveling much faster than a jet but slower 
than a meteorite." 

July 5, 1952: Norman, Oklahoma. An Oklahoma State 
Trooper, flying near Norman, saw three disk-shaped, dark 
objects in a formation, hovering. As he watched through 
binoculars, the objects diminished in size and then disap­
peared. 

July 6-12,1952: Governors Island, New York. Amateur 
photographer Neff was making time exposures and didn't 
see the object until the film was developed. 
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July 9, 1952: Colorado Springs, Colorado. Witnessed 
by two military pilots. The object was described as re­
sembling one-half of a conventional airfoil with a 
chopped off trailing edge. The object was a bright, glow­
ing white. It traveled in a slow and erratic way before 
disappearing. 

July 9, 1952: Kutztown, Pennsylvania. Photographs 
taken by MittI. He took three photographs of an object, 
that made no noise. After he took the pictures, the object 
disappeared. 

July 12, 1952: Annapolis, Maryland. Witnessed by 
Washburn. Four elliptical-shaped objects, about a third 
the size of a transport aircraft, in a four abreast formation, 
appeared at a high rate of speed, stopped momentarily, 
executed a right-angle turn, picked up their high speed 
and then disappeared in midair. 

July 13, 1952: Kirksville, Missouri. Object seen on mil­
itary radar and case file accompanied by scope photo­
graphs. The object was recorded as traveling at 1500 
knots. There was no visual sighting and the file suggested 
a possible weather solution, but the sighting is carried as 
unidentified. 

July 14, 1952: Norfolk, Virginia. This is the Nash­
Fortenberry sighting. Carried as an unidentified in the 
Project Blue Book files. 

July 15, 1952: West Palm Beach, Florida. One object, 
gray in color but sometimes appearing slightly yellow 
and looking like a "flattened out donut [sic] without the 
hole" approached very fast. It slowed to a hover and after 
about a minute and a half, picked up speed and disap­
peared. 
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July 16, 1952: Beverlym, Massachusetts. This is the 
photographic case that is normally labeled as Salem, 
Massachusetts. Pictures were taken by Shell R. Alpert. 

July 17, 1952: Lockbourne AFB, Ohio. Witnessed by 
Stevenson and one other man. "A circular object that giv­
ing the appearance of a star appeared somewhat smaller 
than an average airplane." The object's rim gave off an 
orange and green glow. The object appeared and disap­
peared over a period of four hours. 

July 17, 1952: White Plains, New York. A civilian 
woman saw two large flying saucers which made a 
whirring sound and that were flying on edge. They were 
in sight for only five or six seconds. 

July 17, 1952: Rapid City, South Dakota. A master ser­
geant reported 12 to 14 objects that he described as glow­
ing orange. They flew straight and level and seemed to fly 
faster than jet aircraft. 

July 18, 1952: Lockbourne AFB, Ohio. Elliptical object 
with pinpoint of flame in the rear which would periodi­
cally "flare" was seen by two military men. The object 
had a resonant beat as it moved through the sky at high 
speed. 

July 18, 1952: Miami, Florida. Witnessed by Raymer. 
The sound of an aircraft drew his attention to the sky 
where he saw a spherical bubble about five feet in diame­
ter moving across the sky. It finally disappeared into the 
clouds. 

July 18, 1952: Patrick AFB, Florida. Fred England, 
A. R. Lasenby, and E. W. Taylor. One to five lights were 
seen over about an hour by both military and civilians on 
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the base. The objects resembled weather balloons but ma­
neuvered erratically and appeared in groups of twos, 
threes, and fours. 

July 19, 1952: Williston, North Dakota. A civilian pilot 
watched a round object that was very high and very dis­
tant, and it maneuvered for about five minutes. Finally it 
climbed out of sight. 

July 19, 1952: Elkins Park, Pennsylvania. An Air Force 
pilot saw two objects that looked like stars move through 
the sky. They stopped to hover and then disappeared after 
_ut five to seven minutes. 

July 20, 1952: Lavalette, New Jersey. Witnessed by 
Spoomer. Spoomer, a chemistry professor saw lights 
that he described as resembling those seen over Wash­
ington, D.C. 

July 21, 1952: Weisbaden, Germany. Capt. Edward E. 
Dougher and Lt. Joesphine J. Strong. The two officers in 
separate locations watched two or four long. slender ob­
jects for between ten to fifteen minutes. The objects were 
described as bright yellow lights. 

July 21, 1952: San Marcos, Texas. 1st Lt. Wayne D. 
Scott, SISgt Samuel R. Locke, SISgt Thedford R. 
Townsend, Allc David McKenzie, Al2c Frank R. Norred. 
andAllc Paul M. Nelson, Jr. A singular, perfectly circular 
object. giving off a brilliant blue-white light was sighted 
by the Air Force personnel listed. The object moved at 
various speeds and hovered briefly. It disappeared as if a 
light had been extinguished. 

July 21, 1952: Randolph AFB, Texas. Two witnesses, 
one military and one civilian, saw a silver-colored cigar-



272 Appendix A 

shaped object at a low altitude but traveling at a high rate 
of speed. It made an abrupt tum and then climbed verti­
cally out of sight. 

July 21, 1952: Holyoke, Massachusetts. Witnessed by 
Burgess and two others. Three people saw a round, 
orange-yellow object flash downward. 

July 22, 1952: Rockville, Indiana. A triangular-shaped 
object the size of a C-47 flew across the sky, stopping to 
hover for about half a minute. It resumed tlight and disap­
peared in the distance. 

J1IIy n, 1952: Uvalde, Texas. 'The witness, a weather ob­
server, saw a large, round object of silver, about 30 feet in 
diameter, moving at a speed estimated at over a thousand 
miles an hour. It seemed to climb and finally disappeared 
into a cloud. 

July 22, 1952: Los Alamos, New Mexico. Don R. Wiens 
and two others. Wiens, the tower operator, saw eight 
round, aluminum-colored objects fly a straight and level 
course and then begin erratic maneuvers. The man 
watched them through binoculars. 

July 23, 1952: Pottstown, Pennsylvania. 8:40 A.M. The 
two-man crews of three USAF F-94 jet interceptors saw a 
large silver object, shaped like a long pear with two or 
three squares beneath it, flew at 150-180 KTS, while a 
smaller object, delta-shaped or swept back, flew around it 
at 1,000-1,500 KTS. 

July 22, 1952: between Boston and Provincetown, 
Massachusetts. 10:47 p.m. Pilot and radar operator of 
USAF F-94 jet interceptor. One round blue light passed 
F-94, spinning. 
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July 23, 1952: Altoona, Pennsylvania. 12:50 P.M. Two­
man crews of two USAF F-94 jet interceptors at 
35,000--46,000 feet in altitude. Three cylindrical objects 
in a vertical stack formation flew at an altitude of 50,000 
to 80,000 feet. 

July 23, 1952: Trenton, New Jersey. Jet interceptors 
made fourteen different visual sightings of bluish-white 
lights. One sighting was made by radar. 

July 23, 1952: South Bend, Indiana. 11:35 P.M. USAF 
pilot Capt. H. W. Kloth. 1\vo bright blue-white objecta 
flew together, then the rear one veered oft' after about Dine 
minutes. 

July 24, 1952: Carson Sink, Nevada. 3:40 P.M. 1\vo 
USAF LTCs McGinn and Barton in a B-2S bomber 
watched three silver, delta-shaped objects, each with a 
ridge along the top, crossed in front of and above the 
B-2S at high speed, in three to four seconds. 

July 24,1952: TravisAFB, California. T/Sgt. T.B. Mezo, 
MlSgt L. E. Hanson, SISgt D. C. Steen. Mezo was the first 
to see the bright, orange light that looked as if it was land­
ing at the base. It seemed to hover and then made a slow 
turn to the west and moved off at a high rate of speed. 

July 26, 1952: Washington, D.C. 8 P.M. until after mid­
night. Radar operators at several airports, airline pilots 
and military pilots saw strange lights. Many unidentified 
blips tracked by radar allover Washington area, at vary­
ing speeds. Pilots spotted unidentified lights. 

July 26, 1952: Kansas City, Missouri. 12: 15 A.M. USAF 
Capt. H. A. Stone, men in control towers at Fairfax Field 
and Municipal Airport watched the UFO. One greenish 
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light with red-orange flashes was seen for 1 hour as it de­
scended in the northwest from 40° elevation to 10° eleva­
tion. 

July 26, 1952: Andrews AFB, Maryland. This was a 
continuation of the extensive sightings and radar tracking 
reports noted throughout the Washington, D.C. area, all 
night long. 

July 26, 1952: Kirtland AFB, New Mexico. 12:05 A.M. 

Ainnan 1 st Class J. M. Donaldson. Eight to ten orange 
balls in a triangular or V-fonnation flew very fast for 
three to four seconds. 

July 26, 1952: Williams, California. Case missing from 
official files. 

July 27, 1952: Selfridge AFB, Michigan. 10:05 A.M. 

Three B-29 bomber crewmen on ground. Many round, 
white objects flew straight and level, very fast. 1\vo at 
10:05, one at 10:10, one at 10:15, one at 10:20. Each was 
seen for about 30 seconds. 

July 27, 1952: Wichita Falls, Texas. 8:30 P.M. Mr. and 
Mrs. Adrian Ellis. 1\vo disc-shaped objects, illuminated 
by a phosphorus light, flew at an estimated 1,000 mph for 
15 seconds. 

July 28, 1952: Heidelberg, West Germany. 10:20 P.M. 

Sgt. B.C. Grassmoen, WAC PFC. A.P. Turner. One 
saucer-shaped object having an appearance of light 
metal and giving off shafts of white light, flew slow, 
made a 90° tum and climbed away fast after 4-5 min­
utes. 

July 28, 1952: McGuire AFB, New Jersey. 6 A.M. 
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Ground Control Approach radar operator MSGT W. F. 
Dees, and persons in the base control tower tracked on 
radar a large cluster of very distinct blips. The visual ob­
servation was of oblong objects having neither wings nor 
tail, which made a very fast turn and at one time were in 
echelon formation. 

July 28, 1952: McChord AFB, Washington. 2:15 A.M. 

TSGT Walstead, SSGT Calkins of the 635th AC&W 
Squadron saw a dull. glowing, blue-green ball, the size 
of a dime at arms' length, flew very fast, straight and 
level. 

July 29,1952: Osceola, Wisconsin. 1:30 A.M. Radar 0p­

erators on ground, pilot of F-51 Mustang in flight saw 
several clusters of up to 10 small radar targets and one 
large target. Small targets moved from southwest to east 
at 50-60 KTS. following each other. The large one moved 
at 600 KTS. Pilot confirmed one target. 

July 29, 1952: Langley AFB, Virginia. 2:30 P.M. USAF 
Capt. D. G. Moore, of military air traffic control system. 
One undescribed object flew at an estimated 2,600 mph, 
below 5,000 feet in altitude, toward the air base for about 
two minutes. 

July 29, 1952: Langley AFB, Virginia. 2:50 P.M. Mr. 
Moore, Gilfillan electronics representative W. Yhope. 
One radar target tracked moving away, stopped for two 
minutes, and again moved very, very fast. 

July 29, 1952: Merced, California. 3:44 or 4:35 P.M. 

Herbert Mitchell and one employee. One dark, discus­
shaped object, trailed by a silvery light two lengths be­
hind, tipped on its side, dove, hesitated and then circled 
very fast during the two-minute sighting. 
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July 29, 1952: Wichita, Kansas. 12:35 P.M. USAF shop 
employees Douglas and Hess at Municipal Airport. One 
bright white circular object with a flat bottom flew very 
fast, and then hovered 10 to 15 seconds over the Cessna 
Aircraft Co. plant, during the five minute sighting. 

July 29, 1952: Ennis, Montana. 12:30 P.M. USAF per­
sons, alerted that UFOs were coming from the direction 
of Seattle, Washington, did see two to five flat disc­
shaped objects one of which hovered for 3-4 minutes, 
while the others circled it. 

July 30, 1952: Albuquerque, New Mexico. 11 :02 P.M. 

USAF lst Lt. George Funk saw an orange light remained 
stationary for about 10 minutes. 

July 30, 1952: San Antonio, Texas. 10 A.M. E. E. Nye 
and one other person watched as one round, white object 
flew slow and then sped away after 20 to 30 minutes. 

August 1, 1952: Lancaster, California. 1:14 A.M. Sher­
iff's deputies and other persons, one named Mallette, saw 
two brilliant red lights hovered and maneuvered for five 
minutes. 

August 2, 1952: Lake Charles, Louisiana. 3 A.M. USAF 1st 
Lt W. A. Theil, one enlisted man. One red ball with a blue 
flame tail flew straight and level for three to four seconds. 

August 4, 1952: Phoenix, Arizona. 2:20 A.M. USAF A3C 
W. F. Vain. One yellow ball that lengthened and narrowed 
to plate shape, flew straight and level for five minutes. 

August 4, 1952: Mt. Vernon, New York. 11 :37 A.M. One 
woman, two children. One object, shaped like a lifesaver 
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or doughnut, emitted black smoke from its top and made 
a 15-foot arc in 1.5 minutes. 

August 5, 1952: Haneda AFB, Japan. 11 :30 P.M. USAF 
F-94 jet interceptor pilots 1 st Lt. W. R. Holder and 1 st Lt. 
A. M. Jones, and Haneda control tower operators. Air­
borne radar tracked a target for 90 seconds. Control 
tower operators watched 50 to 60 minutes while a dark 
shape with a light flew as fast as 330 KTS (380 mph), 
hovered, flew curves, and performed a variety of maneu­
vers. 

AIIpIt 6, 1951: Tokyo, Japan. This is a contiauation of 
the Haneda AFB sightiogs. The case is missing from the 
official files. 

August 6, 1952: Belleville, Michigan. Case and card 
seem to be missing from the official files. 

August 6, 1952: Port Austin, Michigan. Although the 
case is missing from official files, the project card is 
available. According to it, "Radar unit at Port Austin, 
Michigan observed several objects which were very large 
and flew at speeds in excess of 1200 knots-Objects were 
in vicinity of Gore Bay, Canada." 

August 7,1952: San Antonio, Texas. 9:08 A.M. Mrs. Su­
san Pfuhl. Four glowing white disks: one made a 180-
degree turn, one flew straight and level, one veered off, 
and one circled during the 70-minute sighting. 

August 9, 1952: Lake Charles, Louisiana. 10:50 A.M. 

USAF A3C J. P. Raley. One disk-shaped object flew very 
fast and then hovered for two seconds during a five to six 
minute sighting. 
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August 13, 1952: Tokyo, Japan. 9:45 P.M. USAF Marine 
Corps pilot Maj. D. McGough. One orange light flew a 
left orbit at 8,000 feet and 230 mph, spiraled down to no 
more than I ,500 feet, remained stationary for two to three 
minutes, and went out. An attempted interception was un­
successful. 

August 18, 1952: Fairfield, California. 12:50 A.M. Three 
policemen watched one object change color like a dia­
mond, and change directions during the 30-minute sight­
ing. 

AapIt 1', 1951: Red Bluff, California. 2:38 P.M. 

Ground Observer Corps observer Albert Lathrop saw two 
objects shaped like fat bullets. They flew straight and 
level, very fast, for 25 seconds. 

August 20, 1952: Neffesville, Pennsylvania. 3: 10 A.M. 

Bill Ford and two others saw an undescribed object flew 
at 500-foot altitude for several minutes. 

August 21,1952: Dallas, Texas. 11:54 P.M. Jack Rossen, 
ex-artillery observer, saw three blue-white lights that 
hovered, then descended and then, one and a half minutes 
later, one of them descended more. 

August 23, 1952: Akron, Ohio. 4: 10 A.M. USAF 2nd Lt. 
H. K. Funseth, a ground radar observer, and two U.S. 
Navy men saw a single pulsing amber light. It flew 
straight and level for seven minutes. 

August 24, 1952: Hermanas, Mexico. 10: 15 A.M. Geor­
gia Air National Guard F-84G jet fighter pilot Col. G. W. 
Johnson saw two six-foot silver balls in abreast forma­
tion. One turned gray rapidly, the other slowly. One 
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changed to long gray shape during a tum. Sighting lasted 
about 10 minutes. 

August 24, 1952: Tucson, Arizona. 5:40 P.M. Mr. and 
Mrs. George White watched one large round, metallic, 
white light with a vague lower surface. It flew slowly, 
then fast, with a dancing, wavering motion, for about one 
minute. 

August 24, 1952: Levelland, Texas. 9:30 P.M., 10:30 
P.M. Mr. and Mrs. Elmer Sharp saw a single object 
shaped like a spinning top, changing color from red to 
yellow to blue, and with a fiery tail. It hovered for 20 
minutes, whistling, then flew away. It or another like it 
returned an hour later. 

August 25, 1952: Pittsburg, Kansas. 5:35 A.M. Radio 
station musician William Squyres saw a single dull alu­
minum object shaped like two meat platters face to face, 
estimated at 75 feet long, 45 feet wide, and 15 feet 
thick. Through a window in the front section shone a 
blue light; the head and shoulders of a man could be 
seen. The midsection had numerous windows through 
which could be seen some kind of regular movement. A 
series of small propellers were spaced close together 
along the outer edge of the object, revolving at high 
speed. The object was hovering about 10 feet above the 
ground, 100 yards off the road, with a slight rocking 
motion. It then ascended vertically with a sound like a 
large covey of quail starting to fly at the same time. Veg­
etation showed signs of having been disturbed under the 
object. 

August 25, 1952: Delaware, Ohio. An astronomer 
sighted an object that remained in place for one hour and 
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fifteen minutes. A bright light that was yellow was as 
bright as Jupiter and the red light flashed. 

August 25, 1952: Holloman AFB, New Mexico. 3:40 
P.M. Civilian supervisor Fred Lee and foreman L. A. 
Aquilar watched as a single round silver object flew 
south, turned and flew north, made a 360-degree tum, and 
flew away vertically after three to five minutes. 

Aupst l6, 1952: Lathrop Wells, Nevada. 12:10 A.M. 

USAF Capt. D.A. Woods. One large, round, very bright 
object with a V-shaped contrail baving a dark cone in the 
center, ftew vccy fast. hovered, made an instantaneous 90-
decree tum. followed by a gentle climb aDd finally sud­
den acceleration. 

Aupst 16, 1952: Biloxi, Mississippi. The object was in 
the sky east-southeast of town, was round and flat, and 
reddish-orange. The observer suggested it was 9 feet by 
15 feet, and he gave no estimate of altitude or speed. 
There were two trails behind the object, similar to jet va­
por trails. The object was in sight for 75 minutes, and 23 
pictures were taken. Unfortunately, the film was badly 
underexposed. 

August 28, 1952: Chickasaw and Brookley AFB, Al­
abama. 9:30 P.M. USAF control tower operators, officer 
from USAF Office of Special Investigations, and others. 
Six objects, varying from fiery red to sparkling diamond 
appearance, hovered and flew erratically up and down for 
1 hour and 15 minutes. 
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August 29, 1952: Colorado Springs, Colorado. 8:35 P.M. 

Pilot C. A. Magruder. Three objects, 50 feet in diameter 
and 10 feet high, aluminum with red-yellow exhaust, flew 
in trail at estimated 1,500 mph for four to five seconds. 

August 29, 1952: West of Thule, Greenland. 10:50 A.M. 

Two U.S. Navy pilots flying a P4Y-2 patrol plane. Three 
white disk-shaped or spherical objects hovered, then flew 
very fast in a triangular formation, for two to three min­
utes. 
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In July 1952, Wright-Patterson AFB, near Dayton, Ohio, was the 
home of Project Blue Book. 

(Photo courtesy of the USAF) 

Although the Air Force 
suggested that these ob­
jects photographed over 
Salem, Massachusetts, 
on July 16, 1952, are the 
result of reflections, UFO 
investigators disagree. 

(Photo courtesy of the USAF) 



Another view of the domed 
disk photographed by George 
Stock 

(Photo courtesy 

of the USAF) 

Although George Stock 
and his father were both 
witnesses, the Air Force 
eventually labeled this 
1952 case a hoax. 

(Photo courtesy of the USAF I 



Underside of the flying saucer photographed by George 
Stock in July 1952. 

(Photo courtesy of the USAF) 



Part of the sprawling Wright-Patterson AFB complex where the 
UFO investigation was housed in 1952. 

(Photo courtesy of the USAF) 

One of the many gates leading into Wright-Patterson AFB, Ohio. 

(Photo courtesy of the USAF) 



Photograph taken on May 
7. 1952, near Rio de Janeiro, 
Brazil. Internal inconsis­
tencies in this picture sug­
gest that it is a hoax. 

(Photo courtesy of APRO) 

o. 

View of the underside of 
the craft photographed by 
Ed Keffel in May 1952. 

(Photo courtesy of APRO) 



Tremonton, Utah, where Naval officer Delbert C. Newhouse 
filmed a number of bright lights on July 2, 1952. 

(Photo by Kevin D. Randle) 

One frame of the film 
taken by Newhouse in 
Utah. The black line is 
the result of multiple 
generation copies of a 
scratch. 

(Photo courtesy of the USAF) 



Photos swarmed over the Capitol during the last weeks of July 
1952. 

(Photo by Kevin D. Randle) 



Enlargement of the photograph taken by George Stock in July 
1952. 

(Photo courtesy of the USAF) 



On two consecutive Saturdays in July 1952, the nation's capitol 
was the site of two of the twentieth century's most remarkable 
occurrences. Radar picked up what is believed to have been eight 
alien aircraft racing across the night sky-traveling at speeds and 
maneuvering in ways impossible for the era. Despite military 
coercion, forcing eyewitnesses to change their testimony­
despite the government 's suppression of film, photos and official 
reports-one fact remains indisputable: they were here. And now 
one of the world's leading UFOlogists reveals the complete and 
startling truth about the astonishing phenomena dubbed "the 
Washington Nationals." 

'Kevin D. Randle is a big name in the study of UFO ... 
a ll expert on bringing the language of cience to the topic." 
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